# SOROS FOUNDATION FOR AN OPEN SOCIETY ROMANIA

# ANNUAL REPORT 1990-1991

# SOROS FOUNDATION FOR AN OPEN SOCIETY

#### **ROMANIA**

## **ANNUAL REPORT** 1990 - 1991



## **Table of Contents**

1 Introduction	5
2 Administration	9
Executive Officers	9
International Representatives	9
Boards of Bucharest and Cluj	9
Travel Grants Commission in Bucharest	10
Secretariats of Bucharest, Cluj, Timisoara, and lasi Offices	10
3 Education Programs	13
3.1 Central European University Scholarships	15
Post-graduate Program in Environmental Sciences	15
The Process of Social Global Change and the Historical Experience of Central Europe	16
One Year Fellowship Program in Economics—Prague	17
Post-graduate Program for Ph.D. Studies in Economics	17
Transition to Democracy in a Comparative Perspective	18
"The Reorganization of Central Europe in the 20th Century" Seminar	19
Central and Eastern Europe in Transformation—CEET	19
European Studies Seminar	21
CEU External Teaching Program	22
Research Support Scheme	23
The History and Philosophy of Art and Architecture	24
Postgraduate Program in Society and Politics	25
Research Programme in Comparative Literature	25
Seminar on Privatization	26
3.2 English Language Programs	27
English Language Scholarships at the University of Edinburgh	27
Teacher Training Course in lasi	28
The Soros/International House Language School in Timisoara	30
Foreign Teachers of English Training in Romanian Schools	30
1991 Summer Study Program in English at the University of Leeds	31
American Library Book Exhibition	32

	3.3 scholarships and Administered Programs in Other Fields	3.
	Inter-University Consortium for Political and Social Research—Ann Arbor, Michigan	33
	The Center for European Studies Undergraduate Summer Program	33
	Politics, Human Rights and Education	34
	Legal Philosophy in the Service of Democracy	35
	Conference on Environmental Factors and Child Health in Central Europe	35
	Soros/FCO and Horia Georgescu Scholarships, Hospitality Schemes	36
	Central European Studies Program at Budapest University of Economics	38
	Pluralism in Legal Thinking	39
	University of Warwick Scholarships	39
	Summer School of Economics, Olsztyn	40
	Young Managers MBA Program	41
	Inter-University Center, Dubrovnik	42
	1990 University of Cambridge Summer School	44
	European College Cambridge Overseas Trust Scholarships	44
	3.4 Conferences, Seminars and Miscellaneous	47
	Conference on the Rule of Law	47
	Book Translations, Publications	47
	3.5 East-East Programs	49
	East-East and Soros Foundations Meeting, Karlovy-Vary	49
	East-East Meeting, Sofia	49
	East-East Meeting, Budapest	49
	East-East Meeting, Timisoara	50
	East Magazine Review—"Polis", Review of Political Sciences	50
4 N	Mass Media Program	51
	4.1 Mass Media Program Grants	53
	4.2 Administered Programs	57
	Press Distribution Workshop	57
	Press Distribution Tour	57
	Press Management Workshop	58
	Press Distribution Network	59
	IMF—Sponsored Seminar: Radio Training	59
	AZR Romanian School of Journalism	59
	Conference on European Local TV Stations	60

CSCE Conference in Moscow	61
IMF Television Training Seminar	61
Local Television Stations Access to Prime Time	61
Newsprint for the Independent Press	62
4.3 Foreign Experts	65
5 Miscellaneous Programs	67
Lawyers' Committee for Human Rights	67
Creating Capital Markets in Eastern Europe	67
The German Marshall Fund	68
Brother's Brother Foundation Book Donation	69
Civic Education Project	69
European College Program	70
The Directory of Non-Governmental Organizations Working in Romania	70
The Getty Grant Program	71
6 Grants	73
6.1 Open Program Grants	75
6.2 Travel Grants, 1990	91
6.3 Travel Grants, 1991	97
7 Budget Sheet	165
8 Grants Index	171



### Introduction

It is the sad paradox of Communism that a system supposed to be based on altruism knew none. Capitalist societies, on the other hand, make no pretense of being altruistic - they openly acknowledge being moved by self-interest. Yet it is Capitalism that developed philanthropy, not Communism. Why? Because in Capitalism, individuals, and not some amorphous system, bear the ultimate responsability in society. Therefore some of those individuals whom the system enables to amass a fortune acquire a sense of responsibility towards their fellows commensurate with their wealth. They know that if the benefits of the system that enabled them to prosper don't trickle down in society, the entire system will be jeopardized. This is what sets philanthropy in motion.

Under Communism, most people experienced only greed - not giving. Like Faust, whoever was given something, knew that, in exchange, the system expected them to give away their souls.

A lot of people in Romania, when told that The Soros Foundation gives scholarships, equipment, grants, etc., ask: "What do they want, in exchange?" After almost half a century of Faustian bargains, who can blame them? It is a known fact, for instance, that under Ceausescu, most of those allowed to go on scholarships abroad were asked to cooperate with the Securitate or, at least, had to be in good standing with the Communist Party and praise the system. So it seems legitimate for these some people to ask now: "What will be the price to pay?", since such tradeoffs are the only ones they knew. But people uncorrupted by the dehumanizing mechanism of such deals understand that we are here for them - to help them escape this vicious circle in which to have a chance means you have to loose your dignity.

The Soros Foundation is a philanthropic organization, but one with a conceptual, rather than a material ideal. We hope that finally, after 50 years of totalitarian indoctrination, the riches of education, in the widest sense, will spoil Romanians too. We also hope to help establish a free and independent press and broadcast media that will be able to free itself from the ties that link it to the past, be they financial obligations towards the state or a polemical mindset that all too often takes the place

of information. Last but not least, we hope to help along the groups and organizations that form this terribly important and terribly misunderstood "Civil Society", which is the cornerstone of "Open" systems, and, therefore, the antithesis of "Closed", totalitarian structures.

The best way to define what is a Civil Society is to say what it is not: a Civil Society is whatever is **not** run or controlled by the State. A Civil Society represents the sum total of aspirations, initiatives and projects run and controlled by ordinary citizens, rather than by state agents acting in their official capacity.

In totalitarian, communist systems, the State was omnipresent and omnipotent, and left no room for a Civil Society. This is one of the reasons communism failed, because people need to give free reign to their hopes and aspirations, and wish to implement their dreams in ways that the state cannot help them with, and should not try to control.

Whether it's a group of historians preparing a conference, or a band of musicians setting up a concert, these initiatives need to be financed. In the wealthy Western democracies, funding such projects is less problematic. But in a society such as post-totalitarian Romania, existing state funds are now needed by economic restructuring, and private, "civilian" money is scarce. So how can a Civil Society emerge, and become active, with no material support?

That's where organizations such as the Soros Foundation can play a critical role. As a private grant-giving institution, we encourage and finance the initiatives that emerge from, and help establish, an active Civil Society. Most foreign aid donors are governmental organizations whose funding goes to help restructure the state system. Private organizations, such as ours, take on the task of helping create a structured environment beyond the boundaries of the state, so that the democratic process of give-and-take between those in power, and those outside it, can function as in any other Open Society at work in established democracies.

People have asked why we do that, what's "our interest"? And many, especially in the political establishment, have mistaken our support of a Civil Society for support of the "Opposition", however "opposition" is defined by various political actors. We do not help "the Opposition" and we do not support political parties. What we do support is a principle: That whatever happens in the realm of politics be accountable to society. And for democracy to function, the individuals in society need to have the ability to be involved in the democratic process through means other than partisan politics. They need a ... Civil Society.

As for the question of "why we do what we do", the answer is simple, but in a country marred with so much suspicion, simple answers are, unfortunately, rarely trusted.

It is not a gratuitous choice, and even less so an exercise in "wooden language" that the foundation is called "The Soros Foundation FOR AN OPEN SOCIETY". We believe that in order for Romania to regain its due place among democratic nations, Romanian society has to open itself to the West, and, even more importantly, has to function domestically as an Open System. An Open System is one of tolerance, competition and competence. It is a system of open competition between ideas, ideals and interests. It is a system in which rules, regulations and criteria are transparent so that competence, rather than privilege, is rewarded. And last but not least, it is a system in which tolerance of the "other" and of divergent opinions is the cement that holds everything together.

In Open Systems the **process** is vitally important, not a particular ideology. Open Systems, democracies in particular, exist because they cherish the **mechanisms** that enable tolerance, competition and competence to flourish.

Quite simply, the Soros Foundation hopes that by helping finance education, media and, as importantly, by the example it sets through its own internal functioning, it can help Romanians establish the Open System which will bring this country in line with other Western democracies.

Barely concealing their suspicion, a number of people have wondered why George Soros, a Hungarian-born Jew living in America cares so much about Romania. I'm afraid the answer will frustrate those who want to see the Soros Foundation as a Hungarian implant in Romania, here to favor a national minority's "irredentist" claims. The Foundation is not here to help settle national ethnic tensions or forward the interests of one side or another - an Open System, once in place, should provide the framework for for resolving such differences as the people of Romania choose to resolve them. The truth is that neither George Soros, nor the Soros Organization, cares only about Romania as such - the existence of a Soros Foundation in Romania is not the consequence of a Hungarian-born millionaire's particular interest in a contested issue.

But if Romania per se is not George Soros' foremost concern, the entire region is. There are in fact 15 Soros Foundations established in all of the former communist countries, each of them, like the four Foundations in Romania, trying to help the establishment of Open societies throughout the region. For, if totalitarian systems often go to war with each other, in truly Open societies violence is rarely the solution for resolving differences. People respectful of one another, educated, informed and tolerant people who can dialogue, don't beat each other up, don't kill, and don't want to die.

Our activity report for Romania, which follows, will show how we chose pursue our goal, whom we chose to support, and what criteria we used in the selection process.

We hope that our ideal to help establish an Open Society in Romania will be understood by all, shared by many and even appreciated by a few. We also hope that our activity will rise above suspicion and groundless innuendoes, and that time will help our work speak for itself.

Sandra Pralong
Co-Chairman

## **Administration**

#### **Executive Officers**

- Mr. George Soros, Chairman
- Ms. Sandra Pralong, Co-Chairman
- ☐ Ms. Patricia Klecanda, Executive Director—New York

#### International Representatives

- Ms. Jessica Douglas Home, Mihai Eminescu Trust—London
- Ms. Annette Laborey, Soros Foundation—Paris

#### Boards of Bucharest and Cluj

#### Members of the Board, Bucharest Office

- Dr. Zorel Filipescu, MD
- Andor Horvath, Deputy Minister of Culture
- Dr. Thomas Kleininger, Publisher
- Dr. Andrei Pippidi, Historian
- Dr. Catrinel Plesu, Historian
- Dr. Mihai Sora, Philosopher
- Dr. Radu Valentin Vladea, Rector, Timisoara University
- Dr. Lazar Vlasceanu, Sociologist, CEPES UNESCO
- Prof. Dr. Alexandru Zub, Director, History Institute "A.D. Xenopol", Iasi

#### Members of the Board, Cluj Branch

- Prof. Ion Aluas, Head of Sociology Department, University of Cluj
- Prof. Dr. Sandu Bologa, Executive Director of the Institute of Oncology
- Prof. Dr. Zoltan Gabos, Professor of Physics
- Prof. Dr. Eva Gyimesi, Professor of Literature
- Prof. Dr. Dezso Jenei, General Administrator of the Unitarian Church

- Prof. Dr. Adrian Marino, Literary Critic
- Prof. Dr. Paul Philippi, Historian, Professor at the Lutheran Theological Institute of Sibiu
- Dr. Victor Pop, Researcher in Biology
- Dr. Andras Visky, Lecturer at the Dramatic Arts Institute in Tirgu Mures

#### Travel Grants Commission in Bucharest

- Prof. Doina Lecca, Professor of English, University of Bucharest
- Dr. Dana Nistor, Lawyer
- Dr. Gheorghe Peltecu, Physician
- Dr. Dumitru Sandu, Sociologist
- Dr. Florian Tomescu, Professor at the Polytechnic Institute in Bucharest

#### Secretariats of Bucharest, Cluj, Timisoara, and Iasi Offices

#### **Bucharest Office**

- □ Ms. Sandra Pralong, George Soros' personal representative; Co-Chairman
- □ Mr. Alin Teodorescu, President
- Ms. Anca Harasim, Regional Director
- Ms. Irina Munteanu, Bucharest Director
- Ms. Manuela Brusalis, Public Relations Coordinator
- Ms. Lorita Constantinescu, Program Coordinator
- ☐ Mr. Mihai Farcas, Program Manager
- Mr. Octavian Giurca, Media Program Manager
- Ms. Cristina Guseth, Program Manager
- Ms. Eugenia Hila, Program Coordinator, P.T.<sup>1</sup>
- Ms. Daniela Mares, Program Manager
- u Ms. Theresa Molina, Program Assistant
- Mr. Valentin Noanea, Program Officer
- Ms. Ileana Ranetti, Executive Accountant
- Mr. Nicolai Sandu, Computer Systems Manager
- Ms. Alina Stan, Executive Secretary
- Ms. Ancuta Vamesu, Program Manager

#### Cluj Office

- Mr. Levente Salat, Branch Executive Director
- □ Mr. Liviu Burlacu, Media Program Assistant
- Ms. Mirela Cotroaza, Accountant
- Mr. Zsolt Deak-Sala, Program Coordinator

P.T. stands for "Part-Time". Etnokulturális Kisebbségek Forrásközpontja – Erdélyi Magyar Adatbank

- Ms. Mihaela Eremie, Program Coordinator
- Ms. Jozefina Komporaly, Program Coordinator
- Ms. Elisabeta Koto, Secretary
- Ms. Claudia Macaria, Public Relations Coordinator
- Mr. Adam Muller, Program Manager
- Mr. Dan Pic, Computer Systems Manager

#### Timisoara Office

- Mr. Radu Valentin Vladea, Honorary Board Member
- Ms. Ilona Mihaies, Branch Executive Director
- Mr. Eugen Babau, CEU Program Coordinator
- Mr. Vasile Deaconescu, Program Manager
- Ms. Liana Popa, English School Director
- Ms. Nicoleta Popovici, Program Manager
- Ms. Ramona Rosenberg, Media Program Assistant

#### Iasi Office

- Dr. Alexandru Zub, Honorary Board Member
- Mr. Alexandru Lazescu, Branch Executive Director
- Mr. Gheorghe Arhip, Accountant
- Ms. Silvia Georgescu, Secretary
- Mr. Victor Gradinaru, Program Coordinator
- Mr. George Rotaru, Media Program Assistant

## 3

## **Education Programs**

he greatest portion of the energies of the Foundation's staff goes towards the administration of education programs. The program managers and coordinators are responsible for overseeing scholarship offerings and organizing training seminars and conferences from their inception to their completion. They must maintain communications with contact people inside and outside of Romania, arrange for a program's publicity, convene juries of experts to review applications and make other organizational arrangements necessary to ensure a program's success.

Most of the Soros Foundation's education programs fit one of two primary types: (i) scholarships for Romanians to study abroad, and (ii), conferences, courses, or workshops in Romania featuring foreign experts.

Not all of the scholarships offered through the offices of the Soros Foundation are paid for entirely by the foundation. Because of our close involvement with the community, the organizational infrastructure provided by our four Romanian offices, and the international reputation of the entire Soros network, the foundation is asked to administer a variety of scholarships offered by institutions or organizations interested in helping Romanians. Some of the organizations cooperating with the Soros Foundations network to provide educational programs are: the USIA, USAID, the British Council, the British Foreign and Commonwealth Office, etc. Also, because the Soros Foundation—Romania joined an already existing network of Soros-funded foundations, centralized scholarship programs that had been developed previously and offered throughout the Foundation network in other Eastern European countries were expanded to include Romania.

All scholarships are awarded through open competitions. They are widely publicized, generally by means of advertisements in one or more national daily newspapers, press releases to other print media including the appropriate scholarly journals, and/or posters in key locations. This publicity usually includes a description of the scholarship offered and requirements that applicants must meet to be considered for the programs. Applications are accepted from all persons who feel that they meet these requirements and the selection is made by independent juries of experts assembled by the foundation's Secretariat on a project by project basis.

Attendance at conferences organized by the Foundation is generally open to all persons with interest in the subject involved.

The Soros Foundation has taken special steps to develop scholarships and training programs in the English language, emphasizing not only training for individuals, but also "training the trainers," which will have a greater and more widespread effect over the long term.

The other major focus of the Soros Foundation's education projects is to develop expertise in social and political sciences, humanities, economics, law and business. Since these areas have been the most damaged by ideology, our goal is to help people become qualified in their fields at the highest international standards and to help rebuild the study of social sciences, politics and economics in Romania.

#### 3.1 Central European University Scholarships

The Central European University (CEU) is an educational initiative of George Soros, and thus has a special relationship with the Soros Foundation—Romania.

The CEU is designed to help meet the special educational needs of Eastern Europe following its emergence from 45 years of communism. It's general goals are to help the countries of Eastern Europe catch up with the developments of the rest of the world, get to know better each other's cultures and understand the experiences of the last half century. The more specific agenda of the CEU is to develop and teach a new curriculum from a Central European perspective, educate a new political and administrative elite for the region, and serve as the hub or center for cooperation among the universities of the region.

The CEU was founded in the Spring of 1990 and began conducting courses immediately. The professors come from prestigious American and British universities and the courses are held in English. The University is located in Prague and Budapest, with a special wing that develops courses in different universities throughout the region. Pre-selection for CEU programs is done by the various Soros-funded foundations in Eastern Europe and the Soviet Union. From this reduced field, an academic committee at the CEU makes final selections. All fees, including transportation, lodging and a small stipend for living expenses are generally paid from the Central European University's budget.

#### Post-graduate Program in Environmental Sciences

The Central European University offered an unspecified number of scholarships for a summer course in environmental sciences held from July 1 through August 28, 1991 in Budapest, Hungary. There were 60 scholarships available for the whole of Eastern Europe and the number of Romanians accepted was based on merit. The course focused on environmental problems in Central Europe and covered a variety of different disciplines relevant to the topic of environmental science.

#### Requirements for applicants

- must have completed first degree in computer modeling, forest ecosystem studies, biology, ecology, zoology, chemistry, atmospheric studies, mathematics, systems theory, resource and environmental policy, ecotechnology or other appropriate field;
- strong competence in mathematics demonstrated by relevant course-work;
- strong interest in environmental issues demonstrated by experience and contributions;
- proficiency in English;
- age limits: 23-45.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Tineretul Liber, Cuvintul, Romaniai Magyar Szo and local publications.

Applications were due by April 1, 1991, but the deadline was extended until April 7, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 126 completed applications by the final deadline.

Selection took place in three stages: a preliminary English test, interviews, and a secondary English test (TOEFL).

#### The jury for the first English test

Prof. Adrian Nicolescu; Prof. Mihai Miroiu.

#### The jury for the interviews

Prof. Robert C. Wilkinson; Prof. Dan Manoleli; Prof. Angheluta Vadineanu; Prof. Victor Bodnariuc.

#### Accepted1

Armeria Vicol; Corina Stetiu; Dan-Eugen Daia; Zoltan Gyenge; Rasvan-Teodor Negoita.

#### **Expenses**

The Soros Foundation paid for travel expenses. The CEU will reimburse all expenses.

494,184.70 LEI 1,929.50 USD

# The Process of Social Global Change and the Historical Experience of Central Europe

The Central European University offered up to five scholarships for a course held from May 27 through June 8, 1991 in Prague, Czechoslovakia. The course had three foci: theoretical analysis of the present and future changes in Central Europe, an evaluation of the totalitarian experience, and a study of the process of transformation to pluralism.

#### Requirements

- applicants needed to be young researchers or faculty assistants in the field of social sciences;
- proficiency in English;
- age limit: 35.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Romaniai Magyar Szo, and Tineretul Liber and posters were put up at the Institute of Sociology.

Applications were due by April 9, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 5 completed applications by the deadline. Selections were made by a jury at the CEU in Prague.

#### Accepted

Daniel Teodorescu; Felicia Sprincenatu.

After attending the summer school courses, Armeria Vicol, Corina Stetiu, Dan-Eugen Daia and Zoltan Gyenge were invited to continue their studies in different Western universities. Etnokulturális Kisebbségek Forrásközpontja – Erdélyi Magyar Adatbank

#### **Expenses**

The CEU paid for tuition, meals, accommodations and pocket money. Students were expected to cover train fare on their own.

#### One Year Fellowship Program in Economics—Prague

The Central European University offered up to five scholarships to Romanians for a one year program in economics conducted from September 23, 1991 through August 28, 1992 in Prague, Czechoslovakia. The program was designed to introduce economists from Eastern Europe to the problems of transition to a market economy and to provide an overview of first-year post-graduate economics courses at Western universities.

#### Requirements

- completion of a degree in economics, science or related disciplines;
- college level mathematics;
- proficiency in English;
- age limit: 40.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Tineretul Liber, Romaniai Magyar Szo and local publications. Posters were distributed and letters were written to the appropriate universities throughout the country.

Applications were due by May 15, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 71 applications by the deadline.

Selection was made by a jury at the CEU in Prague.

#### Accepted1

Gabriela Condopol; Mihai Nedelea; Constanta Negreanu; Daniela Sarpe; Dana Sapatoru; Daniela Grozea; Ion Lacatus; Mirela Ursulescu.

#### Expenses

The CEU gave students a fellowship of \$2,400 per year, supplemented by lodging, travel and book allowances. The Soros Foundation paid round-trip train tickets for the students. The CEU will reimburse these expenses.

19,220.00 LEI

#### Post-graduate Program for Ph.D. Studies in Economics

The Central European University offered an unspecified number of places for a multiple year program held in Prague, Czechoslovakia from June 24, 1991 through August, 1995.

The program at CERGE (Center for Economic Research and Graduate Education) consists of two years of courses and a Ph.D. dissertation. Students can specialize in

<sup>1</sup> Mihai Nedelea, Constanta Negreanu and Daniela Sarpe had been accepted, but they declined their invitations and were replaced with Daniela Grozea, Ion Lacatus and Mirela Ursulescu.

advanced theory, econometrics, economic history, public choice and public finance, money and banking, industrial organization, labor economics, international trade and finance, economic development, urban and regional economics, environmental economics, and economics of market-oriented transformation in Central and Eastern Europe.

#### Requirements

- an undergraduate degree from a university or other institution of higher learning;
- basic background in Mathematics, covering calculus, linear algebra and real analysis; proficiency in English.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Tineretul Liber, Romaniai Magyar Szo and local publications. Posters were distributed and letters were sent to the appropriate universities throughout the country.

Applications were due by May 15, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 40 completed applications by the deadline.

Selection was made by a jury at the CEU in Prague.

#### Selection Jury

Philippe Aghion, Delta Paris, EBRD London; Vladimir Dlouhy, Prague; Kevin Sontheimer, University of Pittsburgh; Jan Svejnar, University of Pittsburgh; Josef Zieleniec, CERGE FSV UK, Prague.

#### Accepted

Constantin Zaman.

#### **Expenses**

The Soros Foundation paid travel expenses. All other costs were covered by the CEU.

4,643.00 LEI.

#### Transition to Democracy in a Comparative Perspective

The Central European University offered up to five scholarships for a course held in Budapest, Hungary, from July 1 through July 16, 1991. The seminar was devoted to some of the major issues in the transition from authoritarian and totalitarian regimes to democracy.

#### Requirements

- should be young scholar or advanced undergraduate student;
- proficiency in English;
- age under 30.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera and Romaniai Magyar Szo and letters and application forms were sent to the appropriate departments of universities throughout the country.

Applications were due by May 24, 1991. No completed applications were received by the deadline.

#### "The Reorganization of Central Europe in the 20th Century" Seminar

The Central European University offered up to 5 scholarships for a seminar in History, held in Budapest, Hungary from June 24 through July 5, 1991. The central purpose of the seminar was to develop a coherent approach to the series of national, social and political upheavals that shaped the fates of the peoples of the Central European region during the 20th century.

#### Requirements

- should be a young researcher, teacher or post-graduate student in history;
- proficiency in English;
- age under 40.

Posters were distributed and letters were sent to the appropriate departmets at universities throughout the country.

Applications were due by May 10, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 3 completed applications by the deadline.

Selection was made by a jury at the CEU Prague. No Romanian applicant was accepted.

#### Central and Eastern Europe in Transformation—CEET

The Central European University offered an unspecified number of places for a series of 10 short term courses to be held in Prague between August 26 through October 6, 1991.

The courses were intended to clarify some of the issues related to the transition of the Eastern and Central European countries towards a market economy and a democratic system, concentrating on topics on reformatory endeavors, progress and their background in the Central and Eastern European region, from the aspects of disciplines in social studies.

The interested persons were required to register directly with the course secretaries, supplying a Curriculum Vitae, information on the academic standing, list of publications, one recommendation.

The courses were initially planned to take place in Dubrovnik. The candidates who applied for a course in Dubrovnik were invited by the course secretaries to attend the equivalent courses at the CEU in Prague.

The selection was made separately for each course, by the course directors in Prague. Following is the list of courses and candidates accepted for each course.<sup>1</sup>

## Course (a)—The "Political Technology" of Reforms in State Socialism (III): Political Transformation of Post-Authoritarian Societies—Formation of the New Elite

Alexiu TM\*; Tirau Liviu Crinel; Rostas Zoltan; Popescu-Birlan Liliana\*.

## Course (b)—Interrelations Between Law, Economics and Politics (Systemic Change in Eastern Europe)

Dimitriu Petru

#### Course (c)—Economic Elites and Institutions in Comparative Perspectives

Feher Attila; Roman Ileana\*.

#### Course (d)—Public Choice in the Mixed Economies

No candidates were accepted.

#### Course (e)—Economic Transformation in Central and Eastern Europe

Nanu Miruna\*; Leonescu Dalila; Cocioc Paul.

#### Course (f)-"Green Economics". How to Establish Sustainability in Eastern Europe

Bartok Katalin\*; Szabo Geza\*; Sebok Eva-Maria; Nicolae Lucia Maria\*; Molnar Judita; Soran Viorel\*.

#### Course (g)—Evolutionary System Theory and Social Sciences

Dragotoiu Rodica\*; Banhegyessi Csaba Zoltan; Kolumban Gabor.

## Course (h)—Ethnicity, Denomination and Social Structure in East-Central Europe—Comparative and Historical Perspectives

Vese Vasile; Tirau Liviu Crinel; Nitulescu Virgil- Stefan; Badescu Gabriel Horia; Krizsan Andreea Eleonora.

## Course (i)—Social Context of Technological Modernization. 1991: Changing R and D Politics, Research Institutions and Higher Education

Godri Istvan; Nagy Peter; Dumitru Mitrica.

## Course (j)—The Problem of Exile in Central and Eastern European Literature and Letters after 1945

Felea Cristina\*; Muller Eugenia Cristina; Sibisan Aura; Saulean Daniel; Szakacs Istvan Peter; Kiss Zsuzsanna\*; Pavalan Lorena Valeria.

#### Lecturers—course (h)

Salat Levente; Gall Erno.

<sup>1</sup> The accepted candidates marked with an asterisk (\*) could not attend the courses they were selected for.

#### Expenses

The Soros Foundation, Inc. (New York) offered full board and lodging and some pocket money to the participants. The Soros Foundation Romania paid round-trip train tickets to Prague for the Romanian participants.

116,923.00 LEI (Bucharest) 757.00 USD

#### European Studies Seminar

The Central European University offered an unspecified number of places for a seminar on European studies, to be held in Prague, between 3 and 16 November 1991.

The program was intended to provide both an introduction and an illustration of European Studies as pursued in major Western institutions, to discuss and review the ideas of European Studies in the light of the current needs and conditions of Central European countries, to contribute to the development of a curriculum for a full year course to start in autumn 1992.

#### Requirements

- age under 35;
- young graduates with a first university degree, preferably in social sciences or law;
- sound knowledge of English;
- could be either post-graduate students or young civil servants from different ministries or other organizations involved in activities related to European co-ooperation.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera and Romaniai Magyar Szo newspapers and informative materials were sent to the Institute of South-European Studies, Ministry of Culture, Ministry of Youth and to more than 30 research institutes affiliated to the Romanian Academy.

Applications were due by September 22, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 28 completed applications received by the deadline. A preselection was made by a jury in Romania and the final selection took place at the CEU in Prague.

#### Preselection jury

Andrei Pippidi; Dorel Abraham; Mihai Miroiu.

#### Final selection jury in Prague

Gabriele Fragniere; Prof. Karel Kouba; Joseph Moural; Jiri Musil; Prof. Pfonts

#### Accepted

Avram Sever-Mircea; Bichis Eugenia-Carmen; Harnagea Catalin-Constantin; Vaciu Ion; Iliescu Ina-Valentina.

#### **Expenses**

The Central European University provided scholarships to cover tuition, lodging and board at the CEU building. The Soros Foundation provided a stipend to cover the train fare to/from Prague, to be reimbursed later by the CEU.

72,050.00 LEI 143.00 USD

#### CEU External Teaching Program

The Central European University initiated a long-term program for supporting educational activities in the academic institutions, in the field of social sciences: economics, history (20th century), international relations, law, philosophy, political science, public policy and administration, social anthropology and sociology.

The purpose of the program is to improve the quality of teaching these subjects, which suffered the greatest distortion or neglect during the years of communist rule, to accelerate the reform of the curricula of social sciences, which can contribute to the radical economic, political and social changes in the country.

The main activities to be supported within this project are:

- supporting Western visiting professors/lecturers and graduate teaching fellows at Central European universities;
- establishing partnerships between individuals, departments and universities in the East and in the West in order jointly to develop new courses;
- organizing teaching seminars or summer schools to acquaint teachers in the East with Western approaches and methodologies;
- providing an advisory service in planning and implementing curriculum reform and course development, inter alia by providing course descriptions, reading lists, xeroxed academic papers and articles.

The program was widely advertised in the daily newspapers: Romania libera, Romaniai Magyar Szo, Tineretul Liber, Adevarul, and in the weekly academic newspaper Tribuna Invatamintului. Also, letters and informative materials were sent to the rectors of 44 universities throughout the country.

Deadline for the applications was September 30, 1991. Two applications were received by the deadline, for the section on course development partnership. The selection process is currently taking place at the Oxford University.

The program will be continued and enhanced in 1992, under the name of "Higher Education Support Program".

205.00 LEI 40.00 USD

#### Research Support Scheme

CEU offers financial support for research work made by young scholars and by people prevented from working in their field by the former regime. The program is designed to encourage research works in the following fields: social sciences, humanities, ecology and environmental sciences.

Two types of research support are considered:

- individual grants;
- grants for international teams investigating a single theme from a multi-national perspective.

#### Requirements

- completion of a degree;
- a research project already conceived, in any stage of the work.

Advertisments were placed in 22, Romania libera and Romaniai Magyar Szo newspapers and in local newspapers from Iasi, Timisoara and Cluj. Informative materials were sent to about 30 research institutes working with the Romanian Academy.

Applications were due by November 1st, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 97 completed applications by the deadline, of which 3 group applications. The greatest number of applications was in the field of ecology and environmental sciences. The selection was made by the Research Management Committee at the CEU and its referees. Financing of the selected works will start in September 1992.

#### Jury

Prof. Gabriel Fragniere, Chairman; Prof. Karel Kouba; Dr. Geore Enyedi; Prof. Tibor Vamos; Prof. Andrzej Rychard.

#### Accepted

- Alexandru Dutu, Bucharest (Title of project: "European Consciousness in Central and South East Europe. Preliminary Research and Contacts.");
- Gheorghe Iancu, Cluj ("The Problem of National Minorities in Romania 1918–1940 in the International Context");
- Florin Lobont, Timisoara ("Conflict of Rationalism and Social Action in Socialism. A Model of Analysis");
- □ Mircea Mihaies, Timisoara ("The Tragic Split. One Europe, Two Europes");
- Ioan Morar, Bucharest ("One Thousand and One Ways to Succeed");
- Sofia Chirica, Cluj ("Conformity and Social Influence");
- Monica Spiridon ("The Power and Limits of Metalanguage: New Dimensions of Poetics in the Light of Contemporary Intellectual History");
- a Cristian Stoiculescu ("Ecological Offensives for Romanian Nature Protection").

#### **Expenses**

Individual research workers will receive a monthly stipend of 150 to 300 USD for periods of 6 to 24 months. The grant may also cover other legitimate expenses connected with the research.

197.00 USD

#### The History and Philosophy of Art and Architecture

The CEU offers 20 scholarships for Central European young scholars at "The History and Philosophy of Art and Architecture in Central Europe" program to be held in Prague, between January 15—April 15, 1992.

The program is designed to promote a better understanding of the richness and singularity of European Art, by introducing students to the distinctive features of Central European Art.

The program consists of 5 interrelated units, namely: philosophy of art, art history, architecture, decorative arts, preservation and restauration. Three excursions and the participation in international conferences will complete the curriculum of the program.

#### Requirements for applicants

- should be post-graduate students working as art historians, decorative arts specialists, architects, restorers, philosophers or art critics;
- motivated under-graduates can be considered;
- proficiency in English;

Advertisments were made in Romania libera, 22, Romania literara, Romaniai Magyar Szo and in local newspapers. Informative materials have been sent to Art Academy in Bucharest, Institute of Architecture and to the Architects' Association.

Applications were due by November 15, 1991. 31 completed applications have been received by the deadline. Many of the applicants were interested in restauration. The selection was made by a jury at CEU Prague.

#### Accepted

Ervin Kesler; Monica Lotreanu; Liviana Dan; Cazmer Kovacs; Dan Ratiu; Gabriela Albu.

#### **Expenses**

All the expenses are to be covered by the CEU. Applicants will receive scholarships equivalent to 3,350 USD to cover tuition, lodging and board and additional pocket money and train fare. The train fare for one candidate was paid in 1991.

18,326.00 LEI

#### Postgraduate Program in Society and Politics

The Central European University offered up to seven scholarships to Romanians for a one-year post-graduate program in society and politics.

#### Requirements for applicants

- to have completed the first degree in sociology, politics or related disciplines;
- to have English language ability;
- some prior knowledge of statistical methods will be of help;
- age under 35.

Advertisements were run in Romania libera, Romaniai Magyar Szo and Tineretul Liber. Posters were placed at the Institute of Sociology and the University of Bucharest.

The deadline for the applications was August 20, 1991. The foundation received 8 completed application forms at the deadline. The Foundation paid the travel expenses Bucharest to Prague, later to be reimbursed by the CEU

#### Accepted

Gabriela Apostol; Florea Camelia; Aurora Bran-Voiculescu; Joszeff Lorincz; Mihaela Miron; Felicia Sprincenatu; Stela Popescu.

#### **Expenses**

36,881.25 LEI 75.00 USD

#### Research Programme in Comparative Literature

The Central European University offered an unspecified number of scholarships for the research fellows in Comparative Literature for the academic year 1991—1992 (and can be prolonged in exceptional cases).

Research fellows will take part in the CEU literature teaching program by teaching in six-week courses the topic they studied. They are expected to produce a minimum 50 pages dissertation written or translated into English at the end of the program.

Works completed will be published in the Department's English Language series.

#### Requirements

• the applicants must engage in the comparison of two or more Central and East European literatures (these include all Slavic, the three Baltic, Romanian and Hungarian literatures), either in their own right or in the context of other (Western) literatures; as well as on German, Austrian, Albanian and Finnish literatures.

As for the period, preference has been given to proposals relating to the modern period, understood as beginning with the late 18th century, and particularly to the 20th century.

Advertisements were made in Romania literara, 22, Romania libera, Romaniai Magyar Szo and local publications. Applications were due by September 15th, 1991 and were sent directly to the Soros Foundation in Budapest.

#### Selected

Violeta Anghel; Corin Braga; Ruxandra Ceserean; Mircea Farkas; Mioara Lujanski; Dana Maria Manu; Isabela Mares; Zoltan Paskuy; Vlad Pavlovici; Maria Popescu; Santa Attila.

#### **Expenses**

The researchers will receive 100 USD per month for 12 months (January–December, 1992). Payments will be made every three months. The first payment was made by the Foundation; the CEU will reimburse the sum.

The Foundation also paid for advertising and multiplication of application forms.

#### Seminar on Privatization

The Soros Foundation Romania helped in the organization of Romania's participation in a seminar on privatization in Central and East European countries, to be held in Prague between July 26—30, 1991.

The purpose of the seminar was to provide an opportunity for understanding the ongoing privatization processes in Eastern Europe from the comparative, historical and analytical perspectives. It was the first stage of a larger Privatization Project, whose final aim is to provide a qualitative and quantitative description of the privatization programs in various countries and a preliminary evaluation of their results.

#### Romanian specialists invited

Theodor Stolojan, Minister Secretary of State, National Privatization Agency; Misu Negritoiu, Minister Secretary of State, Romanian Development Agency.

#### Expenses

The Central European University paid the expenses for travel, board and lodging and also \$100 for incidental expenses.

The Foundation paid the travel expenses for Mr. Misu Negritoiu, which were reimbursed by the CEU. The National Privatization Agency covered all expenses for Mr. Theodor Stolojan.

#### 3.2 English Language Programs

English is not only the "lingua franca" of finance and international affairs, but also the language of science and research.

As the great majority of the international research work is conducted in English, mastering the language is absolutely essential if Romanians are to have access to information and help build an "open society."

All the courses held within the programs of the Central European University are also held in English so each candidate must pass an English language test before even entering the selection process.

Our English language programs aim both at training Romanian teachers of English ("training the trainers") and providing students and specialists with the opportunity for professional and academic improvement.

#### English Language Scholarships at the University of Edinburgh

In 1991, the Soros Foundation offered 60 scholarships for specialized English language training at the Institute for Applied Language Studies at the University of Edinburgh, England. There were five separate programs of four weeks, in each of which up to 12 students could be accommodated. Courses began on January 7, 1991, February 19, 1991, April 8, 1991, October 7, 1991 and November 9, 1991. The training included Legal English, Business English or General English, and were designed to give students a knowledge of the specialized terminology of their field.

In 1990, the Soros Foundation offered 39 scholarships. The students were selected by Mihai Eminescu Trust and Ministry of Education, Romania.

#### Requirements

- applicant must have an academic concentration on the study of English language, in business or in law and have already completed at least two years in a Romanian University;
- proficiency in English.

Advertisements were run in Romania libera, Cuvintul, Tineretul Liber, Romaniai Magyar Szo, 22 and local publications.

Applications were due by December 5, 1990. The Soros Foundation received 523 completed applications by deadline.

#### Jury

Prof. Adrian Nicolescu; Prof. Mihai Miroiu; Prof. Miruna Carianopol; Prof. Veronica Focsaneanu; Prof. Livia Deac.

#### Accepted for January 7, 1991

Adina Roxana Lazar; Iaromira Popovici; Liana Popa; Corina Tudose; Mircea Modran; Marius Goldenberg; Dacia Velicu; Isabela Atanasiu; Ioana-Maria Razi; Cecilia Zsejki; Grigore Gogu; Boiangiu Aura.

#### Accepted for February 19, 1991

Mirela Stoica; Doru Bucataru; Michael-Titus Grecu; Liliana Ianorescu; Marius Motocu; Liana Zavalas; Dana Nicolescu; Simona Spiridon; Mircea Gratian Ilie; Dan Tasca; Cristian Mungiu; Sorin Rosca.

#### Accepted for April 8, 1991

Mircea Naidin; George Barac; Dan Meszaros; Doina Tataru; Irena Iliescu; Anda Albu; Cosana Nicolae; Nicoleta Popovici; Cristina Mihailescu; Elena Borta; Tatiana Niculescu; Maria Orban.

#### Accepted for October 7, 1991

Eniko-Gabriela Deme; Schnedarek Adriana; Roxana Petculescu; Liliana-Diana Popescu; Raluca Dobra; Judith Ferenczy; Mircea Staiculescu; Violeta Barna; Sorana Ceuca; Anca Peiu; Peter Molnar; Mihail Blindu.

#### Accepted for November 9, 1991

Cristina Brescan; Iuliana Barany, Adriana Covas; Irina Liczek; Octav Teodorescu; Irina Postolache-Lucaveski; Ovidiu Ursa; Ramona Ioana Mitrica; Radu Vilau; Julia Lazar; Alexandra Vrinceanu; Tiberiu Sandu.

#### Expenses

The Mihai Eminescu Trust—London paid most of the course fees. The Soros Foundation paid partial tuition and travel plus accommodation expenses for all students.

The expenses in 1990 were paid through Mihai Eminescu Trust—London.

30,042.00 USD

The Soros Foundation—Romania and the Mihai Eminescu Trust—London covered the 1991 expenses.

10,155.00 USD 2,968,666.00 LEI

#### Teacher Training Course in Iasi

The Soros Foundation, together with the International House School of English from London, the Romanian Ministry of Education, the British Council and "Inspectoratul Scolar Judetean" Iasi organized a course for up to 150 teachers of English held from September 2 through September 14, 1991 in Iasi.

The course was designed to provide teachers with an opportunity to develop their professional skills and improve their methodology and teaching techniques.

The course was taught by foreign tutors with extensive experience in teacher training.

#### Requirements

- first degree in English language and literature;
- must be a teacher of English in primary, secondary or high school.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Adevarul, Romaniai Magyar Szo, Tribuna Invatamintului, and local publications and several announcements were made on Romanian Television.

Applications were due by July 15, 1991, but this deadline was extended to July 21, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 290 completed applications by the deadline.

#### Jury

Ecaterina Comisel; Caroline Horn; Anca Colibaba; Livia Deac.

#### Accepted

Adam Ema; Adarov Adina; Amuraritei Constanta; Andreescu Elena; Andrei Luminita; Antal Carmen; Ardeleanu Doina Magdalena; Arjocan Ersinia; Baba Cristina; Badulescu Anca; Bakk David Eniko; Balasiu Vanda, Barabula Marinela; Barac Nicoleta; Barbu Lucica; Bercaru Violeta; Bereczki Mariana; Bitea Angela; Bogdan Eleonora; Bogdan Violeta; Bojan Maria; Bontila Maria; Botezatu Rodica; Broos Monica; Burchesiu Mona; Campeanu Liliana; Cazan Manuela; Chiaburu Georgeta; Chimirea Daniela; Chirca Simona Ionuta; Chirea Adina; Chiriac Doina Catalina; Chitau Ana; Ciuchi Carmen; Ciuciuc Olea; Ciurea Violeta; Conon Romana Daniela; Conta Anca Cristina; Cotor Rodica; Craciun Sofia; Craciun Iulia Adriana; Cristea Sanziana; Csakany Boloni Catarina; Cucu Maria Elisabeta; Dan Margareta; Deme Terezia; Doboly Beatrice Elena; Dobre Vasilica; Doroftei Dorina; Dulgeru Alina; Dumitru Elena; Fercau Maria; Filimon Maria Mirela; Fintescu Carmen; Funetan Ana Maria; Gavrilita Parascovia; Gavrilas Veronica; Gherghel Elena; Giurgea Ioan; Gociu Diana; Grigore Carmen Anca; Havarneanu Lotus; Horincar Simona; Horvath Claudia; Ilie Liliana; Ioan Ana Victorita; Ionescu Cristina; Ionescu Ambrozie Adriana; Iordachescu Doina Cecilia; Juverdeanu Doina Virginia; Kamenev Zenaida; Kertesz Eva; Leasenco Galina; Luca Rodica; Lupu Gabriela; Maisner Adelina; Marfievici Gina; Maris Marilena; Man Magdalena; Mazniuc Ludmila Antonovna; Melnic Zvetlana; Mocanu Elea Georgiana; Moga Violeta; Moldovanu Florica; Muntean Maria; Murariu Margareta; Musteata Tatiana; Nagy Doina; Niciporuc Monica; Odeh Elena; Oleinic Liuba Nicolae; Onofreiciuc Elisabeta; Oprea Elisabeta Luminita; Oprescu Dana; Orendi Rozalia; Orendi Mariana; Orlando Camelia; Orosanu Cecilia; Paduraru Melania: Paidos Constantin; Palade Dorina; Pavel Gabriela; Peculea Florina; Petrescu Laura Beatrice; Pobijan Mihaela; Pochiscan Elena; Popescu Gica; Popovici Eugenia; Puca Mariana Dana; Pupaza Cristina; Radulescu Rocsana; Radulov Petronela; Revenco Diana; Robu Diana Xenia; Roznovschi Teodora; Rusu Maria Gabriela; Salceanu Michaela Adriana; Sava Ioan; Sava Mariana; Scaesteanu Elena; Sfira Felicia; Stan Magdalena Ecaterina; Stancescu Cristiana; Stanescu Elena Ersilia; Stefan Olga; Stefan Elena; Stefanescu Doina Amelia; Stoicescu Cristina; Sturza Nicoleta; Suteu Lia; Szabo Emese; Tabacaru Doina; Tamas Edith; Tasca Dorina Vitalia; Tatar Sanda Cristina; Tilivea Rodica; Timar Clara; Tozser Csilla Gabriela; Troncota Simona; Trandafir Vasile; Tudose Maria Elena; Tuturuga Claudia; Ursu Ludmila Mihai; Varzaru Gabriela; Vasilescu Liliana Felicia; Vasiliu Veronica; Vervitchi Serghei; Zaharia Danina; Zamfir Mihaela.

#### Expenses

The Soros Foundation paid for the British trainers' travel expenses and half of their salaries in US dollars and for incidental expenses in Lei. The British Council paid the other half of the salaries.

4,542.89 USD 245,103.00 LEI

#### The Soros/International House Language School in Timisoara

The Soros Foundation, together with the International House School in England, set up an English School in Timisoara.

The school is intended to reach all categories of people who seek to improve their level of English. The school was endowed with a start-up grant from the Soros Foundation and will be self-financed in Lei starting with January 1, 1993. The Foundation will, however, continue to support the hard-currency expenses involved by providing a native-language teaching staff and teaching materials. The first year started with a team of three experienced ESL trainers from Great Britain (two teachers and one director of studies). The courses are set up on four levels: beginners, elementary, intermediate, advanced. Each classroom includes up to 15 students. The school has 270 students per each series of 10 weeks.

After the first six months the school will set up a teacher training course to train future selected Romanian teachers.

#### Expenses

In 1991 the Soros Foundation paid a part of the start-up grant.

8,515.20 USD 347,731.00 LEI

#### Foreign Teachers of English Training in Romanian Schools

The Soros Foundation New York initiated a program of selecting young American English language teachers for teaching in Romanian schools. The selection of the teachers was done in New York. The Romanian Soros Foundation had to select the appropriate schools.

The purpose of the project was to improve the quality of English language teaching in Romanian secondary and high-schools, to give an opportunity for both the children and the teachers to have a direct contact with the American culture and way of thinking.

Advertising was placed through the weekly magazine Tribuna Invatamintului, which is specialized in education and read by virtually all the teachers in the country.

Applications were due by July 15th, 1991. Six Romanian schools submitted their applications, but only one could meet the requirements.

#### Requirements for the American teachers

- masters in ESL;
- teaching experience;
- one year commitment;
- teaches in high schools;
- has experience in teacher training.

#### Requirements for the local schools

- the school had to pay the teacher's salary;
- provide appartment, for single occupancy, with all expenses paid, including utilities.

#### Accepted

Prof. Matthew Hanrahan, teaching at the "Constantin Negruzzi" high school of Iasi.

#### **Expenses**

The Soros Foundation in New York paid the airline ticket for the teacher and a stipend of \$2,000. The local Soros Foundation paid 3,500 Lei to the teacher, upon his arrival in Romania, to cover his expenses till the first salary payment and will complete the local salary with 10,000 Lei per month to compensate for high inflation.

3,500.00 LEI

#### 1991 Summer Study Program in English at the University of Leeds

The Soros Foundation together with the English Language Unit at the University of Leeds offered to 12 students the opportunity to improve their English, to learn about Britain and the British, and to study with people from many different countries in a friendly international atmosphere.

The classes were held between July 14th—27th, 1991 and included "Communication Skills in English", which had 16 class hours each week.

This program is a result of a financial request of the English Department of the University of Bucharest.

#### Requirements

 applicants must be in 2nd, 3rd, 4th or 5th year of study of English as the first or the second language.

Applications were due by April 22nd, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 42 completed applications by the deadline.

#### Jury

Prof. Adrian Nicolescu; Prof. Livia Deac; Prof. Veronica Focsaneanu; Prof. Mihai Miroiu.

#### Accepted

Hirtopanu Stefania; Csiszer Maria; Borsa Rodica Corina; Patuleanu Ioana; Ciontea Anca; Chiriac Andreea Cristina; Stan Violeta; Zanfir Jeni; Sinpetru Alina; Petrescu Simona<sup>1</sup>; Bloos Magda Lia; Florescu Ana Valentina.

#### **Expenses**

The Soros Foundation paid for travel, tuition, accomodations, food and pocket money.

10,209.04 USD 371,120.00 LEI

#### American Library Book Exhibition

The Soros Foundation together with the American Library of Bucharest organized a book exhibition in the spring of 1991. The books, written in English, were purchased by the Soros Foundation and offered to English language teachers, students, professors and researchers, at subsidized prices in Lei (i.e., at the official exchange rate).

#### **Expenses**

The Soros Foundation paid the books and small expenses related to the conference. The American Library of Bucharest reimbursed the sum in Lei obtained for the books, i.e. 970,000 Lei.

7,890.00 USD 9,290.00 LEI

Simona Petrescu declined her invitation and there was no time to replace her. Etnokulturális Kisebbségek Forrásközpontja – Erdélyi Magyar Adatbank

## 3.3 Scholarships and Administered Programs in Other Fields

# Inter-University Consortium for Political and Social Research—Ann Arbor, Michigan

The Soros Foundation offered four scholarships for both sessions of a summer program conducted from July 1 through August 23, 1991 in Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA. The courses offered practical training in the Quantitative Methods of Social Research and research analysis.

#### Requirements

- must be a student in social sciences;
- a solid background in high mathematics;
- proficiency in English.

Announcements were made to the Sociology Departments of Bucharest and Cluj Universities to publicize the program.

Applications were due on June 21, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 9 completed applications by the deadline.

#### Jury

Prof. Sandu Dumitru; Prof. Ion Margineanu; Prof. Calin Anastasiu; Prof. Mihai Miroiu.

#### Accepted

Mara-Ileana Galat; Luana-Miruna Zamfir Camarasu; Irina-Lucia Culic; Teodor Czobor<sup>1</sup>.

#### Expenses

The Soros Foundation paid the travel, tuition and living expenses for both terms of the summer program.

9,000.00 USD 179,345.00 LEI

#### The Center for European Studies Undergraduate Summer Program

The Soros Foundation offered a single scholarship to a summer program held from July 4 through August 16, 1991 in Budapest, Hungary. The program offered courses in economics, history, sociology and political science. The primary focus was on Central Europe, but the program also included pan-European aspects.

<sup>1</sup> Teodor Czobor declined his invitation and did not attend the program.

## Requirements

- must be in 2nd, 3rd, or 4th year of study in economics, law, sociology, philosophy, history, or political science;
- grade average above 9.00;
- proficiency in English.

Letters were written to the rectors and deans of all the faculties relevant to this course. Applications were due by April 15, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 6 completed applications by the deadline.

## Jury

Prof. Sandu Dumitru; Prof. Marcel Duhaneanu; Prof. Mihai Miroiu.

#### Accepted

Oana Negulescu.

#### **Expenses**

The Soros Foundation paid for tuition and accommodations.

3,000.00 LEI 425.00 USD

## Politics, Human Rights and Education

The British Institute of Human Rights offered up to 3 scholarships through the Soros Foundation for a short series of courses on human rights conducted from May 13 through May 23, 1991 at King's College in London, England.

The main objectives of the program were to analyze the basic issues involved in determining rights and duties and to apply this analysis to specific issues which were of interest to the students.

#### Requirements

- must be a postgraduate or student in his/her final year of study;
- must be interested in and have had practical experience with human rights in Romania;
- proficiency in English.

Letters were written to the American Embassy, the "Fratia" Association, the Helsinki Committee for Human Rights and the Students League to solicit applications.

Applications were due on April 2, 1991, but this deadline was extended until April 15, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 4 completed applications by the final deadline.

## Jury

Gabriel Andreescu; Ruxandra Ceciu.

## Accepted

Carmen Semenescu<sup>1</sup>; George Serban; Razvan Constantin Moldoveanu.

## Expenses

The Soros Foundation paid the round-trip airfare to London for the students.

58,320.00 LEI

## Legal Philosophy in the Service of Democracy

The Soros Foundation offered up to five places in a seminar held from June 3 through June 30, 1991 in Budapest and Rackeve Castle, Hungary.

The program of study covered the philosophical foundations of private and public law as well as an introduction to the protection of human rights in European and American courts.

## Requirements

 must be a postgraduate with either a degree in law or substantial experience working towards democratic reform.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera and Romaniai Magyar Szo to publicize the program.

Applications were due on April 15, 1991.

Selection was made by the Helsinki Committee for Human Rights—Romania.

## Accepted

Constantin Negrescu; Simona Carmen Popescu; Dan Preisz; Daniela Semenescu; Renate Gavrilas Weber.

Although participants from Romania were chosen to participate in the conference, none could attend because the selections were submitted by the Helsinki Committee—Romania after the deadline set by the conference organizers and all rooms in Rackeve Castle had been filled.

5,000.00 LEI

# Conference on Environmental Factors and Child Health in Central Europe

The University of Chicago and The Chicago Medical School, through the Soros Foundation, offered up to three places at a conference that took place from June 26 through June 28, 1991 in Chicago, Illinois, USA.

<sup>1</sup> Carmen Semenescu declined her invitation and did not attend the courses.

The candidates had to be specialists and practice in child care. After consultations with Dr. Murphy of Project Concern International, the Soros Foundation recommended two people, of whom the Chicago organizers invited only one.

## Accepted

Dr. Alin Stanescu<sup>1</sup>

## Expenses

All costs of the conference were paid by the organizers.

# Soros/FCO and Horia Georgescu Scholarships, Hospitality Schemes

The Soros Foundation offered in cooperation with the Foreign Commonwealth Office (FCO) in Great Britain 5 scholarships in 1990 and up to 13 scholarships in 1991 for between nine months and one year of study at Oxford, Manchester and York Universities in the United Kingdom beginning on October 1, 1991, and up to eight scholarships for a short term hospitality program at the colleges of Oxford University.

For 1991 there were up to 5 scholarships available for post-graduate studies in humanities or social sciences at Oxford, up to 6 for post-graduate studies in pollution control or governmental studies at Manchester up to 2 for post-graduate studies in philosophy at York. The hospitality scheme at Oxford University was designed for academics writing books or preparing Ph.D. theses.

## Requirements

- must be a university graduate with a grade point average higher than 9;
- must have submitted a dissertation rated "very good" or "excellent";
- must already be working on a doctoral thesis and have passed one or two exams for a Ph.D. degree (for Hospitality Scheme applicants only);
- must be applying to study abroad for the first time;
- proficiency in English;
- age limits between 26 and 49 depending on the program.

Advertisements were run in Romania libera, Tineretul Liber, Expres, 22, Cuvintul, Romaniai Magyar Szo and local publications. Posters were distributed and letters sent to the rectors of universities throughout the country.

Applications were due by December 5, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 29 completed applications for scholarships at Oxford, 52 for Manchester, 13 for York and 198 for the Hospitality Scheme.

Selection was made in two steps. Pre-selection was based upon written applications and final selections were made by interviews. Each accepted candidate's ability to understand, speak and write English was tested by an ELTS examination at the British Council.

<sup>1</sup> Dr. Alin Stanescu declined his invitation and did not attend. Dr. Alexandru Balin was invited. Etnokulturális Kisebbségek Forrásközpontja – Erdélyi Magyar Adatbank

## Juries for the pre-selection

#### For social sciences

Lazar Vlasceanu; Sandu Dumitru; Dorel Abraham; Sorin Vieru.

#### For economics/management

Marcel Duhaneanu; Vasile Pilat; Zamfir Alexandru; Craiutu Aurelian; Nicolae Suta.

## For ecology and pollution control

Dan Manoleli; Angheluta Vadineanu; Victor Giurgiu; Victor Barsan.

#### For the humanities

Adrian Nicolescu; Mihai Miroiu; Livia Deac.

#### For ecology/environment

Dan Manoleli; Vadineanu Angheluta; Nicolae Bodnariuc; Victor Giurgiu; Victor Barsan.

#### For technical sciences

Daniel Ioan; Dan Mihoc; Ioan Marinescu; Stoian Petrescu; Florian Tomescu.

## Jury for the final selection in Romania

Prof. Zbigniew Pelczynski; Prof. Kenneth Mayhew; Prof. Veronica Ortenberg; Adrian Odell; Prof. Dan Manoleli; Prof. Adrian Nicolescu.

## Jury for the ELTS examination

Adrian Odell, British Council.

The final selection and acceptance were made by the host universities and colleges in the United Kingdom.

The following candidates were accepted:

## Accepted

#### Horia Georgescu Scholarships—1990

Cornel Partenie.

#### Horia Georgescu Scholarships-1991

Manuela Ungureanu; Ligia Kelemen.

#### Soros/FCO Scholarships—1990

Adrian Paul Iliescu; M.M. Golia; C.O. Secasiu; Al. Calboreanu.

#### Soros/FCO Scholarships-1991

Mihaela Czobor.

#### Manchester University—1990

Vago Dunia, Cuculescu M. (Environmental Sciences); Botezatu D. (Economics).

#### Manchester University-1991

Liliana Popescu Birlan; Caterina Ligia Florian; Rodica Ioana Nitescu; Danut Ionel Vaireanu; Andrei Valentin Medvedovici.

## Hospitality Scheme-1991

Marcel Duhaneanu; Maria Larionescu; Mircea Corneliu Craciun; Doina Carmen Cmeciu; Anca Dumitrescu; Ioana Gogeanu; Livia Disli; Adrian Nicolescu.

No candidates were accepted for scholarships at the York University in 1991.

#### **Expenses**

For the Hospitality Scheme, the UK colleges gave visitors free accommodation and meals, a small allowance for books and xeroxing as well as 85 Pounds per month for personal expenses. For the other programs the Soros Foundation paid all expenses excluding travel. Participants for all programs were expected to arrange for their own travel. Still, the following participants applied for a travel grant and were accepted:

Manuela Ungureanu; Ligia Kelemen; Mihaela Czobor; Liliana Popescu Birlan; Caterina Ligia Florian; Rodica Ioana Nitescu; Marcel Duhaneanu; Ioana Gogeanu; Livia Disli.

> 30,434.75 USD (1990) 13,724.57 USD (1991) 551,290.00 LEI (1991)

# Central European Studies Program at Budapest University of Economics

The Budapest University of Economics, the University of California and the University of Wisconsin offered up to twenty scholarships through the Soros Foundation for a one-year program conducted from October, 1991 through October, 1992 in Budapest, Hungary. The program's two main foci were the problems of political, economic and cultural transition in general and the specific problems of Central Europe.

#### Requirements

- must be in 3rd, 4th, or 5th year at the faculties of economics, sociology, social psychology, history, or philosophy;
- grade average above 9;
- proficiency in English.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Tineretul Liber, Romaniai Magyar Szo, Adevarul, Cuvintul, 22 and local newspapers. Posters were put up at the Academy of Economic Studies and letters were written to rectors of universities throughout the country.

Applications were due on March 20, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 14 completed applications by the deadline.

## Jury

Prof. Sandu Dumitru; Prof. Alexandru Mihailescu; Prof. Adrian Nicolescu; Prof. Sorin Vieru; Prof. Zoe Petre.

#### Accepted student—1990

Demeny Laszlo.

#### Accepted students-1991

Axinte Adrian Sorin; Sorin Matei.

## **Expenses**

The Soros Foundation gave a second-class train ticket to Budapest and cash as a stipend for August and September to each student.

2,500.00 USD (1990) 3,275.00 LEI (1991) 1,113.00 USD (1991)

## Pluralism in Legal Thinking

The University of Warsaw offered up to five places through the Soros Foundation for a short course from September 17 through September 27, 1991 held in Warsaw, Poland.

The course was designed to give law lecturers from post-communist countries support in the fields of philosophy of law, sociology of law and comparative law.

## Requirements

must be a post-graduate practicing law.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Romaniai Magyar Szo and Tineretul Liber.

Applications were due by July 12, 1991. The Soros Foundation received only one completed application by the deadline.

#### Accepted

Nicolae Precup.

#### Expenses

The University of Warsaw covered all participant expenses.

## University of Warwick Scholarships

The Soros Foundation co-sponsored up to four scholarships offered by Warwick University in conjunction with the British Foreign Office for a nine month course of study in Coventry, England beginning September 30, 1991.

The program was designed for post-graduates from Eastern Europe who have completed at least a Master's degree. The scholarships offered students a chance for continued study in their fields of specialty.

## Requirements

- must be a post-graduate with a Master's degree or higher degree including research (thesis);
- proficiency in English;
- age limit: 35.

Universities in Romania were notified about the program directly by the University of Warwick.

Applications were due by February 18, 1991. Warwick University received 15 completed applications by the deadline. The Selection Committee at the University of Warwick narrowed the field to 6 candidates. The Soros Foundation organized the final selection by interview.

## Jury

Prof. Terry Kemp, Warwick University; Claus Henning, British Council.

#### Accepted

Victor Bloeca; Romana Clinciu; Mariana Paun; Iulia Traistaru.

## Expenses

The Soros Foundation paid for advertising and selection process. The Soros Foundation, together with the British Foreign Office and Warwick University paid the scholarships and transportation costs.

12,741.00 LEI 15,245.30 USD

## Summer School of Economics, Olsztyn

The Summer School of Economics offered an unspecified number of scholarships through the Soros Foundation to a course held in Kortowo, Poland from August 10 through September 14, 1991. There were a total of 60 places reserved for students from East European countries and the number of Romanians accepted was based on merit. The Summer school offered intensive training in microeconomics, macroeconomics, international economics and public finance. The course was designed to prepare its students for teaching economics and/or more advanced studies.

#### Requirements

- basic knowledge of the principles of economic analysis or a strong background in economics related sciences (statistics, mathematics, computer science, etc.);
- proficiency in English.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Romaniai Magyar Szo and Tineretul Liber and posters were put up at the Academy of Economic Studies, the University of Bucharest, the National Commission for Statistics, the Romanian Bank and Foreign Trade, the National Bank of Romania and the BankCoop.

Applications were due by April 25, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 31 applications by the deadline.

Preliminary selection was made at the Summer School of Economics in Olsztyn. The Soros Foundation—Romania arranged for the final selection by interview.

#### Jury

Prof. Doina Lecca; Prof. Adrian Nicolescu.

## Accepted

Daniela Stoichitoiu; Daniela Sarpe; Mihaela Miron; Nicusor Ruiu

## **Expenses**

The Soros Foundation gave \$100 to each student for personal expenses.

Graduates of the five week course will be offered scholarships to a one year program at the Central European University in Prague. The program includes courses in economics and econometrics at a first-year graduate level and policy seminars conducted by World Bank and International Monetary Fund experts.

The Soros Foundation has offered stipends for two outstanding graduates of the five-week program to pursue Ph.D. studies at a Western University of their choice.

1,000.00 LEI 445.00 USD

## Young Managers MBA Program

The Soros Foundation offered in 1990 one, and in 1991 up to 8 scholarships to a one year program at the International Management Center (IMC) in Budapest, Hungary, beginning on August 12, 1991. The Young Managers program leads towards a Master of Business Administration degree and prepares its students for a career in the world of international business. It promotes a Western management curriculum and tries to adapt the methods developed in Western market economies to the needs of Eastern Europe.

#### Requirements

- University degree;
- at least three years of work experience;
- Graduate Management Admission Test (GMAT);
- proficiency in English;
- age 25-35.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Tineretul Liber, Szabadsag, Adevarul de Cluj and Romaniai Magyar Szo and posters were put up at the Academy of Economic Studies in Bucharest.

Applications were due by April 22, 1991. The Soros Foundation received 160 completed applications by deadline.

Preliminary selections were made by the International Management Center. Following the administration of GMAT and TOEFL tests to further narrow the field to 16, the Soros Foundation arranged for the final selection by interview. The final selection was made by a jury of the IMC, Budapest.

## Jury

Zsuzsa Czobor, IMC; James Portwood, IMC.

#### Accepted in 1990

Stelian Panescu.

## Accepted in 1991

Cristina Nitescu<sup>1</sup>; Gabriel-Silviu Jivanescu; Carmen-Laura Zarzu; Romanita Radulescu; Alexandru Pop; Catalin-Stefan Mocuta; Constantin-Flor Petriceanu; Alexandru Covrig.

#### **Expenses**

The Soros Foundation paid 108,000 USD for the living expenses of all students; 50 USD were paid for travel expenses to each of the candidates (except for Alexandru Pop and Stelian Panescu).

8,000.00 USD (1990)<sup>2</sup> 100,350.00 USD (1991) 1,500.00 LEI (1991)

## Inter-University Center, Dubrovnik

The Soros Foundation offered an unspecified number of scholarships to different short-term courses at the Inter-University Center in Dubrovnik, Yugoslavia during the academic year of 1991—1992.

The program offered 72 different courses and 18 different conferences in economics, social sciences, law, medicine, environment, engineering, journalism, and foreign languages. All courses were designed for post-graduates and were intended to update participants in their fields with "state-of-the-art" knowledge.

#### Requirements

- must be a university graduate or particularly motivated student;
- proficiency in English;
- age limit: 40.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Cuvintul, 22, Romaniai Magyar Szo and local publications and read over Radio Bucharest 1. Posters and brochures were dis-

<sup>1</sup> Cristina Nitescu declined her invitation and was replaced by Dan Popovici from the waiting list.

<sup>2</sup> The Romanian Ministry of Industry reimbursed 168,000 Lei as contribution to the fees, at the official exchange rate of the Leu.

tributed to universities and "Inspectoratele Scolare" throughout the country and to other institutions appropriate for specific courses.

Applications were due by December 10, 1990. The Soros Foundation received 143 (Bucharest office) plus 144 (Cluj office) completed applications by the deadline. Primary selections were made by specialized juries from each field. Final selections were made on the basis of English language ability.

## Jury for Medicine

Dr. Sanda Magureanu; Dr. Zorel Filipescu; Dr. Gheorghe Peltecu; Dr. Radu Dop.

## Jury for Seismology

Dr. Dumitru Enescu; Dr. Mihnea-Corneliu Oncescu; Dr. Marius Anghel.

## Jury for Petroleum Engineering

Dr. Raseev Dumitru; Dr. Vlad Ion; Dr. Georgescu Gheorghe.

#### Jury for Journalism

Romulus Rusan; Radu G. Teposu; Ioan Buduca;

#### Jury for Foreign Languages

Dr. Doina Lecca; Mihaela Arsene; Elena Drambareanu

## Jury for English Language Test in Bucharest

Doina Lecca; Mihaela Arsene; Elena Drambareanu

## Accepted1

Iuliana Dobrescu (240); Viviana Bell (240); Radu Teodorescu (240); Mihai Iliescu (\*); Voichita Maria Cociasu (\*); Stefan Claudiu Turculet (\*); Dan Lucian Dumitrascu (200); Rodica Furnica (150); Marina Anghene (\*); Monica Safer (\*); Denis Paduraru (210) Marina Baciu (\*); Carmen Carasca (\*); Livia Erdosi (200); Viorica Petrescu (200); Octavian Henegariu (200); Ioana Miclutia (\*); Valentin Has (200); Dorin Marian (\*); Adrian Ionescu (\*); Radu Muresan (200); Gheorghe Peltecu (\*); Iunona Panoiu (\*); Irina Buhimschi (\*) Catalin Buhimschi (\*); Lorena Turculet (\*); Liliana Balasa (\*); Cristina Vasiliu (\*); Violeta Stan (\*); Marlene Alexandru (\*); Beca Elena (\*); Dutu Andreea (\*); Pralea Catalin (240); Panaitescu Mihaela (\*); Cucu Lucia (\*); Nichita Vladimir (\*); Grigoras Daniela (\*); Maftei Alexandru (\*); Ionescu Gabriel (\*); Georgescu Marius (\*); Csobuka Daniela (\*); Brinzei Daniela (\*); Simion Constantinescu Florin (\*); Panaitescu Cristian (\*); Lecca Mihaela (\*); Codrea Vlad (\*); Grigoras Dan (\*); Dan Saulean (200); Ballo Aron (200); Mircea Ticudean (200); Valentin Gheorghiu (\*); Raut Luminita Mariana (150); Irina Bobulescu (\*); Cunescu Eliada (390); Constantinescu Gabriela (390); Ciobanu Catalina (\*); Trandafir Vasile (\*); Macovei Ioana (360); Riscuta Doruta (360); Pegulescu Anca (\*) Neagu Rodica (\*); Macsimiuc Cornelia (\*); Chira Carmen (\*); Mocanu Victor (\*); Cranganu Constantin (\*); Mosoiu Nadia (\*); Dragusanu Cristian (\*); Lupas Daniela (800); Lazarovici Constantin (200); Dalalau Gabriel (200); Hodos Sorina (250); Corneliu Fecioru (200); Jula Catalina (360); Leonescu Dalila (150); Miruna Nanu (300); Calin Doina Florina (300); Hank Iulia (360); Popescu Simona (300); Laurentiu Gheorghiu (150); Bura Antoaneta (150); Lefter Marius (180); Dimbeanu Ovidiu (180); Cara Mihaela (240).

<sup>1</sup> In parantheses are the sums in USD received. The candidates marked with an asterisk (\*) were accepted, but did not attend the courses because of the political events in Yugoslavia.

## Expenses

The Soros Foundation covered all expenses excluding travel. The cost to the Foundation differed for each participant depending upon the course for which he/she was enrolled. Several of the courses cancelled due to the events in Yugoslavia were taken over by the Central European University in Prague.

13,094.30 USD 28,400.00 LEI

## 1990 University of Cambridge Summer School

The Mihai Eminescu Trust in London and the Soros Foundation for an Open Society—Romania have supported the participation of 6 Romanian specialists at the International Summer School, at the University of Cambridge, for one month, in July 1990. Selection was made on basis of written applications.

#### Jury

Andrei Pippidi; Mariana Celac; Vera Campeanu.

#### Selected

Chiroiu Germina Ana; Solcan Mihai Radu; Ivas Salomeia Miorita; Beciu Camelia; Barbu Nicolae; Sofronescu Elena.

All expenses were paid by the Mihai Eminescu Trust in London. The participants paid for their own travel expenses.

2,000.00 LEI 8,169.00 USD

## European College Cambridge Overseas Trust Scholarships

The Cambridge Overseas Trust, in collaboration with the Soros Foundation, offered up to three scholarships to enable outstanding students from Romania to pursue a one-year postgraduate course in the Social Sciences and the Humanities at the University of Cambridge from October, 1992.

#### Requirements

- a degree with high grades from a recognized university or its equivalent;
- proficiency in English.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, Romaniai Magyar Szo, Cotidianul, Cuvintul and local publications.

Applications were due by December 15th, 1991. The Soros Foundations received 49 completed applications by deadline.

Selection will take place in three stages:

- a preliminary selection made by Dr. Veronica Ortenberg and Prof. Zbigniew Pelczynski from Oxford University;
- an English Test (ESP);
- the final selection was performed in the UK directly by the Cambridge Overseas Trust.

## **Expenses**

All costs will be covered by the European College of the Central European University (CEU).

## 3.4 Conferences, Seminars and Miscellaneous

## Conference on the Rule of Law

The Soros Foundation helped organize two conferences held on May 27, 1991 in Bucharest and May 29, 1991 in Cluj on behalf of the "Mihai Eminescu Trust" in London. The intention of the conferences was to clarify the importance of the "Rule of Law" in the social changes and transition to democracy in Romania.

The conferences were publicized by posters put up at the Bar of Bucharest. The Soros Foundation made further promotional and organizational arrangements through contacts at the Bar of Bucharest and the Bar of Cluj.

Lawyers, law students, human rights activists from Bucharest and Cluj, and nine specialists from the United Kingdom, USA, France and Denmark attended the conference.

## **Participants**

- Jessica Douglas-Home, Mihai Eminescu Trust, London;
- Professor George Fletcher, Columbia University, New York;
- Professor Ethan Klingsberg, Constitutional Court, Hungary;
- Madame Claude Etevenon, Secretaire General du Procureur General pour la Cour d'Appel de Paris;
- Professor Roger Scruton, London University, London;
- William Thomas, Solicitor, Great Britain;
- Vladimir Weissmann, Helsinki Committee, Denmark;
- Professor Erik Siesby, Chairman, Helsinki Committee, Denmark;
- Mrs. Margareta Jacobson, Judge, specializing in transformation of legal system in Poland.

## **Expenses**

The costs of conferences were paid by the Mihai Eminescu Trust of London. The Soros Foundation paid additional expenses during the conference, lodging and domestic travel for the invited speakers.

56,848.15 LEI 2,576.35 USD

## Book Translations, Publications

## "Handbook for Journalists in Central and Eastern Europe"

This handbook, edited by Malcolm F. Mallette and originally published by the World Press Freedom Committee's Rex Rand Fund, "is dedicated to those courageous journalists who kept alive the spirit of a free press, and in so doing, have helped lead their

countries to freedom." It was translated into Romanian by Doina Lica and Irina Horea. In 1991, the Soros Foundation paid for a part of the translation. The World Press Freedom Committee will reimburse all expenses in 1992.

1991 expenses:

25,000.00 LEI

## 3.5 East-East Programs

## East-East and Soros Foundations Meeting, Karlovy-Vary

Vera Cimpeanu, Cristina Gheorghe, Salat Levente, Adam Muller, Sandra Pralong and Alin Teodorescu attended the first Soros Foundations meeting after the beginning of the democratization processes in Central and Eastern European countries. The debates focused on the mechanisms of operating a foundation and cooperation at the inter-foundation level.

6,484.00 LEI 500.00 USD

## East-East Meeting, Sofia

Alexandru Lazescu, Catrinel Plesu and Anca Oroveanu attended a Conference in Sofia, Bulgaria in February, 1991. The main topic of the discussions was collaboration between Eastern European publications and the exchange of articles between them. The Soros Foundation paid travel expenses and pocket money for Alexandru Lazescu.

1,900.00 LEI 50.00 USD

## East-East Meeting, Budapest

Calin Anastasiu, Catrinel Plesu, Jozsef Lorincz, Smaranda Enache, Stelian Tanase and Alexandru Lazescu attended the East-East Meeting in Budapest, Hungary in August 9—11, 1991.

This three-days meeting had the following purposes:

- to foster the co-operation of Eastern and Central European journals involved in the East-East Project;
- to discuss the main problems of this region at that time, focusing on the Yugoslavian crisis;
- to talk over the ways in which the Soros Foundation offices can give intellectual, organizational and financial support to this project and find new ways of co-operation on the regional level.

The Soros Foundation paid \$275.00 travel expenses, plus \$50.00 living expenses for Catrinel Plesu, Alexandru Lazescu, Stelian Tanase and Calin Anastasiu and \$40.00 living expenses for Lorincz Jozsef. Smaranda Enache covered her own expenses.

1,340.00 USD

## East-East Meeting, Timisoara

On the occasion of the official opening of the Timisoara branch of the Soros Foundation, an east-east meeting was held in Timisoara, between November 26—28, 1991.

Mr. George Soros, Ms. Patricia Klecanda, Ms. Beka Vuko, Mr. Peter Streinger and Program Coordinators from Eastern countries attended the meeting.

New East-East programs and accounting issues were discussed.<sup>1</sup>

1,929,585.00 LEI 798.00 USD

## East Magazine Review—"Polis", Review of Political Sciences

In order to improve intellectual and political communication between the former Communist countries, a team coordinated by Calin Anastasiu received an initial grant to publish and circulate a high-level magazine, starting with the second half of 1992.

The grant was paid from the East-East Programs' budget and the Soros Foundation—Romania will assist this team, providing printing support, up to \$7,000 and a computer with dot matrix printer.

7,000.00 USD

<sup>1</sup> The sum of 5,000 USD was reimbursed from the East East Program budget.
Etnokulturális Kisebbségek Forrásközpontja – Erdélyi Magyar Adatbank

# 4 Mass Media Program

any of the programs and grants listed in this section could otherwise be listed as "Education" programs or "Open Program" grants.

Their distinction reflects the special emphasis of the Soros Foundation on developing independent press media in Romania.

The commitment of the Foundations's Secretariat and the Board of Directors in this area is complemented by the existence of a Media Program at the inter-foundation level, under the direction of Mr. Johnston M. Mitchell. The Media Program began in April 1990 and operates within the network of Soros Foundations, throughout Eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union. It currently focuses on an ongoing series of workshops, training courses and consultations, but is continuing to expand its activities in the fields of press distribution and others.

The activities of the Soros Foundation—Romania and the Media Program this past year fell into three categories: (i) grants, (ii) training, and (iii) visits by foreign experts for special programs.

## 4.1 Mass Media Program Grants

## Printed Press, 1990

## "22" Magazine, Bucharest

 Complete Macintosh Desktop Publishing System; Kodak films, fixer, negatives, developing devices, newsprint

> 514,695.00 LEI 18,784.00 USD

## "Nu" Magazine, Cluj

Newsprint

250,000.00 LEI

## "Oeconomica" Magazine, Independent Institute for Free Enterprise

Newsprint

367,000.00 LEI

## Printed Press, 1991

## "15 Noiembrie" Newspaper, Brasov—Mircea Sevaciuc

Newsprint, photo supplies; Sanyo M-1118 mini-casette recorder (2 pcs)
 5,090.00 USD

## "Agora" Magazine, Cluj

• Sanyo M-1118 mini-casette recorder (5 pcs)

225.00 USD

## "Cuvintul" Magazine, Bucharest

 HP-19999 interface for HP-III printers; Macintosh computer system for image processing; Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier; Sanyo M-1118 mini-casette recorder (2 pcs) 18,076.57 USD

## "Expres" Magazine, Bucharest

Microzinc plates; Audiovox AFX-2000 Facsimile Machine

3,370.00 USD

## "Formula AS" Magazine, Bucharest

AEG Olympia Typewriter; Panasonic RQ-L305 mini-casette recorder (2 pcs), 5 cassettes; Sanyo Vos mini-casette recorder (3 pcs); Newsprint

632,700.00 LEI

135.00 USD

## "Helikon" Magazine, Cluj

 AT-386/33, SVGA-20, 45MB HDD computer, mouse; Laser Printer PostScript Panasonic KX-P4455

8,200.00 USD

## "Humanitas" Publishing House, Bucharest

 AT-286, VGA computer, mouse, HP Type Director (software); Photocopier (paid by Mihai Eminescu Trust, 1,050 USD); Okidata-400 Laser Printer. The second part of the grant for Humanitas Publishing House will be paid in 1992.

1,366.00 USD

## "Opinia Studenteasca" Magazine, Iasi

AT-286, SVGA, 45MB HDD computer, mouse; AT-386/33, SVGA-20, 90MB HDD computer, mouse; Fujitsu DL900 Printer; EFAX EF-110 Facsimile Machine; Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier; Newsprint

2,570,000.00 LEI 9,621.00 USD

## "Orizont" Magazine, Timisoara

 AEG Olympia Typewriter; Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier; Sanyo M-1118 mini-casette recorder (6 pcs)

> 72,900.00 LEI 1,408.00 USD

## "Romania libera" Newspaper, Bucharest

Complete Macintosh Desktop Publishing System

115,674.00 USD

## "Romania literara", Bucharest

Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier

1,408.00 USD

## "Sfinx Pro", Bucharest

· AT computer; Star NX-1001 Printer

57,000.00 LEI 1,833.00 USD

## "Timisoara" Society, Timisoara

· EFAX EF-110 Facsimile Machine

545.00 USD

## Romanian Journalists Association (AZR), Bucharest

• EFAX EF-110 Facsimile Machine; Electrical Typewriter H-RENS 8/80; Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier; Sanyo M-1118 mini-casette recorder

1,998.00 USD

## "Z" Magazine

Microzinc plates

1,300.00 USD

## "Analog" Publishing House, Oradea

· Complete Macintosh Desktop Publishing System

99,986.00 USD

## "Pro Europe" League, Tirgu Mures \*

· Grant to run the "Gazeta de Mures" Magazine

300,000.00 LEI

## "JELENLET" Publishing House, Cluj \*

• Toner for laser printer

310.00 USD

## Radio/TV/Video

## National Federation of the Independent Radio and TV Stations

 Subventions for cultural activities in the field of audiovisual Arts; tuition fees for 12 students

25,000.00 LEI

#### UNIFAN Radio, Bucharest

• EFAX EF-110 Facsimile Machine; Hi-Fi Professional Open Reel Tape Recorders (2 pcs)

## TV-Brasov, Brasov

Audio/Video Equipment for TV Studio

32,256.00 USD(\*)1

#### TV-Constanta, Constanta

Audio/Video Equipment for TV Studio

26,958.00 USD(\*)

#### TV-Iasi, Iasi

Audio/Video Equipment for TV Studio

26,358.00 USD(\*)

## TV-Oradea, Oradea

· Audio/Video Equipment for TV Studio

14,400.00 LEI 32,487.00 USD(\*)

<sup>1</sup> The expenses marked with (\*) were paid directly by "Internews".

## TV-SOTI, Bucharest

· Audio/Video Equipment for TV Studio

10,137.00 USD(\*)

## TV-Timisoara, Timisoara

· Audio/Video Equipment for TV Studio

29,547.00 USD(\*)

## Video-GDS Group, Bucharest

· Audio/Video Studio equipment

1,242.00 USD

## 4.2 Administered Programs

## Press Distribution Workshop

The Media Program of the Soros Foundation—Romania, following meetings with representatives of the press in Cluj and Bucharest in April, 1991, organized the first in a series of workshops designed to provide managerial training for the Romanian press.

The workshop took place in Bucharest, on July 1—3, 1991. Advertisements were made in central and local publications, read on the radio, and invitations were sent to over 150 state and private press distributors and newspapers. Over 70 people attended the workshop.

The debates focused on the main technical, financial and legal problems that the distributors are confronted with, including the necessity of breaking the state monopoly in the press distribution business. The participants made an assessment of the many needs in terms of practical and managerial knowledge, equipment etc. and worked toward establishing an independent, effective distribution network, including learning how to use promotion to sell single copies and subscriptions.

The last day was devoted to discussions on the Private Press Distributors' Association, as an instrument for channeling the efforts for the improvement of the press distribution in Romania.

115,799.00 LEI 426.00 USD

## Press Distribution Tour

Following the Press Distribution Workshop, the Media Program of the Soros Foundation organized a two-week tour in the country. It offered the Media Program Director the opportunity of seeing the press distributors at work and assess the real situation in this field. More than 100 press people, including representatives of 25 distribution companies met with the Media Program Director, in Buzau, Bacau, Suceava, Bistrita, Satu Mare, Baia Mare, Oradea, Cluj, Tg.Mures, Miercurea Ciuc and Ploiesti.

The goal was to look very closely at the need for independent distribution but also independent production facilities. Information on the Media Program and the September Management Workshop was also given to potential participants along the route.

Data was collected on transportation facilities and requirements, technical and other issues related to press distribution.

1,403.00 USD 249,705.55 LEI

## Press Management Workshop

The Media Program of the Soros Foundation organized the "Press Management Workshop" on September 2—5, 1991, in Bucharest. Co-sponsors were the International Federation of Newspaper Publishers (FIEJ) in Paris, France, the International Cox Center in Atlanta, USA.

The goal of the workshop was to identify the challenges facing the print media in Romania, to propose solutions to these challenges and to show how these problems could be addressed through a publishers' association. Compact training sessions in Business Management, Marketing & Advertising, Technology, Production and Distribution ran simultaneously and were attended by over 125 people, including journalists, publishers, newspaper managers, press distributors.

The workshop was publicized by ads run in central and local newspapers and read on the radio. Posters were put up at the Romanian Journalists Association, Piata Presei Libere, various printing plants in Bucharest and at the University of Bucharest. Informative material on the workshop was sent to more than 300 publications and press distribution companies.

A series of special press law talks was introduced each afternoon following the regular sessions. The Production section included a demonstation of computerized layout made available by and at the "Cotidianul" newspaper. The participants in the Distribution section reviewed the conclusions of the July Press Distribution Workshop; a secretary for the Private Press Distribution Association was hired, and a working plan for the Association was devised.

Foreign instructors: Business Administration—Al Hutchison, USA; Marketing & Advertising—Lennart Foss, Expressen daily, Sweden; Technology—Robert Goldberg, USA; Production—William Canino, ONE Corporation, USA; Distribution—Johnston Mitchell, Director of the Media Program; Press Law—Kent Middleton, University of Georgia, USA.

Other foreign guests: Timothy Balding, FIEJ, France; Adam Feinstein, International Press Institute, Great Britain.

The Media Program Managers of the other East-European Soros Foundations were also present: Ivan Nikolchev—Bulgaria, Sandor Magyari—Hungary, Karolina Sokolowska—Poland, Vit Kahle—Prague, Czechoslovakia, Tomas Hrivnak—Bratislava, Czechoslovakia.

The Foundation covered living, board and accommodation expenses for all the participants in the workshop.

3,011.00 USD<sup>1</sup> 1,475,758.00 LEI

Including the cost of overhead machines and supplies that were bought by the Media Program from Budapest amounting to 2,357 USD; the equipment has been used by the Soros Foundation, except for one overhead machine that was offered as a grant to a highschool in Bucharest.

## Press Distribution Network

Johnston Mitchell, Media Program Director, together with the local Media Program Directors, performed a country-wide study of the needs and demands of the private press distribution networks of Romania. The result of this study was a report which will be forwarded to the Foundation's Board in the first trimester of 1991. The goal of the program was to assess the needs of the Romanian press distribution networks in order to be able to best decide upon the means of supporting this important aspect of the print media in Romania.

The program will continue in 1992, in accordance with the Board's decision.

7,107.00 USD 293,008.00 LEI

## IMF—Sponsored Seminar: Radio Training

This seminar, organized under the auspices of the International Media Fund (IMF), Washington, with the help of the Soros Foundation in Bucharest, was held between August 26th and August 30th, 1991.

The lecturers were Bob Friddy, Bud Walters and Julian Breen, three american experts in radio. They visited 4 radio stations in Bucharest to assess the quality of the programs, produced and brodcasted, and with a view towards helping bring up to date the current outdated and non-professional equipment.

The seminar was attended by more than 80 radio professionals from 7 independent stations and the national radio station.

The main subjects discussed were: radio station management, programming and news coverage.

The IMF covered all expenses. The Soros Foundation paid for the reception organized at the end of the seminar and helped the organizer, Daniel Klinger of UNIFAN Radio, Bucharest with the equipment he needed: facsimile machine, copier and personal computer.

346,040.00 LEI 250.00 USD

## AZR Romanian School of Journalism

The AZR (Asociatia Ziaristilor Romani) Romanian School of Journalism was established in September with 167 students, both undergraduate and postgraduate. The school is sponsored by the Association of Romanian Journalists and the International Media Fund, in cooperation with the Soros Foundation Romania. Classes are taught by Romanian academic staff and visiting Western professors, journalists and editors.

An initial grant of \$9,900 was received from the International Media Fund (IMF) to purchase various office equipment. A second grant is now being considered by the IMF.

The Foundation purchased and transported textbooks for the school library from Ireland and organized a second book donation through the American Library in Bucharest. In addition to classroom study, students have also spent practical training periods on Romanian newspapers.

The Foundation also sponsored three visiting professors-cum-editors from the United States, Great Britain and Ireland to teach both staff and students news and feature writing; editing techniques; page layout; headlines and use of photographs and graphics. Sean Hillen and Cezar Tabarcea also opened discussions with the journalism school at the University of Bucharest to share visiting professors and other mutually beneficial joint projects.

The Communications Department at the American University in Bulgaria has also expressed interest in embarking on joint projects with the AZR school.

Expenses covered by the Soros Foundation:

94,885 LEI 3,462.00 USD

## Conference on European Local TV Stations

The Conference, held between October 30th and October 31st, 1991, brought together at the Palace of the European Council in Strassbourg representatives of local television stations from countries all over Europe, East and West.

One day was dedicated exclusively to the Eastern European local TV stations. Following this Conference, a new Association of local television stations will be set up under the auspices of the Council of Europe.

The Soros Foundation paid for travel expenses and pocket money for 7 Romanian participants:

- Marian Odangiu, TV—Timisoara;
- □ Sergiu Miat, TV—Timisoara;
- Adrian Ureche, TV—Brasov;
- Nicolae Moranciu, TV—Oradea;
- Valeriu Mereuta, TV SOTI—Constanta;
- □ Ticu Isari, TV SOTI—Iasi
- Daniel Klinger, IMF Program Assistant.

The accomodation expenses were covered by the organizers, the Audio-Visual Center of Alsace, France. Mr. Miat paid for his own travel expenses.

741,200.00 LEI 2,399.00 USD

## CSCE Conference in Moscow

The role of a free mass media in protection of democracy and human rights was on the agenda of the CSCE Conference held in Moscow. For this reason, two Romanian television professionals were invited and attended the Conference. They were:

- Nicolae Moranciu, TV—Oradea, and
- Zoltan Boros, Romanian National Television.

The Soros Foundation covered the travel expenses Bucharest—Moscow and return.

41,760.00 LEI

## IMF Television Training Seminar

From December 3th to December 6th, two American experts, Jim Snyder and Jim Lynagh of the International Media Fund conducted a seminar with various independent broadcasters and representatives of Romanian television—more than 90 in total—covering the concepts of independent media in the United States, localism versus nationalism in programming and news, how to produce interesting, compelling and informative news programs, commercials and sponsorship, staffing and avoiding business bureaucracy, advertising sales, measuring audiences, and relationships of broadcasters with government, sponsors and the audience.

Most of the day meetings were jointly conducted, though one morning session was split between news and management.

No participants brought tapes to be critiqued, though it was intended that we might provide critiques at each of the locations that we were to visit.

The subjects were extensively covered, demonstration tapes from American television were shown and excellent question and answer sessions were conducted.

The two foreign experts also participated to the first broadcast of the SOTI Television, on December 9th, 1991.

The Soros Foundation supported the organizer, Daniel Klinger of the UNIFAN—Bucharest and co-sponsored, with the USIA, the reception offered at the end of the seminar.

571,858.00 LEI

## Local Television Stations Access to Prime Time

Following the audience granted on December 4th by the Romanian Prime Minister, Mr. Theodor Stolojan to the directors of administration councils of ten local independent TV stations, also attended by Jim Snyder and Jim Lynagh—IMF experts participating at TV Seminar mentioned above—Sandra Pralong of the Soros Foundation and Horea Murgu of the National Federation of Independent Radio and Television Stations, the Romanian

Government offered to act as a moderator between the Ministry of Communications, the Romanian National Television and the local stations to help them cover the local elections campaign.

The solution, also accepted by the Parliament on January 4th, was to insert programs of the local TV stations on the frequency bands of the national television at head hours, as follows: on Wednesdays, Thursdays and Fridays from 22:15 to 23:00 on the RTV 1 channel and, on the same days from 20:30 to 21:30 on the RTV 2 channel.

This initiative was made public in the Romania libera and Cotidianul dailies.

The local television stations broadcasted during the election campaign, from January 6th to February 7th, as follows:

Constanta, 14 programs; Baia Mare, 13; Arad, 10; Timisoara, 10; Oradea, 10; SOTI—Bucharest, 9; Brasov, 9; Pitesti, 8; TELE-M—Iasi, 6; Vaslui, 4; Deva, 5; Suceava, 4; Bacau, 4.

54,000.00 LEI

## Newsprint for the Independent Press

This program is part of a whole range of programs ran in support of a fair electoral campaign.

Given the increase in the price of newsprint and other hard economic conditions in Romania, the Soros Foundation, through its office in New York, has purchased 1,500 tons of newsprint to be distributed to the independent press during the electoral campaign.

A Romanian National Committee of qualified and independent public figures as well as representatives of journalists associations was set up to administer the funds, to select the recipient newspapers and to decide of the distribution of newsprint.

In order to avoid interfering with the economics of publishing, the newsprint was sold to newspapers at a subsidized price of 46.50 lei/kg instead of the new price of 108.00 lei for the 168 centimeters width newsprint and 117.00 lei for the 84 centimeters width. The resulting funds were used to continue the process of buying and distributing newsprint following the same distribution process used in the first stage. Thus the subsidy to the press could go on for the whole period of the electoral campaign (February—June, 1992).

The selection of recipient publications was based on applications, following a public announcement that ran in 3 major dailies: Adevarul, Tineretul Liber and Romania libera. The announcements detailed conditions for eligibility and other information necessary for the selection of recepients for the subsidy.

Eighty-five newspapers were selected from a total of 144 applications. 45 of those subsidized were local publications.

The selected publications were: 22, Bucharest; 23 Milioane, Bucharest; Academia Catavencu, Bucharest; Actiunea, Piatra Neamt; Acum, Bucharest; Adevarul, Bucharest; Alianta Civica, Bucharest; Almanahul Banatului, Timisoara; Argument-magazin, Sibiu; Arta,

Bucharest; Atlas, Cluj; Brassoi Lapok, Brasov; Bursa, Bucharest; Calauza, Deva; Cartel, Craiova; Contrast, Constanta; Convorbiri Literare, Iasi; Cotidianul, Bucharest; Curierul de Vilcea, Rimnicu Vilcea; Cuvintul, Bucharest; Cuvintul Liber, Giurgiu; Cuvintul Nostru, Suceava; Desteptarea, Bacau; Dialog, Brasov; Economistul, Bucharest; Elevul Rebusist, Bucharest; Erdely Naplo, Oradea; Erdelyi Figyelo, Tirgu Mures; Europai Ido (Timp European), Sfintu Gheorghe; Evenimentul Sibian, Sibiu; Expres, Bucharest; Fakutya, Oradea; Faliment, Bucharest; Fiatal Forum, Bucharest; Flacara, Bucharest; Flagrant, Bucharest; Formula AS, Bucharest; Gazeta de Mures, Tirgu Mures; Gazeta de Nord Vest, Satu Mare; Glasul Tineretului, Focsani; Graiul Dobrogei, Medgidia; Graiul Maramuresului, Baia Mare; Hargita Nepe, Miercurea Ciuc; Haromszek, Sfintu Gheorghe; Impartial, Galati; Informatia Cluj, Cluj; Jelen, Arad; Kalotaszeg, Huedin; Libertatea, Braila; Mesager, Brasov; Modelism International, Bucharest; Monitorul de Iasi, Iasi; Monopol, Bucharest; Nepujsag, Tirgu Mures; Neuer Weg, Bucharest; Noduri si Semne, Galati; Nu, Cluj; Opinia, Buzau; Opinia Studenteasca, Iasi; Pamintul, Calarasi; Pleiade, Satu-Mare; Renasterea Adevarului, Tg.Jiu; Rezistenta, Bucharest; Romania, Bucharest; Romania libera, Bucharest; Romania Pitoreasca, Bucharest; Romaniai Magyar Szo, Bucharest; Solstitiu, Satu Mare; Sport Vest, Timisoara; Stirea, Arad; Strada, Bucharest; Szabadsag, Cluj; Szatmari Friss Ujsag, Satu Mare; Temesvari Uj Szo, Timisoara; Timisoara, Timisoara; Tinerama, Bucharest; Tineretul Liber, Bucharest; Tirgoviste, Tirgoviste; Tribuna Ardealului, Cluj; Unirea, Alba Iulia; Unirea, Focsani; Unitatea, Alba Iulia; Valtozo Valosag, Bucharest; Viata Libera, Galati; Zig-Zag, Bucharest.

The project will be financed out of the 1992 budget.

1991 costs:

34,320.00 LEI

## 4.3 Foreign Experts

## Gail Kligman

Prof. Gail Kligman of the Center for East-European and Russian Studies of the University of California, Berkeley, visited Romania in March, 1990 to assist Romanian sociologists in their research regarding the emergence of post-revolutionary civil society. The Foundation supported travel expenses.

1,429.40 USD.

## David Webster, Brian Wenham

David Webster is a former Director of the BBC and is now the Chairman of Trans-Atlantic Dialogue on European Media in Washington, D.C. He was solicited for his expertise on the Audio-Visual Law in Romania, following similar work he had done in Czecho-Slovakia, Poland, Bulgaria and other Eastern European countries. Mr. Webster visited Romania in May, 1991 and met with the President and top executives of the Romanian Television, the Minister of Communications and other top ministry officials, executives and staff of SOTI and other independent televisions.

David Webster returned to Romania with Brian Wenham from Crown Television in Great Britain, in October, 1991, to meet the Parliamentary Comission for the Audio-Visual Law, headed by Mr. Dan Lazarescu. They also met specialists from the Ministry of Telecommunications and the Romanian Television.

They presented comments and suggestions about the provisions of the Audio-Visual Law. Mr. Wenham also advised Romanian Television on media coverage of the electoral process.

96,600.00 LEI

#### **Evelyn Messinger**

Evelyn Messinger, Vice President of Internews in New York visited Romania in July 1991, bringing along an equipment donation for the independent TV stations in Timisoara, Brasov, Oradea, Constanta, Iasi and for the SOTI Television in Bucharest. The expenses were covered by Internews. The Foundation paid local transportation and incidental expenses in Romania.

1,241.33 USD

# 5

## Miscellaneous Programs

## Lawyers' Committee for Human Rights

A delegation of the Lawyers' Committee for Human Rights came to Romania to make contacts with lawyers and human rights activists to make a preliminary determination of the possibility of future joint projects to develop legal protection of human rights and to speak to people about the work of the Lawyers' Committee.

The people with whom the Soros Foundation arranged meetings from May 25 through May 28, 1991, were:

- Gabriel Andreescu, the group for Social Dialogue;
- Renate Gavrilas Weber, Lawyer;
- De Nicolae Cerveni, Lawyer, President of Bar Association;
- Mihai Moldoveanu, Lawyer;
- Dan Lazarescu, President of the Chamber of Deputies Commission for the Press;
- Ioan Sandulescu, President of the Senate Commission for the Press Law;
- Petre Dragomir, SOTI Television;
- Constantin Parasco, Foreign Affairs Bureau, Ministry of Justice;
- Manuela Stefanescu, Lawyer;
- Adrian Dohotaru, from the Ministry of Foreign Affairs;
- Mircea Stoica, Helsinki Watch;
- u Marian Munteanu, human rights activist.

The Foundation paid local transportation for the delegation.

2,000.00 LEI

## Creating Capital Markets in Eastern Europe

East European Studies at the Wilson Center Rockefeller Brothers Foundation, Federal Conference Funds, the Open Society Fund in Sofia and the Soros Foundations in Eastern Europe organized a conference in Sofia from September 19th through September 23rd, 1991. The main goal of this conference was to ease the way of foreign investment and domestic saving. Advertisements were made at the Romanian Development Agency. The Soros Foundation—Romania confirmed the participation of the following:

- Mr. Daniel Daianu, Harvard Russian Research Center;
- Dr. Dumitru Dan Popescu, Deputy Chairman at the National Agency of Economic Forecasting and Prognosis;

- Mr. Leontin Dinulescu, advisor for stock exchange and investment market;
- Ms. Nicoleta Ianchis, accountant at the Romanian Development Agency.

The Foundation covered travel expenses for the Romanian participants.

44,676.00 LEI

## The German Marshall Fund

A delegation of the German Marshall Fund visited Romania with the main goal of understanding what kind of Political Development Program in Romania should they pursue in the future.

The following people participated in the debates:

- Theodore Zang, Lawyer;
- Daniel Popescu, President of the Students' League;
- Marian Munteanu, ex-leader of the Student's League;
- Sandra Pralong, Co-chairman of the Soros Foundation;
- Laurentiu Tripcovici, SOTI Television;
- Nicolae Stefanescu, Human Rights League;
- Cornel Nistorescu, Editor-in-chief of the "Expres" Magazine;
- Renate Gavrilas Weber, Lawyer;
- Alexei Florescu, SOTI Television;
- Dan Manoleli, Environmentalist;
- Nicolae Manolescu, Civic Alliance Leader;
- Prof. Mihai Draganescu, President of the Romanian Academy;
- Petre Mihai Bacanu, Journalist;
- Marcian Bleahu, Member of Parliament;
- Mircea Dinescu, President of the Romanian Writers' Union;
- Domokos Geza, Member of Parliament;
- Prof. Gh. Pascovici, Institute for Atomic Physics;
- Andrei Pippidi, Historian;
- Mr. Valeriu Eugen Pop, from the Ministry of Environment;
- Gabriel Liiceanu, Philosopher;
- Octavian Paler, Writer;
- Stefan Mamulea, Antitotalitarian Forum.

#### Expenses

The Soros Foundation helped arrange for the meetings and paid for local transportation. All other expenses were covered by the German Marshall Fund of the United States.

4,700.00 LEI

## Brother's Brother Foundation Book Donation

The Brother's Brother Foundation of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA made a donation of books to universities throughout the country with the assistance of the Soros Foundation. The books will contribute to a better endowment of the Romanian Universities' libraries and be a new resource for professors and students, who have previously had limited opportunities to study books published abroad.

Letters were sent by the Soros Foundation to the rectors of various universities accompanying two lists of books provided by the Brother's Brother Foundation. When all of the requests were received, an order was placed with the Brother's Brother Foundation.

## Universities benefitting from this program

The Academy of Economic Sciences in Bucharest; The Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest; The Cluj University; The Timisoara University; The Brasov University; The Craiova University; The Galati University; The UNEX az SRL University in Bucharest.

## Expenses

The books were donated by the Brother's Brother Foundation and shipping will be paid for by the Open Society Fund, New York from the 1992 budget.

## Civic Education Project

The local Soros Foundation helped in starting in Romania the Civic Education Project, which consists in bringing to Romania young Western social sciences professors, to teach at university level.

The project is developed in cooperation with the Yale University, where the selection of the instructors is made.

The purpose of the project is to help improve the quality of social sciences teaching in Romanian universities, since this is the field which suffered the greatest ideological distortions during the communist years.

The Soros Foundation Romania helped the Project Director, Mr. Steve Grant, in establishing contacts with the universities and the professors teaching social sciences. At the moment, a feasibility study is being made, by Scott Billy, who was especially hired for this purpose by the Project Director.

#### Requirements for the universities

- to pay a part of the teachers' salary in local currency;
- to provide an appartment with all the expenses paid.

#### Expenses

The local university will pay for a part of the teacher's salary and for an appartment. The Civic Education Project will pay a hard currency salary and the travel expenses for the Western professors.

# European College Program

The Soros Foundation, together with the CEU in Prague and the University of Oxford is setting up the European College in Bucharest.

The program started with the selection of the Romanian professors who will teach in the College. The College will teach courses in two areas: (i) Social Sciences and (ii) Economics.

After selection the program will include:

- a six month training course for selected professors at the Open University in Great Britain;
- curriculum development for the European College in Bucharest;
- courses help in Bucharest for the Romanian students.

#### Requirements

- Romanian professors must: have completed their first degree in an appropriate field;
- have full command of the English language;
- be under 45;
- be available for the next six months for the training course between February—July 1992.

Advertisements were made in Romania libera, 22, Cuvintul, Romaniai Magyar Szo and Cotidianul.

Applications were due by November 30, 1991; 47 completed applications were received by the deadline.

### Jury

Dr. Veronica Ortenberg, Oxford University; Prof. Zbigniew Pelczynski, Oxford University.

#### Accepted

Catalin Turliuc; Cristian Hanu; Doru Gheorghe Tudose; Daniela Stoichitoiu; Doina Rachita.

#### Expenses

All costs were covered by the budget of the European College (via External Teaching, CEU).

# The Directory of Non-Governmental Organizations Working in Romania

The Soros Foundation Romania has started compiling a directory of all NGOs (Non-Governmental Organizations) working in Romania since May 1991. We have begun by "field search" using such sources as the public register of the State Notary, newspapers, governmental organizations (Ministry of Health, Ministry of Youth, UNICEF and embassies in Bucharest) from which we could get information about their location and

Etnokulturális Kisebbségek Forrásközpontja – Erdélyi Magyar Adatbank

people to contact. We gathered more information on their activity through a questionnaire we have sent to each of them. We have received answers from about 130 Romanian organizations. This was the first stage of our work. We continued our survey by publishing the questionnaire in two major dailies—Romania libera and Tineretul Liber. This was really a great succes judging by the fact that we have got 100 more answers to our questionnaire.

Our database includes 546 Romanian organizations. We are still waiting to get many answers since our list is continuously growing and we send questionnaires to every NGO we find about.

Meanwhile we are sending back copies of our database content concerning each organization waiting for their corrections and agreement on the information we own. This operation is already done for the NGOs we have filed questionnaires from.

We also have a database of about 110 foreign organizations working in Romania, mainly in the humanitarian field. We can add a complete list of NGOs in Great Britain interested in Romania, by courtesy of Romanian Information Centre at Southampton University. We must mention the difficulties we had in finding the foreign organizations since many of them are not known even by the embassies of the countries they come from.

123,500.00 LEI 325.00 USD

# The Getty Grant Program

The Soros Foundation—Romania has given its support for recruiting applicants to the research fellowships awarded in the field of History of Art by the Getty Grant Program.

Ten places were offered for scholars from Central and Eastern Europe and the USSR to pursue projects that are dedicated to the understanding of art and its history. The Getty Grant Program offers stipends of \$10,000 each for four consecutive months of research between June, 1992 and June, 1993, to candidates who would benefit from research outside their countries of residence.

### Requirements

 must be at or beyond post-doctoral level or have equivelent working experience in Art History or related fields.

Advertisments were placed in Romania libera, Romaniai Magyar Szo and 22. Informative materials were sent to Artists Association, ARTA magazine and to Romania literara and Contemporanul cultural magazines.

Applications were due by November 11, 1991 at the Getty Grant Program office.

#### **Expenses**

The Soros Foundation covered the advertisments costs and the expenses for copying and distributing application forms.

32,570.00 LEI

# **Grants**

here are two types of grants given by the Soros Foundation: "Open Program" grants and "Travel Grants." Through the "Open Program," the Foundation supports independent projects that it feels will contribute to the openness of society, stimulate the free flow of ideas, or promote the values of education, freedom and democracy. The "Open Program" is so named because applications are accepted from any individual, institution, association, organization or other group that has developed a project and is trying to see it to it to fruition. Potential beneficiaries must fill out a standard "Grant Application Form" and submit it to the Foundation's Secretariat upon completion. "Open Program" grant applications are considered and voted on by the Foundation's Board of Trustees or by a commission of experts established by the Board. The Board uses the applications to evaluate both the value of a proposed project and the competence of the individual or project director who submitted it, as demonstrated by the organization, development, and presentation of the project. For this reason, projects in an advanced stage of planning and of development are generally favored. "Travel Grants" are limited to the payment of travel expense, lodging, or conference fees for individuals or groups of individuals going to points outside of Romania. Applications are open to persons who have been given scholarships at foreign universities, are involved in research projects, have been invited to participate or attend conferences, seminars, or symposia or will be otherwise engaged in self-education. "Travel Grant" applications are considered by the Board of Trustees in Cluj or by the "Travel Grant Commission" established by the Board of Trustees in Bucharest. Many Soros Foundation programs and scholarships include travel and lodging expenses, but these are not awarded as "Travel Grants." The Commission deals solely with grant applications in which money for travel, lodging or fees are the only requests. On occasion, "Travel Grant" recipients will also be recipients of scholarships that were offered through the Soros Foundation by other organizations.

NOTE

In this section of the Annual Report, the grants awarded by the Board in Cluj are marked with an asterisk (\*).

The entries in the section list the following information:

- recipient's name (person or organization);
- recipient's profession and occupation (for "Travel" grants);
- a short description of the project pursued;
- location of project (if applicable, i.e., mostly for "Travel Grants")
- type of expenses (i.e., what the money was used for—travel expenses, fees, living expenses etc);
- the sums received, in Lei (Romanian currency) and/or US dollars (occasionally, grants in other currencies were received and they are mentioned as such).

# 6.1 Open Program Grants

### **Arts**

### Architects' Union of Romania, Bucharest

- The Foundation covered the travel expenses for 33 students going to France for a scholarship, as well as the exhibition "Romanian Architecture in an European Context", organized on the occasion of the 100th anniversary of the Romanian Architects' Union.
- Travel expenses

300,000.00 LEI

### "Atiart"

- Project Director: Boian Tudor Ioan, director of the Musical Theatre of Brasov
- The cultural organization Atiart organized the International Jazz Festival Brasov, 9th edition, November 19-21, 1991
- · Brasov, Romania

25,000.00 LEI

### Contemporary Dance company

- · Project Director: Adina Cezar
- This dance ensemble is the first established in Romania after December 1989. The
  Foundation offered support for advertising materials, which were needed by the
  ensemble in order to inform the Romanian public about the artistic activities of the
  Dance Company.

300,000.00 LEI

#### Crisan, Camelia

- Crisan Camelia, painter/restorator at the Academy of Fine Arts in Timisoara won the prize awarded by the Soros Foundation for the best happening at the "Stare fara titlu" Festival in Timisoara. The money was used for a documentation in Greece in view of organization of the 1992 "Studiu 3" Festival.
- · Accomodation, transport, other expenses in Greece

1,000.00 USD

# "Cvartetul Transilvan", Cluj \*

 The "Transylvanian Quartet" participated at the Course of Advanced Studies in Aspen, Colorado, USA

> 100,000.00 LEI 3,120.00 USD

### "DAKINO" Film Group

 "DAKINO", an organization which aims to help improve the level of movies created by the students from the Film Academy, received a support for their artistic activities.
 "DAKINO" reimbursed a sum in Lei, at the official exchange rate, i.e. 375,000.00 Lei.
 1,500.00 USD

### Dragan, Cristian Bogdan

 Dragan Cristian Bogdan, student at the Theatre and Film Academy in Bucharest received this grant to cover production expenses for the television film "Verdictul" ("The Verdict")

146,000.00 LEI

#### Entrez dans la Legende

- 60 pupils and 6 professors from the highschools "George Enescu" (Bucharest), "Andrei Saguna" (Brasov) and "Diaconovici Loga" (Timisoara), and 3 journalists joined the "Entrez dans la Legende" program of meetings and cultural exchanges between European youth—a four-year program sponsored by the French Ministry of Education and Ministry of Culture and Communication
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses (bus rental)

214,950.00 LEI 7,013.00 USD

# Festival of Non-Professional Theatre Groups, Sfintu Gheorghe \*

• The CONCORDIA Theatre Group organized the festival; the Foundation made a contribution to the general expenses and the awards for the winners

110,000.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Festival of Students' Films

- Director: Gheorghe Emanuel, magazine photographer, photographer at the Film Institute
- One of the most challenging film festivals in Romania and the most important one for the students
- Financial support for the Festival of the Students' Films, "The Crisis", 1991
   100,000.00 LEI

### "George Enescu" Highschool of Music, Bucharest

- One pupil (Marta Murvai) and one professor (Olivia Papa) of the "George Enescu"
   Highschool of Music participated at the International Musical Contest "Rovere Oro" in San Bartolomeo, Italy, August 7—13, 1991.
- Travel expenses

53,460.00 LEI

### Gondi, Eugen

- · Jazzman and drum player of Timisoara
- Received a scholarship to study percution in USA.
- · Accomodation and other expenses

700.00 USD

#### **HORA Folkloric Ensemble**

- Participated at the Folkloric Festival in Namur, Belgium
- Bus rental

380.00 USD

### Iliesiu, Sorin and Buduca, Ioan

- Sorin Iliesiu and Ioan Buduca realized the film "Romanian Exiles in France"; 30 interviews were conducted; more than 300 hours of film were produced
- · Travel and living expenses, documentation; materials

25,825.00 LEI 3,000.00 USD

#### "Ion Mincu" Institute of Architecture

- Eight students (Cornea Serban Andrei, Dutkay Dan, Hartescu Paul, Jelea Iulian Gabriel, Musteata Silviu, Nuta Mihai, Stoica Bogdan, Tanasoiu Marian) participated with two award winning Students' Architectural Projects at the bi-annual international meeting in Venice, Italy, September 1—15, 1991.
- · Board and lodging

6,400.00 USD

# Jakabovits, Marta \*

- A well-known ceramist from Oradea received this grant to attend the opening of her exhibition in Siilinjardi, Finland, December 1—15, 1991
- Travel expenses

700.00 USD

#### Jewish Theatre of Romania

- The oldest of its kind in the world, the Jewish Theatre of Romania organized an International Festival "The days of the Jewish Theatre in Romania", Bucharest, October 7-13, 1991
- · Bucharest, Romania
- The financial support was used for board & lodging of the guests, per diem, anniversary medals, etc.

1,000.00 USD

### "Junimea Muzicala", Romania

- Organization of summer courses for musicians in Cluj and Busteni, Romania, 1991.
- Travel, rentals and other expenses

175,000.00 LE1

#### Maier, Czombor

- · Ballet Dancer
- · Studies at the Ballet Academy in Vienna
- · Vienna, Austria
- · Living expenses, insurance fee

3,000.00 USD

### MEDIUM-2 Group, Sfintu Gheorghe \*

 Organized an international art exhibition in Sfintu Gheorghe; the Foundation covered part of the expenses and awarded an equipment grant (see respective chapter)
 280,000.00 LEI

### Ministry of Culture, Romania

• The Soros Foundation donated 25 facsimile machines which were distributed to state cultural institutions all over the country.

14,315.92 USD

### Mladin, Valeriu

 Valeriu Mladin, artist of Timisoara, won the prize awarded by the Soros Foundation for the best Happening at the "Stare fara titlu" Festival in Timisoara; the money was used for a documentation trip to Poland, Czechoslovakia and Hungary in view of organization of the 1992 "Studiu 3" Festival.

1,000.00 USD

# Muradin Jeno \*

 An Art Historian from Cluj received a grant to write a monography with the title "Bibliography of Plastic Art Literature in Transylvania"

24,000.00 LEI

# "Music Highschool", Cluj \*

- Cultural exchange with the Music Highschool in Stuttgart, Germany, November 17—24, 1991
- · Travel expenses

420.00 USD

#### National Theatre of Bucharest

- Expenses for the tour of the National Theatre of Bucharest, with the play "A Greek Trilogy" to Milan, Italy and Paris, France, June 20—August 2, 1991. The Project Director was Ion Caramitru, President of the Romanian Theatre Association.
- Travel expenses, board and lodging, bus rental.

288,000.00 LEI 7,350.00 USD

### Pintilie Teleaga, Ileana Maria

 Ileana Maria Pintilie of the "Muzeul Banatului", Timisoara, won the prize awarded by the Soros Foundation for the best Happening at the "Stare fara titlu" Festival in Timisoara; the money was used for a documentation trip to Poland, Czechoslovakia and Hungary in view of organization of the 1992 "Studiu 3" Festival.

1,000.00 USD

### PIPACSOK Children's Dance Group

- The Pipascok Dance Group of the Highschool in Cristuru Seculesc, participated at an International Folkloric Festival in USA.
- Travel expenses

6000.00 USD

#### School of Folk Arts, Bucharest

- Imre Baas, Konya Augustin, Palma Baas and Attila Kopacz participated at a graphics/painting exhibition in Amsterdam, Holland
- · Travel expenses

96,812.00 LEI 300.00 USD

### Szegedi Frater, Judith

- · Graduate of the Bartok Bela highschool of Timisoara
- Received a scholarship from the Higher Technical School of Budapest, to study clothes creation; September 1991 - September 1994
- Accomodation expenses for the first year of study

2030.00 USD

# Theatre group "CONCORDIA", Sfintu Gheorghe \*

- Participation at the 28th edition of theatre festival "Jokai Days" Festival in Komarno, Czechoslovakia, June 4—9, 1991
- Travel expenses

60,000.00 LEI

# Theatre group "FIGURA", Gheorgheni \*

- Participation at the 28th edition of theatre festival "Jokai Days" Festival in Komarno, Czechoslovakia, June 4—9, 1991
- · Travel expenses

113.00 USD

#### Tirgu Mures Philarmonic

- Organization of the International Music Festival "Constantin Silvestri", Tirgu Mures, Romania, August 26—30, 1991; concerts in Tirgu Mures, Sovata, with the Philarmonic Orchestra of Tirgu Mures and the BBC Concert Orchestra.
- · Salaries for musicians; other expenses related to the festival

200,000.00 LEI 6,578.00 USD

#### The Youth Theatre of Piatra Neamt

- · Director: Scarlat Nicolae
- One of the most famous theatres in Romania, where a great number of talented actors performed remarcable shows
- The Foundation offered support for the organization of the Theatre Festival "A world for everybody, a world for each of us", Piatra Neamt, May 2-10, 1992
- Subscriptions for speciality magazines and for purchasing of equipment (faxphone)
   146,000.00 LEI
   400.00 USD

### Video Art Conferences, Bucharest and Cluj \*

 The conferences were delivered by Geert Lovink, an Art Historian from Holland; the Foundation covered his living expenses and local travel expenses

300.00 USD

### **Economics**

#### Universities of Bucharest and Craiova

- Three faculty members from the Broome Community College came to these two
  universities to assist in developing a business and economics curriculum, adapted to
  the needs of a market economy.
- The Soros Foundation for an Open Society Romania paid for the travel of the professors, while the Broome Community College covered their full salaries during the assignment in Romania.

6,000.06 USD

# **English Language**

### "C.Negruzzi" Highschool, Iasi

- Project Director: Raul Vulcanescu
- The English language Highschool C.Negruzzi initiated the project "Training pupils
  for a beeter understanding of the world and for freedom through English". Four
  special English language laboratories will be organized, provided with modern
  equipment: cassette players, video recorders, overhead projectors, microphones, etc.
  Only a first part of the grant was paid in 1991, the second part following in 1992.

313,778.00 LEI

# English Language Course \*

• Emma Walton and Anthony Collery, English Teachers from Great Britain, held English courses for one school-year in Tirgu Mures (at the Academy of Theatre and the Reformat Church); the Foundation supported travel expenses from Great Britain to Romania

1,000.00 USD

# English Highschool, Cluj \*

 The Foundation covered travel expenses from Great Britain to Romania for Monoyios Hariklia, Guest Teacher of English Language

730.00 USD

# Reformat Church, Gheorgheni (Cluj district) \*

· Purchase of English language textbooks

1,029.00 USD

### University of Bucharest, English Language Department

- · Project Director: Prof. Ioana Gogeanu
- Three students (Kerestely Melinda, Licea Corina, Ungureanu Lisaura) from the English Language Department of Bucharest Unversity attended an English Language Course at the Scottish Universities' International Summer Schools.
- · Edinburgh, Great Britain
- The Foundation covered the participation fees for the students, travel expenses for the professor and for two students, pocket money.

108,162.00 LEI 2118.75 USD

### **Environmental Sciences**

# "Ghiocelul" - Association for the protection of nature

- The "Snowdrop" Association, founded at the Computer Science High-School in Timisoara, participated at the 4th International Meeting of the Clubs for the protection of nature, Launaguet, August 22, 1991 - September 2, 1991
- · Launaguet, France
- Travel expenses for 25 pupils

389,160.00 LEI

### Polytechnic Institute of Timisoara, Hydrotechnics

The Foundation covered travel expenses for 8 students (Cadariu Emil, Kiszely Cristina, Cociuba Loredana, Lazarescu Eugen, Moga Cristian, Smarandescu Sorin, Gadian Alin and Popa Ovidiu) and 1 Professor (Iclanzan Mariana) of the Polytechnic of Timisoara who participated at the International days of Environment, Chinon, France, June 4—11, 1991.

162,000.00 LEI

# **Equipment Grants**

### "Gheorghe Murgoci" High School, Braila

· CPM Northstar computers (3 pcs), 1 printer, diskettes

1,094.50 USD

### "Sfintu Sava" High School, Bucharest

 AT-286/16, SVGA computer, mouse, NEC-P3200 printer (5 pcs); Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier

8,498.00 USD

### University of Bucharest

EFAX EF-110 Facsimile Machine

545.00 USD

### Theatre and Film Academy, Bucharest

 Answering machine and 1 cassette; EFAX EF-110 Facsimile Machine; Macintosh computer system for image processing; Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier; Membership fees at CILECT (Centre International de Liaison des Ecoles de Cinema et Television)

9,408.70 USD

### "Art" Group, Bucharest

EFAX EF-110 Facsimile Machine; Macintosh computer system for image processing;
 Mars Hand Scanner

8,734.00 USD

### "Junimea Muzicala" Association, Bucharest

• AT-286, VGA computer; Brother-5 Printer; EFAX EF-110 Facsimile Machine 2,697.00 USD

# "Medium-2" Group, Sfintu Gheorghe<sup>1</sup>

Goldstar CKT-2190 TV set; Panasonic TC-2183EE TV set; Video recorder JVC HRD-337 MS; Xerox-5026 Copier; EFAX EF-110 Facsimile Machine; FA-460 Answering Machine; Horizont SACTV 441DW TV sets (3 pcs)

22,655.00 LEI 12,124.00 USD

### "Sahaja Yoga" Association, Bucharest

Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier

1,408.00 USD

### Association of Romanian Sociologists, Bucharest

Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier

1,408.00 USD

<sup>1</sup> Most of this equipment was redistributed by the Cluj branch. It served as equipment support for an art exhibition organized by the "Medium-2" Group.

Etnokulturális Kisebbségek Forrásközpontja – Erdélyi Magyar Adatbank

### Forslys-Group for the formal study, Timisoara

Audiovox AFX-2000 Facsimile Machine; Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier

1,778.00 USD

### Group for Communicational Anthropology, Miercurea Ciuc

Goldstar color TV set; Hitachi Video Camera; Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier

2,483.00 USD

### "Profit International" Romania, Bucharest

Audiovox AFX-2000 Facsimile Machine

370.00 USD

### Societe des Europeanistes, Bucharest

Audiovox AFX-2000 Facsimile Machine; Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier

1,778.00 USD

### Union of Romanian Medical Societies, Bucharest

EFAX EF-110 Facsimile Machine; Rex-Rotary 8012C Copier

1,953.00 USD

## Health

### The "Filantropia" Hospital, Bucharest

 Purchased the book "Gynecology and Obstetrics"; subscriptions at the magazines "American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology"

56.50 USD

#### Medical University of Iasi

- Professional exchange with the Medical Students' Association of Italy, for 5 Italian students, August 1—31, 1991.
- Travel expenses inside Romania, board and lodging for 5 Italian students

55,000.00 LEI

### Stela Maria Rodean \*

 One-year Programme of Master in Medical Sexology (full scholarship), Leuven, Belgium

4,000.00 USD

#### Teodorescu, Radu

- · Physician; Gheorghe Marinescu hospital, Bucharest
- · Specialization in psychotherapy at a hospital in Paris
- · Paris, France
- Board and lodging

## Humanities

#### Brenda Walker

- · Director of the "Forest Books" Publishing House, London.
- Received a grant to publish the poetry book "Young Poets of New Romania", containing translations in English of the best poems of the young generation of Romanian poets.

5,046.00 USD

### "Dom Polski", Association of the Polish Community

Participation at the International "Youth Day" Festival; meeting with the Pope. 500 Romanian youngsters and students 16- to 26-year old attended the festival in Krakow, Poland, August 8—16, 1991. The Foundation paid for pocket money (10 USD per person) for the 500 persons.

5,000.00 USD

### "Humanitas" Publishing House, Bucharest

 The Soros Foundation offered support to obtain royalties for publishing two books (Robert Nozick - Anarchy, State and Utopia; John Naisbitt - Megatrends 2000).
 Royalties for other four books will be paid in 1992. The Soros Foundation also offered an equipment grant (see respective chapter).

1,000.00 USD

#### Institute of Social and Humane Studies, Timisoara

- · Project Director: Smaranda Vultur
- The Institute, an affiliate of the Romanian Academy, organized a conference on anthropology, in October 1991, in Timisoara.
- · Timisoara, Romania
- · Various expenses related to the conference

253,000.00 LEI

# Philology, Philosophy & History School, University of Timisoara

- · Dean: Prof. Simion Mioc
- Organized an International Seminar and a Summer-School on the "Romanian Civilization, Language and Literature. National and European Context.", Timisoara, September 5-25, 1991
- The Seminar has been co-sponsored by the Soros Foundation for an Open Society, Ministry of Culture, and the Romanian Cultural Foundation
- · Timisoara, Romania

231,400.00 LEI

### Romanian Society of Writing and Publishing Physicians

- · Project Director: Dr. G.D.Zeletin
- Organized the first conference of this Society, conference dedicated to the Romanian physician and poet Vasile Voiculescu.
- · Bucharest, Romania
- · Various expenses related to the conference

50,000.00 LEI

### Law

#### Mihai, Lucian

 Lucian Mihai, Professor of Law at the University of Bucharest, received a Fullbright fellowship administered by the Council for International Exchange of Scholars, Washington, D.C. and was invited to work in a Law firm in Washington, for two months. The Foundation paid additional expenses during his internship at the Law firm.

1,000.00 USD

#### Todericiu, Alexandru Dan

- · Student at the Private University, Law
- · Obtained a scholarship at University of Vienna
- · Vienna, Austria
- Tuition fee, board and lodging for 10 months <sup>1</sup>

7,800.00 USD

# **Natural Sciences**

# Chemistry Department of the Hungarian Technical and Scientific Society of Romania \*

- · A group of highschool students took part in a Chemistry contest, May 4—5, 1991
- Gyor, Hungary
- · Travel expenses

15,200.00 LEI

#### Cristescu, Adrian Sorin

- Adrian Cristescu is a student of the School of Bio-Chemistry of the University of Bucharest and a Third Prize winner of the International Chemistry Olympiad, 1989 (Halle); he is attending courses for obtaining DEUG in Natural and Life Sciences at Universite Pierre et Marie Curie (Paris VI)
- · Full scholarship

6,500.00 USD

<sup>1</sup> Mr.Todericiu reimbursed the sum of 234,000 LEI, representing a part of the scholarship.

# School of Geography, University of Cluj \*

- Pocket money for 14 students who went to Austria on a short-term study tour,
   December 6—16, 1991
- Living expenses

2,000.00 USD

### National Society for Cell Biology, Cluj Dept \*

 Organized the 9th yearly session of the society; the Foundation contributed part of the accommodation expenses of the participants

20,000.00 LEI

### Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Chemistry

- Three Romanian Professors (Ana Schiketanz, Mircea Gheorghiu and Atena Necula) attended a congress on Organic Chemistry; collaboration with Canadian experts
- Toronto, Canada
- Travel expenses, other expenses (board, lodging, travel for the Canadian experts)

153,666.00 LEI 10,500.00 USD

### Physics

### Popescu, Costin Radu

- · Student at the University of Bucharest, Physics
- DEA—"Universite Pierre et Marie Curie", Paris; he is the only pupil in the World who obtained two First Prizes at International Physics Olympiads
- · Paris, France
- Board and lodging, health insurance

6900.00 USD

#### Simion, Stefan Radu

- Radu Simion was a student at the School of Physics of the University of Bucharest;
   Second Prize winner at the International Olympiad at Bad Ischl, Austria, 1988; he is pursuing a Diplome d'Etudes Approfondes at Universite Paris VII
- Full scholarship, travel expenses

20,000.00 LEI 6,500.00 USD

### Social Sciences

### "After Midsummer" Conference, Balvanyos \*

- Lectures on Development and Democratization in Romania, July 21—28, 1991; organized by the "Civic Alliance", Federation of Young Democrats and the "Pro Europe" League
- · Various expenses

300,000.00 LEI

### Association of Sociologists, Romania

Organized the conference "Methodology and Communication in Sociological Research"; the first national conference on the theme: "Sociology and Reform", September 13—15, 1991, Bucharest.

131,000.00 LEI

#### Berindei, Mihnea

• Mihnea Berindei received this grant in order to organize an exchange program between Federation des Maires de France and local administrators in Romania.

6,000.00 USD

### Clicinschi, Adrian

- · Student at the Academy of Economic Sciences
- Diplome Europeene des Hautes Etudes Internationales—Certificat d'Etudes de la Communaute Europeen
- Board and lodging

4700.00 USD

### Independent Center for Social Studies and Opinion Polls, Bucharest

 The Independent Center for Social Studies and Opinion Polls of the Group for Social Dialogue received this grant consisting of: computer, printer, software and financial support in order to organize independent polls about the general and local elections in 1990 and 1992. The financial support for 1991 was of 244,039.00 LEI and in 1992, the recipient will receive the extra 1,200,000.00 LEI.

> 244,039.00 LEI (1991) 3,333.33 USD

#### Institute for Humane Studies

The Institute for Humane Studies of Vienna organized in 1990 a summer school on "Democracy - Anti-Democracy", in Cortona, Italy. Four young Romanian specialists in social sciences attended the summer school: Avram Alexandru, Oprescu Dan, Radulescu Mihai Sorin and Zirra Vlad Vintila. The Soros Foundation paid board and lodging expenses for the students, as well as travel and pocket money for three of them.

4,133.35 USD

# "Power and Opposition in Communist Societies: Foundations of Pluralism in East-Central Europe" Conference, Timisoara

- · Project Director: Vasile Popovici
- The conference was a part of the Foreign Policy Research Institute project on Transition to Freedom. It took place in March, 1991, was hosted by the University of Timisoara and co-sponsored by Romanian and American Universities and organizations. Well-known cultural personalities and officials from Eastern and Western countries attended the conference.
- The Soros Foundation offered a support in local currency for the conference.

20,000.00 LEI

#### Romanian Kant Society

 Organization of the International Symposium "Kant and the Transcendental Problem"; the Project Director was Ms. Rodica Croitoru; the grant consisted of book subscriptions and dues to the German and American Kant Societies.

> 117,000.00 LEI 150.00 USD

# **Technical Sciences**

### "BEST" Students Group

- The "BEST" Students Group of the Timisoara Technical University, affiliated to the Board of European Students of Technology organized the seminar "Object Oriented Programming", in September 1991. The seminar was co-sponsored by the Soros Foundation and the Technical University Timisoara.
- · Various expenses related to the seminar

100,009.00 LEI

# Polytechnic Institute of Cluj \*

- A group of students attended a "Turbo Pascal" (computer programming language) course in Budapest, Hungary, September 23—27, 1991
- Travel expenses

40,000.00 LEI

#### Sirbu, Mihai

- Assistant professor at the Technical University Timisoara
- Pursues a MSc degree in Computer Science at the University of Missouri Rolla in the USA, August, 1991—July, 1992.
- · Missouri, USA
- A part of the board and lodging expenses

### Miscellaneous

### Computer Center of the Ministry of Forestry

• The Computer Center received a DEC Micro VAX supercomputer and additional software in order to improve technological projects. The recipient reimbursed in LEI at a preferred exchange rate the total cost, i.e. 4,925,000.00 LEI.

45,134.52 USD

### "Engedetlen Egyetem" ("Summer Seminar") \*

- A group of students from Cluj attended the summer seminar on Social Philosophy at the "Open Society and Her Friends" Summer University in Pecs, Hungary, July 1—12, 1991
- Travel expenses

48,000.00 LEI

#### Institute for Petroleum and Gas, Ploiesti

 Purchased 16 specialty books and subscribed at 4 scientific periodicals for the Academic Institute's Library.

8,791.57 USD

#### "Pro-Democratia"

 Organization of the national seminar "Mass Media in a Democratic System", March 9—10, 1991 in Bucharest, Romania

240,324.00 LEI

# 6.2 Travel Grants, 1990

### Arts

### Rebengiuc, Victor

- · Actor; "LS Bulandra" Theatre, Bucharest
- · Participation at the symposium "Revolution—One Year After"
- · Vienna, Austria

300.00 USD

### **Economics**

#### Daianu, Daniel

- Economist
- · Obtained a fellowship from the Wilson Center USA
- Travel grant

330.00 USD

#### Popescu, Dumitru

- · Economist; National Agency of Economic Forecasting and Prognosis
- · Research and documentation fellowship at the Wilson Center USA
- Travel grant

330.00 USD

#### Socaciu, Ateneu Adrian

- Attended the Conference "Implementation of the 1990 Polish Economic Program"
- · Warsaw, Poland

150.00 USD

### Urianu, Tudorel

- Attended the Conference "Implementation of the 1990 Polish Economic Program"
- · Warsaw, Poland

### Health

#### Sandor, Veronica

- · Physician at the "Gheorghe Marinescu" Hospital
- · Documentation at the Association of Psychoanalysis, Paton-Hille, France
- · Patton-Hille, France

1,200.00 USD

### Humanities

### Bansoiu, Nelu

- · Philosopher; Professor at the University of Bucharest
- Participated and presented a paper at the symposium "Freedom and Choice in a Democracy", Michigan, USA
- · Michigan, USA

500.00 USD

### Popa, Dragos

- · Researcher at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- Participated and presented a paper at the symposium "Freedom and Choice in a Democracy", Michigan, USA
- · Michigan, USA

500.00 USD

#### Popa, Radu

- Historian; Institute of Archaeology, Bucharest
- Documentation for the thesis "L'Ordre Croise des Chevaliers Theoutoniques dans le Sud-Est de la Transylvanie"
- · Berlin, Germany

270.00 USD

### Sincai, Ana

- · Byologist; Assistant Director at the Central Pedagogy Library
- · Obtained a FEIE scholarship in France
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses Bucharest—Paris

25,000.00 LEI

### **Mathematics**

#### Berceanu, Barbu

- · Mathematician at the Institute of Mathematics, Bucharest
- Participation at the winter school "Geometry and Physics". The recipient reimbursed the grant in lei, at the official exchange rate.
- · Prague, Czechoslovakia

100.00 USD

### Ceapa, Alexandru

• The Foundation paid the money requested by the magazine "Physics Essays" (Toronto, Canada), to publish the article "Coordinate Transformations between Coordinate Systems in Relative Motion".

450.00 USD

#### Martin, Mircea

- Mathematician at the Institute of Mathematics, Bucharest
- · Participation at the winter school "Geometry and Physics"
- Prague, Czechoslovakia

100.00 USD

### Papadima, Stefan

- Mathematician at the Institute of Mathematics, Bucharest
- Participation at the winter school "Geometry and Physics"
- · Prague, Czechoslovakia

100.00 USD

# Social Sciences

### Andreescu, Gabriel

- · Physicist; President of the Group for Social Dialogue, Bucharest
- Participated at the "Helsinki Citizens' Assembly"
- · Prague, Czechoslovakia
- · Travel expenses

100.00 USD

#### Deaconescu, Vasile

- Engineer
- · Participated at the "Helsinki Citizens' Assembly"
- · Prague, Czechoslovakia

#### Dumitrescu, Ticu Constantin

- Participated at the "Helsinki Citizens' Assembly"
- · Prague, Czechoslovakia

100.00 USD

#### Enache, Smaranda

- · Director of the Puppets Theatre, Tirgu Mures
- · Participated at the "Helsinki Citizens' Assembly"
- · Prague, Czechoslovakia

100.00 USD

### Leahu, Eugen

- · Participated at the "Helsinki Citizens' Assembly"
- · Prague, Czechoslovakia

100.00 USD

#### Semenescu, Carmen

- · Student at the School of Law, Bucharest University
- Participated at the Conference ELSA, Madrid, Spain
- Madrid, Spain
- · Travel expenses

19,437.00 LEI

### **Technical Sciences**

#### Cotarta, Ioan Valentin

- Professor at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- Participated at the Open Scandinavian Symposium SCAN—ELCHEM'90
- · Copenhagen, Denmark

600.00 USD

### Juncu, Gheorghe

- Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- · Participation at the DECHEMA Course in Electrochemical Engineering
- Frankfurt, Germany

800.00 USD

#### Neagu, Roberto Mihai

- · Professor at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- Participation at the DECHEMA Course in Electrochemical Engineering
- Frankfurt, Germany

#### Ofrim, Dragos

- Researcher at the National Institute of Thermical Engines, Bucharest
- Participated at the Open Scandinavian Symposium SCAN—ELCHEM '90
- Copenhagen, Denmark

600.00 USD

### Pelteacu, Stan

- Documentation to write a study about the modernization of Romanian typographical industry
- Germany

500.00 USD

### Miscellaneous

#### Gheorghe, Nicolaie

- Sociologist; Institute of Sociology of the Romanian Academy
- Received an IREX scholarship in USA; the Foundation supported travel expenses 24,000.00 LEI

#### Tomescu, Alexandru

- · Student at the School of Geology, Bucharest University
- Subscription for "Geological Review" and other periodicals. The recipient reimbursed in LEI at the official exchange rate.

50.00 USD

### Tomescu, Florian

- Polytechnic of Bucharest
- Membership fee for the Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers. The recipient reimbursed in LEI at the official exchange rate.

# 6.3 Travel Grants, 1991

### Arts

#### Beldiman, Alexandru

- · Architect; "Ion Mincu" Institute of Architecture
- Documentation at the "National Convention of the American Institute of Architecture", Philadelphia and Baltimore, USA, May 15—30, 1991.
- Philadelphia, USA
- Travel expenses Bucharest—New York, New York—Philadelphia and back.

67,000.00 LEI 310.00 USD

#### Bojan, Raluca

- · Student at the "Ion Mincu" Institute of Architecture
- Architectural restoration works, Carlazzo Como, July 31—August 25, 1991.
- Carlazzo Como, Italy
- Travel expenses

17,247.00 LEI

#### Calinescu, Florin

- Student at the Theatre and Film Academy, Bucharest
- Participation at the Babelsberg Students' Film Festival, April 21—28, 1991; the Romanian team presented 10 films in the festival
- Babelsberg, Germany
- Pocket money

150.00 USD

#### Chelariu, Dolores

- Musician; Assistant Professor at the Music Academy, Bucharest
- Participation at the "Bela Bartok" International Festival, Rome, December 8, 1991.
- · Rome, Italy
- Registration fee, travel expenses

42,514.00 LEI 450.00 USD

### Ciocan, Eugen

- Student at the Theatre and Film Academy, Bucharest
- Participation at the Babelsberg Students' Film Festival, April 21—28, 1991; the Romanian team presented 10 films in the festival
- Babelsberg, Germany
- · Pocket money

### Constantinescu, Nicolae

- · Philologist; Asssistant Professor at the University of Bucharest, Philology Department
- Participated at the annual Congress of the "American Folklore Society" in Canada, October 17—20, 1991.
- Canada
- · Travel expenses

80,870.00 LEI 1,100.00 USD

### Crisan, Rodica Manon

- · Architect; Assistant Professor at the Institute for Architecture "Ion Mincu", Bucharest
- Participated at the 11th Congress of the Women Architects in Copenhagen, August 19—22, 1991.
- · Copenhagen, Denmark
- · Travel expenses

30,920.00 LEI

#### Csendes, Ladislau

- · Musician; Instrumentalist in the Chamber Orchestra of the Romanian Radiotelevision
- Participated at the "Bela Bartok" International Festival, Rome, December, 1991.
- Rome, Italy
- · Registration fee, travel expenses

42,514.00 LEI 450.00 USD

### Curean, Dan Radu \*

- · Member of ARTIS Film Club, Cluj
- Participated at the VIPFILM Festival of non-professional film-makers, September 26—29, 1991
- · Berlin, Germany
- · Travel and accomodation expenses

8,100.00 LEI 133.00 USD

#### Darie Maxinciuc, Alexandru

- · Theatre Director
- · Documentation tour at theatres in the United States
- New York, USA
- Living expenses

### Deaca, Nicolae Radu

- · Architect Institute of Architecture "Ion Mincu", Bucharest
- Postgraduate course on Urbanism at INEAA (Institute Europeen d'Amenagement et d'Architecture)
- · Rouen, France
- · Travel expenses; board and lodging expenses will be covered also, in 1992.

305,000.00 LEI

### Demeny, Attila \*

- · Composer; Director at the Hungarian State Opera, Cluj
- · Research tour in Hungary and Switzerland
- · Hungary; Switzerland
- Travel and living expenses

1,000.00 USD

### Dobrescu, Iulia Maria

- · Student at the Music Academy of Bucharest
- Attended an international summer course of piano in Darmstadt, course held by professor Leygraf; July 23—August 10, 1991
- Darmstadt, Germany
- · Participation fee, pocket money

680.00 USD

#### Done, Stan

- Graphic Artist; Illustrator for the "Minerva" Publishing House
- Organization of an exhibition of Romanian book illustration (30 works of the best Romanian artists in the field); organization of a conference.
- · Various expenses

45,146.00 LEI 150.00 USD

### Dumitrescu, Cristina \*

- · Theatre Critic at the "Teatrul azi" Magazine, Bucharest
- The "Paris, Quartier d'Ete" Theatre Festival, July 23—August 6, 1991
- · Paris, France
- Pocket money

450.00 USD

#### Filipoiu, Razvan Alexandru

- · Pupil at the Music and Arts School, Bucharest
- Participated at the "Reder Junior Piano Festival", Hertogenbosch, Holland, August 3—10, 1991.
- Hertogenbosch, Holland
- Travel expenses (LEI and USD), registration fee (USD)

21,650.00 LEI 150.00 USD

### Giurgea, Simona Laura

- · Economist; Teacher at the "Nicolae Kretulescu" Highschool, Bucharest
- Upgrading studies at Reims in context of the exchanges between the Academy "Champagne Ardennes" and the Ministry of Education of Romania.
- · Reims, France
- · Travel expenses

45,653.00 LEI

#### Gindila, Adrian

- · Architect at the "Ion Mincu" Institute of Architecture, Bucharest
- Reit Horia, Tritescu Codrin and Gindila Adrian attended the International Plain Air Architectural Competition for Young Architects, Szczecin, Poland, 1991.
- Szczecin, Poland
- Registration fee, travel expenses

7,934.00 LEI 220.00 USD

### Gligor, Liviu Alexandru

- Architect; Assistant Architect at the Institute for Architecture "Ion Mincu", Bucharest
- Attended the 5-th Eurosag Congress on Architecture, Sevilla, March 16—23, 1991.
- Sevilla, Spain
- Registration fee, board and lodging, study tour

309.00 USD

### Grancea, Valentin \*

- · Member of ARTIS Film Club, Cluj
- Participation at the VIPFILM Festival for non-professional film-makers, September 26—29, 1991
- · Berlin, Germany
- Travel and accommodation expenses

8,100.00 LEI 133.00 USD

#### Gulea, Stere

- Director; Dean of the Film School at the Theatre and Film Academy, Bucharest
- Participation at the Babelsberg Students' Film Festival, April 21—28, 1991; the Romanian team presented 10 films in the festival
- · Babelsberg, Germany
- · Pocket money

#### Harabagiu Marilena

- · Museologist at the National Arts Museum
- Invited for a 6 months training period at the Camberwell College of Arts, London, starting January 6, 1992
- · London, United Kingdom
- · Travel expenses

145,000.00 LEI

### Jojatu, Adrian

- · Musician; Soloist at the Romanian Radiotelevision
- Attending Master of Music courses at Boston University
- Boston, USA
- Travel expenses

91,671.00 LEI

#### Juvara, Ruxandra Polixenia Elena

- · Institute of Art History of the Romanian Academy
- Scholarship at the "Foundation pour une Entraide Intellectuelle Europeenne", Paris, August—September 1991.
- Pocket money

100.00 USD

### Kiss, Balbinat Attila \*

- · Opera singer at the Hungarian State Opera, Cluj
- Summer Course at the Vocalis Tirolensis Academy, July 15—August 2, 1991
- Innsbruck, Austria
- Travel and living expenses

1,850.00 LEI 500.00 USD

### Kovacs, Emil Stefan \*

- Member of ARTIS Film Club, Cluj
- Participation at the VIPFILM Festival of non-professional film-makers, September 26—29, 1991
- Berlin, Germany
- Travel and accommodation expenses

8,100.00 LEI 134.00 USD

#### Lascu, Tana

- · Student at the "Ion Mincu" Institute of Architecture, Bucharest
- Architectural restoration works at Carlazzo Como, July 31—August 25, 1991.
- Carlazzo Como, Italy
- Travel expenses

16,918.00 LEI

### Lucaciu, Tudor

- · Student at the Theatre and Film Academy, Bucharest
- Participation at the Babelsberg Students' Film Festival, April 21—28, 1991; the Romanian team presented 10 films in the festival
- Babelsberg, Germany
- · Pocket money

150.00 USD

### Lukacs, Eva Paraschiva \*

- Plastic Artist; Teacher at the School Nr. 4, Dej
- Varnishing Day of the Del Bello Gallery Miniature Exhibition, October 10—November 10, 1991
- · Toronto, Canada
- · Travel expenses

25,610.00 LEI 99.00 USD

### Lungu, Liana Paula

- Musician; Music Professor at the "George Enescu" Highschool of Music, Bucharest
- Accompanying Professor of Filipoiu Razvan, at the "Reder Junior Piano Festival", Hertogenbosch, August 3—10, 1991.
- · Hertogenbosch, Holland
- Travel expenses

21,650.00 LEI

#### Marcu, Daniela Veronica

- Specialization in Archaeology, Italy, October 1—31, 1991.
- · Rome, Italy
- · Accomodation supplement

500.00 USD

#### Mares, Ioan

- Department of Historical Monuments
- Specialization in Archaeology, Italy, October 1—31, 1991.
- Rome, Italy
- Accomodation supplement

500.00 USD

### Missits, Ioana \*

- Graduated from the Music Highschool, Cluj
- · Postgraduate studies at Bowling Green State University, USA
- USA
- Travel expenses

1,200.00 LEI 115.00 USD

#### Mocanu, Aurelia

- · Art Historian; Editor at the "Arta" Magazine
- Documentation at the Prato Museum of Contemporary Arts
- Travel expenses, materials, pocket money

33,996.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Mocioc, Iulia

- · Pupil at the "George Enescu" Highschool of Music, Bucharest
- Participated at an International Contest of young pianists, Salerno, October 23—26, 1991.
- Salerno, Italy
- · Travel expenses, registration fee

38,628.00 LEI 80.00 USD

### Modola, Doina Antonia \*

- Researcher at the Institute for Linguistics and Literature, Cluj
- Participated at the "Paris, Quartier d'Ete" Theatre Festival, July 16—August 13, 1991
- Paris, France
- · Pocket money; accomodation

450.00 USD

#### Muresanu, Irina Roxana

- · Student at the Academy of Music
- Attended the international violin contest "Tibor Varga", Switzerland, August 4, 1991
- Sion, Switzerland
- Travel expenses

27,515.00 LEI

### Mutulescu, Dacia Madalina

- Student at the Academy of Arts, History and Theory of Art
- Scholarship at the University Paris I—Pantheon Sorbonne and at the Ecole du Louvre, Paris
- · Paris, France
- Registration fees, board and lodging

2,380.00 USD

#### Nagy, Dorothy

- Student at the "Ion Mincu" Institute of Architecture, Bucharest
- Contacts, experience exchange with foreign students; architectural restoration works in Italy—scholarship granted by "Jeunesse et Patrimoine", August, 1991
- · Gnallo, Italy
- Travel expenses

17,247.00 LEI

#### Negrescu, Romeo

- · Architect; Architect for the "Neopolis" Agency, Bucharest
- Specialization in Architecture Restoration at the "Centre D'etudes Superieures D'histoire et de Conservation des Monuments Historiques", Paris, September 23, 1991—June, 1993.
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses

51,808.00 LEI

### Nichitus, Cristina

- Lecturer at the Theatre and Film Academy, Bucharest
- Participation at the Babelsberg Students' Film Festival, April 21—28, 1991; the Romanian team presented 10 films in the festival
- Babelsberg, Germany
- Pocket money

150.00 USD

#### Niculescu, Cristian

- · Musician; Professor of Music at the The "George Enescu" Highschool of Music
- Participated at the international musical contest "Reine Elisabeth de Belgique", Belgium
- Belgium
- · Registration fee, pocket money, travel expenses

32,593.00 LEI 235.00 USD

#### Nitelea, Mariana

- Museum of Arts and History
- Specialization in Archaeology, Italy, October 1—31, 1991
- · Rome, Italy
- Supplement for accommodation

500.00 USD

#### Pamfil, Francoise

- Student at the "Ion Mincu" Institute of Architecture, Bucharest
- Architectural restoration works at Carlazzo Como, July 31—August 25, 1991.
- · Carlazzo Como, Italy
- · Travel expenses

17,247.00 LEI

#### Pascu Iulia Cristina

- · Teacher at the High-School 4 in Piatra Neam-
- Attended a 1 year M.A. course in Literature & the Visual Arts at the University of Reading, October 1991 - July 1992
- · Reading, United Kingdom
- Pocket money; The recipient reimbursed the total sum offered.

#### Popa Cristina

- · Lecturer at the Arts and Filming Academy of Bucharest
- Scholarship at the "Fondation pour une Entraide Intellectuelle Europeene" in Paris for 1 month, August - September 1991
- · Paris, France
- Pocket money

100.00 USD

### Popescu Carmen Elena

- Lecturer at the Arts Academy of Bucharest, Department of Museology
- Has been awarded a scholarship by the "Fondation pour une Entraide Intellectuelle Europeene", to pursue research in 18th and 19th centuries arts.
- · Travel expenses

51,808.00 LEI

### Radu, Florinel

- Architect; Assistant Architect at the Institute for Architecture "Ion Mincu"
- Attended the 5-th Eurosag Congress on Architecture, Sevilla, March 16—23, 1991.
- Sevilla, Spain
- Registration fee, board, lodging, study tour

309.00 USD

#### Reit Horia

- · Architect at the "Ion Mincu" Institute of Architecture, Bucharest
- Reit Horia, Tritescu Codrin and Gindila Adrian attended the International Plain Air Architectural Competition for Young Architects, Szczecin, Poland, 1991.
- Szczecin, Poland
- Registration fee, travel expenses

7,934.00 LEI 220.00 USD

#### Rotaru, Carmen Elena

- · Student at the Music Academy, Bucharest
- Attended the International Piano Contest "Marcel Mercier", November 12—28, 1991
- France and Germany
- Registration fee, living expenses

185.00 USD

#### Sabac, Karina Ioana

- Pupil at the "George Enescu" Highschool
- Participated at an International Contest of young pianists, Salerno, October 23—26, 1991.
- Salerno, Italy
- Registration fee, travel expenses

42,413.00 LEI 80.00 USD

# Sain, Mariana Eugenia \*

- · Plastic Artist
- International Christian Media Communission Conference, September 22—27, 1991
- Sheffield, United Kingdom
- · Travel expenses

85,000.00 LEI

# Schor, Dan Alexe

- · Pupil at the "George Enescu" Highschool
- · Participated at the "Rameau" violin contest, Chateau de Courcillon, France, July 1991
- · Chateau de Courcilon, France
- Accomodation

210.00 USD

# Sfrijan Ioan

- · Museologist at the National Arts Museum
- Invited for a 6 months training period at the Hamilton Kerr Institute, Cambridge, starting January 1992
- · Cambridge, United Kingdom
- Travel expenses

150,000.00 LEI

### Sladescu Viorica Ioana

- · Lecturer at the Arts Institute of Bucharest
- Participated to a 6 months training period at the Camberwell College of Arts, London, January - June 1992
- London, United Kingdom
- · Travel expenses

165,150.00 LEI

#### Solomon, Alexandru

- Student at the Theatre and Film Academy, Bucharest
- Participation at the Babelsberg Students' Film Festival, April 21—28, 1991; the Romanian team presented 10 films in the festival
- Babelsberg, Germany
- · Pocket money

150.00 USD

# Tompa, Gabor \*

- Stage Director of the Hungarian State Theatre, Cluj
- · Study Tour in the USA
- · San Diego, USA
- · Travel expenses

60,000.00 LEI 470.00 USD

# Tritescu, Codrin

- · Architect at the "Ion Mincu" Institute of Architecture, Bucharest
- Reit Horia, Tritescu Codrin and Gindila Adrian attended the International Plain Air Architectural Competition for Young Architects, Szczecin, Poland, 1991.
- · Szczecin, Poland
- · Registration fee, travel expenses

7,934.00 LEI 220.00 USD

# Tulvan, Ghizela Veronica

- · Professor at the "George Enescu" Highschool of Music
- Accompanied the pupil Dan Alexe Schor at the "Rameau" violin contest, Chateau de Courcillon, July 1991
- · Chateau de Courcilon, France
- Accomodation

210.00 USD

### Ulici, Laurentiu

- Writer; Redactor at the "Expres" Magazine
- Documentation on Fiction Literature and its public for writing the essay "Mythical Interferences"
- · London, Great Britain
- · Board and lodging

1,000.00 USD

### Ungureanu, Ana

- Pupil at the "George Enescu" Highschool of Music
- Attended the summer session of the "Jeunesses Musicales" World Orchestra, Arvika, Sweden, July 15—August 16, 1991
- · Arvika, Sweden
- Travel expenses

30,920.00 LEI 520.00 USD

#### Vasilescu, Raluca

- · Architect at the "Proiect" Institute, Bucharest
- Attended the post-graduate course in urban architecture organized by the INEAA (European Institute for Architecture and Urbanism), Paris, France, November 11, 1991—July 11, 1992.
- Paris, France
- Travel expenses; Board and lodging expenses to be paid in 1992.

305,612.00 LEI

# Vasiliu, Dan Anton

- · Adviser at the Ministry of Culture, Theatre Dept
- · Pursues an M.A. degree in Arts Criticism and Art Management at the City University, London, starting with October, 1991; he benefits from a Robert Kitchen scholarship which pays 40% of the total fees (5,000 Pound Sterling)
- London, Great Britain
- · Partial scholarship

6,300.00 USD

### Verussi, Raluca

- Specialization in Archaeology, Italy, October 1—31, 1991
- · Rome, Italy
- Supplement for accomodation

500.00 USD

# Vicas, Aurora Estera

- Musician
- · Obtained a Music scholarship at the "Florida Southern College", Tampa, Florida, 1991-1992
- · Tampa, Florida, USA
- · Travel expenses

110,249.00 LEI 270.00 USD

# **Economics**

## Botorog, Emilia Aurora

- Student at the Academy for Economic Studies, Bucharest
- · Participated at a Students Exchange Program of the Academy for Economic Studies in Bucharest with the London School of Economics, April 21-30, 1991.
- · London, Great Britain
- Travel expenses Bucharest—London and back (LEI), pocket money (USD)

25,515,00 LEI

80.00 USD

# Busuioc, Dragos

- · Student at the Academy for Economic Studies, Bucharest
- · Participated at a Students Exchange Program of the Academy for Economic Studies in Bucharest with the London School of Economics, April 21—30, 1991.
- · London, Great Britain
- Travel expenses Bucharest—London and back (LEI), pocket money (USD)

25,515.00 LEI

#### Enciu, Adrian

- Student at the Academy of Economic Sciences, Bucharest
- Attended Economics courses at "Universite d'Ete de la Nouvelle Economie", Aix-En-Provence, August 18—September 1, 1991.
- · Aix-En-Provence, France
- · Travel expenses

17,000.00 LEI 35.00 USD

# Farkas, Maria

- Economist
- Participation at the 20th Conference of CIRET, Budapest, Hungary, October 2—5, 1991
- · Participation fee, travel expenses

350.00 LEI 182.00 USD

# Kerekes, Jeno \*

- Economist
- Participation at the 20th Conference of CIRET, Budapest, Hungary, October 2—5, 1991
- · Participation fee, travel expenses

350.00 LEI 182.00 USD

# Pitiriciu, Ioan \*

- Student at the School of Economics, University of Cluj
- Travel expenses for TEMPUS scholarship, London, Great Britain, October 14, 1991— March 2, 1992

70,000.00 LEI

#### Sebestyen, Laszlo

- Student at the Academy of Economic Studies
- Attended the "New Economy" Symposium in Prague, Czechoslovakia August 11— 17, 1991 and the "IMS Europe" Symposium, Aix-en-Provence, France, August 20—31, 1991
- Aix-en-Provence, France and Prague, Czechoslovakia
- Travel, local transportation

5,820.00 LEI 40.00 USD

#### Stanciu, Liviu Ilie

- Student at the Academy for Economic Studies, Bucharest
- Participated at a Students Exchange Program of the Academy for Economic Studies in Bucharest with the London School of Economics, April 21—30, 1991.
- London, Great Britain
- Travel expenses Bucharest—London and back (LEI), pocket money (USD)

25,515.00 LEI 80.00 USD

## Wencz, Ovidiu

- Student at the Academy for Economic Studies, Bucharest
- Participated at a Students Exchange Program of the Academy for Economic Studies in Bucharest with the London School of Economics, April 21—30, 1991.
- · London, Great Britain
- Travel expenses Bucharest—London and back (LEI), pocket money (USD)

25,515.00 LEI 80.00 USD

# **English Language**

#### Caia. Simona Smarandita

- · Student at the School of Foreign Languages and Litteratures, Bucharest University
- Attended an English Language Course at the Scottish Universities' International Summer Schools
- · Edinburgh, Great Britain
- · Travel expenses

25,440.00 LEI 75.00 USD

#### Crisan, Alcor Castilian

- · Student at the School of Foreign Languages and Litteratures, Bucharest University
- Attended an English Language Course at the Scottish Universities' International Summer Schools
- · Edinburgh, Great Britain
- Travel expenses

17,000.00 LEI 75.00 USD

# Stefanescu, Bogdan

- · Assistant at the University of Bucharest, Philology
- · Pursues Ph.D. studies
- London, Great Britain
- Travel expenses; books

# **Environmental Sciences**

### Manoleli, Dan

- · Biologist
- Participated at the EUREKA Conference on East—West Cooperation in Environmental Sciences
- · Board and lodging

50.00 USD

# Moldovan, Zaharie \*

- Physicist; Researcher at the Institute of Isotopic and Molecular Technology, Cluj
- Participated at the 3rd Workshop on Chemistry and Fate of Modern Pesticides, September 4—6, 1991
- · Bilthoven, Holland
- · Participation fee, living expenses

475.00 USD

# Opris, Ion

- · Professor at the Petrolem and Gas Institute, Ploiesti
- Participated at the seminar on Catalysts for Environmental Protection, Maastricht, November 19—20, 1991
- · Maastricht, Holland
- · Registration fee

640.00 USD

# Health

# Barabas, Julia \*

- Student at the Institute of Medicine and Pharmacy, Cluj
- · Participation at the Camp America 1991—Health Education Program
- · Participation fee, accomodation

180.00 USD

#### Boisteanu Daniela

- Physician at the Lungs Hospital in Iasi
- Invited to a 3 months training at the Medecine University Pitie Salpetriere, Paris,
   December 1991 to February 1992
- Paris, France
- Travel expenses

91,300.00 LEI

#### Bordea, Cristina

- Student at the Medical University, Iasi
- Practical stage at the Surgery Section of the Whitington Hospital in London, August 7—September 4, 1991.
- · London, Great Britain
- · Travel expenses Bucharest—London and back.

41,440.00 LEI

# Buligescu, Dimitrie Lucian

- Physician, MD; Physician at the "Fundeni" Hospital, Bucharest
- Attended the 3rd International Symposium on Viral Hepatitis and Hepato-cellular Cancer in Taipei, December 5—8, 1991
- Taipei
- · Travel expenses

92,000.00 LEI 900.00 USD

#### Clit, Radu Octavian

- Physician at the "LSM" Student Hospital, Bucharest
- Attended the Conference on Psychoanalysis "Over the Words"
- Stockholm, Sweden
- Travel expenses

32,551.00 LEI 10.00 USD

# Codrean, Tudor Adrian \*

- · Student at the University of Medical Sciences, Cluj
- Participated at the 7-th International Medical Sciences Student Congress, May 23—25, 1991
- Istanbul, Turkey
- Participation fee

50.00 USD

#### Coman, Mihaela Maria

- · Physician at the Ophtalmology Hospital
- · Practical stage at "Good Samaritan Hospital"
- Portland, Oregon, USA
- Travel expenses

700.00 USD

# Deleanu, Mauriciu \*

- · Professor at the Institute of Medicine and Pharmacy, Cluj
- Attended the Congress "Climat et Pathologie", September 18—21, 1991
- · Dijon, France
- Travel expenses, pocket money

27,000.00 LEI 100.00 USD

# Derevenco, Petru \*

- MD; Institute for Public Health, Cluj
- Participated at the third meeeting of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress, June 7—8, 1991, Padova, Italy
- Travel and accommodation expenses

15,000.00 LEI 105.00 USD

### Dragotoiu, Rodica Mirela

- · Medical and Pharmaceutical Institute, Bucharest
- Attended specialization studies in Genetics in the Brugmann Hospital, Bruxelles, 1991.
- Bruxelles, Belgium
- · Board and lodging for 6 months

600.00 USD

### Dumitrescu, Nicolae Gheorghe

- Engineer; Researcher at the Institute for Automation, Bucharest
- Participated at he 27th annual meeting of the "European Association for the Study of Diabets", Dublin, Ireland, September 11—14, 1991; developed a computer program to help diabetic children increase their self-control over metabolism.
- · Dublin, Ireland
- · Registration fee, accomodation for three days, travel expenses

33,040.00 LEI 230.00 USD

#### Federiga, Maria

- Nurse; Instructor at the "Gheorghe Marinescu" Hospital
- Clinical attachement at Centre Hospitalier Specialise, Perry-Vauclus, France for 2 months, 1991.
- · Perry, France
- · Travel expenses Bucharest—Paris and back.

22,604.00 LEI

### Filip, Florin

- Student at the University of Medicine, Bucharest
- Clinical attachement at Mount Vernon Hospital in London, August 15—September 15, 1991.
- · London, Great Britain
- Travel expenses, board and lodging

33,040.00 LEI 150.00 USD

# Gheorghiu Branaru, Manuela

- Physician at the SCMB Polyclinic, Bucharest
- Apprenticeship in Pneumology and Endoscopy at Centre Hospitalier de la Cote Basque, Bayonne
- · Bayonne, France
- · Travel expenses

137,000.00 LEI 365,00 USD

## Gordan, Magdolna

- · Physician at the Jebel Hospital, Timisoara
- Participated at the specialization program in Psychoterapy organized at Budapest; the program has been run since 1990 and will continue until 1993.
- · Budapest, Hungary
- Travel expenses

510,00 USD

#### Ionescu, Nicolae Sebastian

- · Physician; Surgeon at the Children Hospital, Bucharest
- Attended upgrading studies at the Universitary Clinic in Bruxelles, "Surgery of Infants and Small Children", March 15—June 15, 1991.
- · Bruxelles, Belgium
- Pocket money

300.00 USD

#### Locsei, Marta Iuliana

- Physician at the Jebel Psychiatry Hospital, Timisoara
- Participated at the specialization program in Psychoterapy organized at Budapest; the program has been run since 1990 and will continue until 1993.
- · Budapest, Hungary
- Travel expenses

510.00 USD

# Maier, Romana Teodora \*

- Student at the Institute of Medicine and Pharmacy, Cluj
- The International Summer University of Medicine, July 29—August 23, 1991
- · Amsterdam, Holland
- Travel expenses, pocket money

17,000.00 LEI 240.00 USD

## Maerean, Marta Elena

- · Nurse; Instructor at the "Gheorghe Marinescu" Hospital
- Clinical attachement at Centre Hospitalier Specialise in Perry-Vauclus, France, for 2 months, 1991.
- · Perry, France
- Travel expenses Bucharest—Paris and back.

22,604.00 LEI

# Malschi, Cristina

- Lecturer at the Institute of Medicine and Pharmacy Iasi
- Specialization in children's stomatology at Universite d'Auvergne
- France
- · Medical books, journals, equipment

600.00 USD

# Manac, Rodica Catalina

- · Physician; Assistant Lecturer at the Medical University of Bucharest
- Attended the annual conference of the "European Posthodontic Association" in Geneva, September 1—9, 1991.
- · Geneva, Switzerland
- · Travel expenses

53,995 LEI

### Manoiu, Anca

- · Psychologist; Researcher at the National Institute for Geronthology and Geriatry
- · Participation at the 4th Congress of Geronthology
- Yokohama, Japan
- · Travel expenses

1,450.00 USD

### Marincea, Elena

- · Physician, Bucharest
- Specialization in surgery at a clinic in Lyon
- · Travel expenses

101,475.00 LEI 100.00 USD

#### Marta, Gabriel

- Student at the Institute of Medicine and Pharmacy
- Clinical attachement in Bologna, September 1—30, 1991.
- Bologna, Italy
- Travel expenses; pocket money

15,000.00 LEI 200.00 USD

# Mocan, Aurel \*

- · Researcher at the Institute for Public Health, Cluj
- · In-training course on medical equipment, Vienna, Austria, October 15—17, 1991
- Travel expenses, pocket money

4,130.00 LEI 50.00 USD

#### Montia Tatiana

- Physician at the Lungs Clinic in Gura Humorului
- Attended a 3 months training at the "Centre Hospitalier Regional" de Bordeaux, January - March 1992
- · Bordeaux, France
- · Travel expenses; books

145,052.00 LEI 100.00 USD

# Moraru, Magdalena

- · Lecturer at the University of Medecine and Pharmacy, Iasi
- Practical stage at the Milano Polyclinic, for experimenting anti diabetes treatments,
   September 1—30, 1991
- · Travel expenses, books

25,126.00 LEI 200.00 USD

# Netea, Mihai Gheorghe \*

- Student at the Institute of Medicine and Pharmacy, Cluj
- Scholarship at Katholieke University Medical Workshop, July 15—October 15, 1991
- · Nijmegen, Holland
- · Travel and pocket money

17,000.00 LEI 300.00 USD

# Netea, Alexandra Olimpia \*

- Student at the Institute of Medicine and Pharmacy, Cluj
- Summer University of Medicine, July 29—August 23, 1991
- · Amsterdam, Holland
- Travel expenses, pocket money

17,000.00 LEI 260.00 USD

### Neughebauer, Bogdan Ioan

- Student at the Institute of Medicine and Pharmacy, Iasi
- Attended upgrading studies on Internal Medicine and Pharmacology, Torino, August 1—31, 1991.
- · Torino, Italy
- · Travel expenses, books

15,000.00 LEI

200.00 USD

#### Pitei Daniela Luminita

- Physician at the Cantacuzino Hospital in Bucharest
- Followed a 4 months training on diabetes at the "King's College Hospital, London
- · London, United Kingdom
- Travel expenses

71,840.00 LEI

# Podar, Mircea \*

- Assistant at the School of Biology, University of Cluj
- Pursued a Ph.D. degree at University of Texas, Medical Center, July 8-12, 1991
- · Dallas, USA
- Travel expenses

55,346.00 LEI 115.00 USD

## Pop Anca

- Graduated the Medical University of Bucharest in 1991
- Attended the 5th International Symposium on the rectal cancer Torino, September 24-26, 1991
- Torino, Italy
- Travel expenses, board & lodging

25,608.00 LEI

# Porr, Paul Jurgen \*

- Physician at the Institute for Public Health, Cluj
- Attended the 6th International Magnesium Symposium, December 2—6, 1991
- Indore, India
- Travel and living expenses, pocket money

307,880.00 LEI 1,100.00 USD

# Postescu, Ion Dan \*

- Researcher at the Institute for Oncology, Cluj
- In-training course on medical equipment, Vienna, Austria, October 15—17, 1991
- Travel expenses, pocket money

4,130.00 LEI 50.00 USD

#### Rusanescu, Gabriel

- Chemist; Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Chemistry
- Completion of a Ph.D. degree in Neurosciences at "Brandeis University—Graduate School of Art and Sciences", Walton, starting with September 1991.
- Walton, USA
- Travel expenses

91,652.00 LEI

### Scarlat, Marius

- · Physician; Physician Clinic for Orthopaedia and Traumatology
- Has a postgraduate scholarship to specialize in orthopaedic surgery at the orthopaedic clinics in Strasbourg and Nancy, France, September, 1991—August, 1992
- · Strasbourg, France
- · Local transportation, books, living expenses

600.00 USD

### Socolov, Razvan Vladimir

- · Student at the Medical University, Iasi
- · Practical stage at the Department of Surgery at the Manchester Royal Infirmary.
- · Manchester, Great Britain
- · Travel expenses Bucharest—London and back.

41,284.00 LEI

#### Stanciu, Carol

- · Physician at the Medical Clinic II of the University Hospital of Iasi
- Participated at the British Society of Gastroenterology Meeting, September 24—28, 1991
- · London, Great Britain
- · Travel expenses, pocket money

60,000.00 LEI 200.00 USD

## Stanciu, Luminita \*

- Researcher at the Institute of Hygiene, Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, December 15—17, 1991
- · Rome, Italy
- · Travel and living expenses

44,180.00 LEI 358.00 USD

#### Stoica, Serban Constantin

- · Student at the Universitaty of Medicine and Pharmacy, Iasi
- Elective attachement at Newcastle General Hospital, Newcastle upon Tyne, July 12—August 15, 1991.
- · Newcastle upon Tyne, Great Britain
- · Travel expenses, pocket money, medical books

46,040.00 LEI 400.00 USD

# Szantai, Janos \*

- · Biochemist; Physician at the Medical Clinic, Cluj
- Attended the 6th International Magnesium Symposium, December 2—6, 1991
- Indore, India
- · Travel and living expenses, pocket money

615,760.00 LEI 1,100.00 USD

## Taranu, Doina

- · Physician at the FUNDENI Hospital, Bucharest
- Apprenticeship in Digestive Endoscopy at the Societe Medicale Internationale de Endoscopie et de Radiologie
- Nancy, France
- · Living expenses

500.00 USD

# Teodorescu, Matei

- · Physician; "Free Romania" Foundation
- Documentation at the "Handicapped Children Centers" in the USA
- Travel expenses

91,658.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Vasilescu, Constantin

- Physicist; Researcher at the Institute of Meteorology, Bucharest
- Attended the conference "Motor Neuron Disease/Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis", Birmingham, October 21—23, 1991; the organizers supported travel expenses.
- · Birmingham, Great Britain
- Registration fee, board and lodging

950.00 USD

#### Velican, Mircea

- · Student; Student at the Institute of Medicine, Bucharest
- Obtained a ten-month \$3,000 scholarship from the Universite Libre de Bruxelles, School of Medicine, 1991—1992
- Bruxelles, Belgium
- · Pocket money, specialty books/papers, medical utensils

600.00 USD

#### Vrabiescu, Monica

- Psychologist; Researcher at the National Institute of Geronthology and Geriatry
- Participation at the 4th Congress of Geronthology
- · Yokohama, Japan
- Travel expenses

1,450.00 USD

# Humanities

#### Andreescu, Stefan

- · Historian, Ph.D.; "Nicolae Iorga" Institute of History
- Attended the 23rd National Convention of the American Association for the Advancement of Slavic Studies, November 22—25, 1991
- Miami, Florida, USA
- · Living expenses, transport New York—Miami, pocket money

1,330.00 USD

# Ardevan, Radu \*

- · Archaeologist at the Museum of History of Transylvania, Cluj
- Attended the 11-th International Numismatic Congress, Bruxelles, Belgium, September 8—12, 1991
- Travel and pocket money

19,500.00 LEI 100.00 USD

# Baban, Adriana \*

- · Researcher at the Institute of Public Health, Cluj
- Participated at the second European Congress of Psychology, July 8—12, 1991
- Budapest, Hungary
- Participation fee, living expenses

280.00 USD

## Bina, Vlad

- Architect; Architect at the "Proiect" Institute, Bucharest
- Attended the post-graduate course in urban architecture organized by the INEAA (European Institute for Architecture and Urbanism) in Paris, November 11, 1991—July 11, 1992.
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses

305,612.00 LEI

# Cipaianu, Gheorghe \*

- Historian; Researcher at the Institute of History, Cluj
- Travel expenses for a lecture tour in Hungary, December 1991
- Debrecen, Hungary
- Travel expenses

3,420.00 LEI

## Cojocaru, Liana

- · Redactor at the "Expres" Magazine
- Documentation for writing the book "Tying the Romanian Contemporary Theatre with the European Theatrical Movement"
- · London, Great Britain
- · Travel and living expenses

1,000.00 USD

# Comanescu Prelipceanu, Denisa

- Participated at a seminar on Human Rights at King's College, London, May 12—22, 1991
- · London, Great Britain
- · Travel expenses

29,160.00 LEI

# Copoeru, Ion \*

- · Assistant Lecturer at the School of History and Philosophy, University of Cluj
- Summer Course of German Language at Tubingen University, August 1—30, 1991
- Tubingen, Germany
- · Travel and living expenses

12,900.00 LEI 185.00 USD

#### Cretia, Petru

- Philologist; Researcher at the Museum of the Romanian Literature, Bucharest
- Documentation for translating Plato; participation at the Central and Eastern European Publishing Project, Great Britain, 1991
- London, Oxford, Great Britain
- Travel fee, pocket money

33,040.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Croitoru, Rodica

- Institute for the History and Theory of Literature
- Documentation and participation at the Spindel Conference "System and Teleology in Kant's and Bohme's Works", Memphis, USA, October 1—31, 1991
- · Travel expenses, board and lodging

54,813.00 LEI 2,120.00 USD

#### Cuiba, Ioan Andrei

- · Researcher at the Institute for Education Sciences
- Documentation regarding Alternative Education at Emerson College and at the Rudolf Steiner Schools, March 18—April 30, 1991.
- · Great Britain
- Pocket money

#### Dimitriu, Ileana

- Assistant professor at the University of Timisoara @DETAILS = MA Scholarship at the University of Natal, South Africa, February - June, 1992. @DETAILS = Natal, South Africa
- Travel expenses

50,132.00 LEI

#### Dumitrescu, Stefan

- · Mathematician; Researcher at the Computer Center of the Ministry of Industry
- Participated at a workshop at the School of Sociology at the University in Rome.
- · Rome, Italy
- Travel expenses

300.00 USD

### Dumitru, Mircea

- · Assistant Professor at the University of Bucharest
- Participated at the 9th International Congress on Logic Methodology and Philosophy of Science in Uppsala, Sweden, August 7—14, 1991.
- Uppsala, Sweden
- · Board and lodging

425.00 USD

### Foarta, Serban Nicolae

- · Director of the National Theatre, Timisoara
- Obtained a scholarship from the Ministry of Culture at the "Society for Literary Translations", Paris, France, October 1991—October, 1992.
- · Paris, France
- · Travel expenses, accomodation

250.00 USD

#### Gherca, Aureliu Eugen Florentin

- Geologist, Oil Engineering Enterprise, Timisoara
- Participated at the Italian language courses organized by the Italian Youth Center
- Italy
- Registration fee

120.00 USD

# Hohn, Mihai \*

- Assistant Lecturer at the University of Cluj, Psychology Dept
- Second European Congress of Psychology, July 8—12, 1992
- Budapest, Hungary
- Living expenses

# Horasangian, Bedros

- · Engineer; Writer
- Participated at the regional meeting of Pen-Centers for Southern Europe.
- Pocket money

125.00 USD

# Iancu, Gheorghe \*

- · Researcher at the Institute for History, Cluj
- Conference on History in Szigetvar, Hungary, October 23—26, 1991
- · Travel expenses

3,005.00 LEI

# Ivanciu, Niculina

- Professor of French; Lecturer at the Academy for Economic Sciences, Bucharest
- Obtained a research fellowship in Comparative Literature at New York University, July 24—November 15, 1991; participated at the "Language Program" organized at the University of Brown.
- New York, USA
- · Travel expenses

71,356.00 LEI

# Jinga, Maria Laurentia

- · Philologist at the Institute of Phonetics and Dialectology
- Participated at the 12th International Congress on Phonetical Sciences, Aix-en-Provence, France, August 19—24, 1991.
- Aix-en-Provence, France
- Travel expenses

51,637.00 LEI 235.00 USD

#### Ledeanu, Alina

- "Secolul 20" Magazine
- · Pursued Ph.D. courses in Linguistics at Universite de Paris VIII, France
- Travel expenses

30,424.00 LEI

#### Lupu, Marilena Andreea

- Teacher at School 133, Bucharest
- Attended a course of Catalan Language; documentation for writing a dictionary in Barcelona, Spain, September 1—27, 1991.
- Barcelona, Spain
- Travel expenses

20,000.00 LEI

## Lupu, Coman

- · Lecturer at the Bucharest University, School of Foreign Languages
- Attended a course of Catalan Language; documentation for writing a dictionary in Barcelona, Spain, September 1—27, 1991.
- · Barcelona, Spain
- Travel expenses

20,000.00 LEI

# Marin, Ileana

- Student at the University of Bucharest, Philology
- · Attended a Language Summer Course in Rauma, Finland, July, 1991.
- Travel expenses

19,200.00 LEI 296.00 USD

## Marinescu, Aurelian

- Theologist
- Scholarship for the academic year 1991—1992 at the Theology School, Oxford University, United Kingdom
- · Oxford, Great Britain
- Travel expenses to Oxford

43,573.00 LEI

# Marino, Adrian \*

- · Literary Critic
- Attended the 13th International Congress on Comparative Literature, August 23—28, 1991
- · Tokio, Japan
- Travel and living expenses

67,000.00 LEI 2,800.00 USD

#### Mavrodin Irina

- Lecturer at the Philology School, University of Bucharest
- Research and documentation stage in Arles, for the integral translation of Proust's "A la recherche du temps perdu"
- Arles, France
- · Travel expenses

45,857.00 LEI

# Miclea, Mircea \*

- Assistant Lecturer at the University of Cluj, Psychology Dept
- Attended the second European Congress of Psychology, July 8—12, 1991
- · Budapest, Hungary
- · Participation fee, living expenses

# Mihali, Ciprian \*

- · Student at the School of History and Philosophy, Unversity of Cluj
- Summer Course of German Language at Tubingen University, August 1—30, 1991
- Tubingen, Germany
- · Travel and living expenses

12,900.00 LEI 185.00 USD

### Onisoara, Alina

- Student at the University of Bucharest, Romanian/Dutch
- Received a scholarship from the Ministry of Education in The Netherlands to attend summer courses for learning Netherlandish at Breukelen, Netherlands, July 27— August 11, 1991.
- · Breukelen, Netherlands
- Travel expenses Bucharest—Amsterdam and return

28,000.00 LEI 25.00 USD

# Paskuy, Tiberiu Zoltan

- English Teacher; Assistant Lecturer at the University of Timisoara, English Department
- Attended a seminar in Stuttgart in Cultural Studies, Germany, August 4—23, 1991.
- Stuttgart, Germany
- Living expenses

250.00 USD

#### Radu, Ion \*

- Head of the Psychology Department of the University of Cluj
- Second European Congress of Psychology, July 8—12, 1991
- · Budapest, Hungary
- · Participation fee, living expenses

380.00 USD

#### Rucareanu, Mira Sanda

- Artist; Librarian at the Arts Academy
- Scholarship offered by "Fondation Pour Une Entraide Intellectuelle Europeene", for studying the works of Watteau, Paris, September 1—October 1, 1991.
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses

51,808.00 LEI

# Serban, Andreea Silvia

- · Student at the School of Foreign Languages
- Attended upgrading studies in Italian Language and Literature at the University of Verona, August 19—September 7, 1991.
- · Verona, Italy
- · Travel, other expenses

28,420.00 LEI 150.00 USD

### Sichitiu, Alina Cristina

- · Student at the University of Bucharest, Foreign Languages
- Attended upgrading studies in Italian Language and Literature at the University of Verona, August 19—September 7, 1991.
- · Verona, Italy
- · Travel, other expenses

28,420.00 LEI 150.00 USD

# Szamoskozi, Stefan \*

- Lecturer at the University of Cluj, Psychology Dept
- Attended the second European Congress of Psychology, July 8—12, 1991
- · Budapest, Hungary
- Living expenses

100.00 USD

#### Teposu, Radu

- Journalist; Director of the "Cuvintul" Magazine
- · Attended the symposium on Balcanic Matters
- · Athens, Greece
- Living expenses

250.00 USD

# Vieru Sorin

- Lecturer at the Philosophy School, University of Bucharest
- Invited by the "Philosophy Professors' Association" from Bretagne for a study period in Bretagne, February 9 - March 1, 1991
- Travel expenses

28,340.00 LEI

#### Vlad Laurentiu

- Researcher at the History School, University of Bucharest
- Attended the Colloquium on the history of mentalities "L'etre humain different" at the University of Blois
- · Blois, France
- Travel expenses

40,500.00 LEI

# Vomir, Marinela \*

- · Teacher of History at the "Mihai Eminescu" Highschool, Cluj
- · Scholarship at Universite du Pau, November 17—December 26, 1991, Pau, France
- Travel expenses

27,700.00 LEI

### Zirra, Ioana

- English Teacher; Assistant Lecturer at the University of Civil Engineering, Bucharest
- Attended the conference of the International Association for the Study of Anglo-Irish Literature, Leiden, Holland, July 9—13, 1991.
- · Leiden, Holland
- · Registration fee, pocket money

250.00 USD

### Zirra, Vlad Vintila

- · Institutul of Archaeology
- Participated at the 9th Congress of Celtic Studies, Paris, July 8—12, 1991.
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses Bucharest—Paris and back

22,400.00 LEI

# Law

## Ciuca, Valeriu

- · Lecturer at the Law School, University of Iasi
- · Participated at a Congress on International Law, Prague, November 1991.
- · Prague, Czechoslovakia
- Registration fee

200.00 USD

### Dina, Adriana

- Student at the Law School, Bucharest
- Participated at the "European Law Students' Association 10th Anniversary Council Meeting", March 3—10, 1991.
- Vienna, Austria
- · Registration fee, travel expenses, pocket money

285.00 USD

# Micu, Doina \*

- Lecturer at the School of Law, Cluj
- The International Institute for Human Rights Session, Strasbourg, France, June 26— July 26, 1991
- · Living expenses

## Tufa, Iuliana

- · Student at the Law School, Bucharest
- Participation at the "European Law Students' Association 10th Anniversary Meeting", Vienna, Austria, March 3—10, 1991.
- · Vienna, Austria
- · Registration fee, pocket money, travel expenses

285.00 USD

# Management

### Luta, Iulia Lavinia

- · Student at the Academy for Economic Sciences, Bucharest
- Attended the International Management Symposium, St. Gallen, May 25—29, 1991
- · St. Gallen, Switzerland
- · Travel expenses

18,960.00 LEI

### Popa, Lucian

- · Student at the Academy for Economic Studies, Bucharest
- Invited at the International Management Symposium, St. Gallen, May 27—29, 1991
- · St. Gallen, Switzerland
- · Travel expenses

15,270.00 LEI

# Mass Media

#### Arachelian, Vartan

- Journalist
- Participation at the Conference on International Broadcasting
- Budapest, Hungary
- Travel expenses Bucharest—Budapest and back, pocket money

9,485.00 LEI 655.00 USD

#### Boros, Zoltan

- TV Journalist
- · Participation at the Conference on International Broadcasting
- Budapest, Hungary
- Travel expenses, pocket money

9,485.00 LEI 250.00 USD

### Gheorghiu, Jana

- · Romanian Television
- Participation at the Conference on International Broadcasting
- · Budapest, Hungary
- · Travel expenses, pocket money

9,485.00 LEI 250.00 USD

# Gheorghiu, Mihai

- · Group for Social Dialogue
- · Participation at the VIDEO Festival
- · Oberhausen, Germany
- · Travel expenses

300.00 USD

# Ghiu, Bogdan Victor

- Journalist; Editor at the "22" Magazine, Bucharest
- Pursued Ph.D. degree at the Ecole des Hautes Etudes en Sciences Sociales, Paris thesis "East—West Intellectual Communication Channels During the Cold War", 1991
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses, living expenses

45,411.00 LEI 850.00 USD

### Nanciu, Constantin

- · Group for Social Dialogue
- · Participation at the VIDEO Festival
- Oberhausen, Germany
- Pocket money, accomodation

300.00 USD

## Oprea, Gheorghe

- Cameraman, Video GDS
- Realized a documentary film at the Congress of UMRL (Uniunea Mondiala a Romanilor Liberi—World Union of Free Romanians)
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses

13,000.00 LEI 625.00 USD

# **Mathematics**

# Balogh, Zoltan \*

- Assistant at the School of Mathematics, University of Cluj
- Graduate assistantship at the Michigan State University, USA
- · Travel expenses; installation expenses

54,600.00 LEI 2,000.00 USD

#### Basarab, Alexandru Serban

- Engineer, Mathematician; Researcher at the Mathematics Institute of the Romanian Academy
- Participation at summer courses at CIME (Centro Internazionale Matematico Estivo), session "Arithmetic Algebraic Geometry", Italy, June 23—August 3, 1991.
- · Cognola di Trento, Italy
- · Accomodation expenses

1,000.00 USD

### Bucicovschi, Bogdan

- · Mathematician at the Institute of Mathematics, Bucharest
- Ph.D. studies at the Ohio State University, Columbus, USA, 1991—1996.
- Columbus, USA
- Travel expenses, pocket money

46,010.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Bucicovschi, Orest

- · Mathematician; Mathematics Teacher
- · Pursued MS degree in Mathematics, University of Toronto
- · Toronto, Canada
- Travel expenses

91,685.00 LEI 250.00 USD

### Buiculescu, Mioara Lucia

- · Mathematician; Researcher at the Center of Mathematical Statistics
- Participated at the 1991 Saint-Flour Summer School on Probabilities, France, August 18—September 4, 1991.
- · Saint Flour, France
- Travel expenses, pocket money

34,050.00 LEI 180.00 USD

# Ciucu, Mihai Adrian \*

- · Student at the School of Mathematics, University of Cluj
- Summer Course in Mathematics, Perugia, Italy, July 28—August 28, 1991
- Pocket money

120.00 USD

#### Constantinescu, Radu

- Mathematician
- Pursues Ph.D. studies in Mathematics at the Massachussetts Institute of Technology, USA, starting with September, 1991
- Cambridge, USA
- · Travel expenses

46,020.00 LEI 300.00 USD

# Deaconu, Valentin

- · Mathematician; Researcher at the Institute for Mathematics of the Academy
- Accepted for Ph.D. studies in Mathematics at the University of Iowa, USA, starting on August 28, 1991.
- · Iowa, USA
- Travel expenses Bucharest—New York (LEI), New York—Iowa (USD); board and lodging for the first weeks at the University

55,346.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Dragomir, Anca

- Assistant professor at the University of Timisoara, Mathematics Department
- Postgraduate studies in bio-statistics, at the South Carolina University
- · USA
- Travel expenses

84,300.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Gheondea, Aurelian

- Mathematician; Research Scientist at the Institute of Mathematics of the Romanian Academy
- Participated at the Workshop on Operator Theory and Complex Analysis at the Hokkaido University in Sapporo, Japan, June 11—14, 1991.
- Travel expenses; The Institute of Mathematics reimbursed half 30,000 Lei of the airplane ticket.

60,800.00 LEI 1,354.00 USD

### Iovita, Adrian

- · Mathematician; Lecturer at the University of Bucharest, Mathematics
- Pursued Ph.D. studies in Mathematics at the Boston University, USA, August 1991— 1994.
- · Boston, USA
- Travel expenses

46,010.00 LEI 300.00 USD

# Kassay, Gabor \*

- · Lecturer at the School of Mathematics, University of Cluj
- Hungarian Operations Research Conference, October 7—9, 1991
- Esztergom, Hungary
- · Travel expenses

345.00 LEI 34.00 USD

### Luta, Gheorghe

- · Assistant professor at the University of Timisoara, Mathematics Department
- Postgraduate studies in bio-statistics, at the South Carolina University
- USA
- · Travel expenses

84,300.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Mihalache, Nicolae

- · Mathematician; Researcher at the Institute of Mathematics of the Romanian Academy
- Participated at the Mathematics Conference on Singularities in Lille, France, June 3—8, 1991.
- · Lille, France
- · Registration fee, board and lodging

300.00 USD

# Moisescu, Marius Sergiu \*

- · Graduated from the School of Mathematics, University of Cluj
- · Pursues a Ph.D. degree at Brandeis University, USA
- Waltham, USA
- Travel and installation expenses

46,000.00 LEI 1,500.00 USD

# Muresan, Marian \*

- · Lecturer at the School of Mathematics, University of Clui
- Attended the International Conference on Differential Equations, August 26—31, 1991
- Barcelona, Spain
- · Participation fee, living expenses

340.00 USD

# Mutihac, Radu

- · Physicist, Mathematician; Assistant Lecturer at the School of Physics, Bucharest
- Attended the 13th IMACS World Congress on Computation and Applied Mathematics in Dublin, Ireland, July 22—26, 1991.
- Dublin, Ireland
- · Travel expenses

33,040.00 LEI 400.00 USD

### Paraschivescu, Andrei

- Mathematician
- · Pursues Ph.D. degree at Stanford University, USA
- · Stanford, USA
- · Travel expenses

46,034.00 LEI 400.00 USD

#### Pasnicu, Cornel

- · Researcher at the Mathematics Institute of the Romanian Academy
- Scientific collaboration at the Physics Institute of Copenhagen, Denmark, August— December, 1991
- · Copenhagen, Denmark
- Travel expenses

30,920.00 LEI

### Petrescu, Steliana

- Institute of Mathematics of the Romanian Academy
- · Pursues Ph.D. studies in Mathematics at the University of Iowa, USA
- Iowa, USA
- Travel expenses, board and lodging for the first weeks

55,346.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Popescu, Gelu Fanica

- · Mathematician at the Mathematics Institute of the Romanian Academy
- · Pursued Ph.D. studies in Mathematics at A&M University, Texas, USA
- · Texas, USA
- Travel expenses, supplement for board and lodging

### Popescu, Mihai

- · Mathematician; Researcher at the Institute for Applied Mathematics of the Academy
- Participated at the 42-nd International Congress of Astronautics, October 7—11, 1991, Montreal, Canada; his paper was accepted for the proceedings.
- · Registration fee, accomodation

600.00 USD

# Popovici, Irina

- · Mathematician; "AI Cuza" University, Iasi
- Teaching assistantship for Upgrading in Mathematics at the Michigan State University, September, 1991—September, 1992
- Michigan, USA
- · Travel expenses, board and lodging for 10 days

420.00 USD

### Radu, Viorel

- Assistant professor at the University of Timisoara, Mathematics Department
- · Attended two conferences on mathematics at the York University, Canada.
- Canada
- · Travel expenses

82,000.00 LEI 286,00 USD

### Rautu, Gheorghe

- Mathematician; Researcher at the Center for Mathematical Statistics
- Participated at the 1991 Saint-Flour Summer School on Probabilities, August 18—September 4, 1991.
- · Saint-Flour, France
- Travel expenses, pocket money

34,050.00 LEI 180.00 USD

### Savu, George

- Engineer; Researcher at the Institute for Aviation, Bucharest
- Participated and presented a paper at a mini-symposium at the Pennsylvania State University and at the "3rd International Conference on Inverse Design Concepts and Optimization", October 20—27, 1991
- · Pennsylvania, USA
- Travel expenses

70,000.00 LEI 280.00 USD

### Vajiac, Bogdan Daniel

- Mathematician; Teacher of Mathematics at the "Mihai Viteazul" Highschool, Bucharest
- Postgraduate Ph.D. studies at the University of Notre-Dame, Indiana, USA, 1991— 1992, scholarship granted by the University
- Indiana, USA
- · Travel expenses

55,343.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Zaharia, Alexandru

- · Mathematician; Researcher at the Institute for Mathematics
- · Mathematics Conference on Singularities, Lille, June 3—8, 1991
- Lille, France
- · Registration fee, board and lodging

300.00 USD

#### Zimand, Marius

- Mathematician; Assistant Lecturer at the University of Bucharest, Mathematics
- Participation at the summer school in Informatics "NP-completeness: the first 20 years" in Erice, Italy, June 20—27, 1991.
- · Erice, Italy
- · Travel expenses

17,485.00 LEI

# **Natural Sciences**

## Baiulescu, George Emil

- Chemist; Professor at the University of Bucharest, School of Chemistry
- Attended the ICAS'91—International Congress on Analytical Sciences, Chiba, Japan, August 25—31, 1991.
- · Chiba, Japan
- · Travel expenses

192,913.00 LEI 1,591.00 USD

# Bora, Gheorghe \*

- · Researcher at the Research Institute for Chemical Pharmaceutics, Cluj
- Participated at the XXVII Colloquium Spectroscopicum Internationale, June 9—14, 1991
- Bergen, Norway
- Participation fee, travel and living expenses

16,500.00 LEI 480.00 USD

# Butan, Mioara \*

- · Researcher at the Research Institute for Chemical Pharmaceutics, Cluj
- Participated at the XXVII Colloquium Spectroscopicum Internationale, June 9—14, 1991
- · Bergen, Norway
- · Participation fee, travel and living expenses

16,500.00 LEI 480.00 USD

#### Catuneanu, Octavian

- · University of Bucharest, School of Geology
- Attended the first International Meeting of young Geologists, Budapest, Hungary, 1991.
- Budapest, Hungary
- · Registration fee, accomodation

169.00 USD

## Comanita, Bogdan Mihai

- · Chemist; Assistant Professor at the Polytechnic Institute, Iasi
- Pursues Ph.D. degree in Chemistry at the University of Ottawa, Canada; will also work as an Associate Lecturer to cover part of the expenses.
- Travel expenses

51,227.00 LEI 158.00 USD

#### Grigorescu, Dan Alexandru

- Geologist; Lecturer at the University of Bucharest, School of Geology
- Collaboration with the Johns Hopkins University in Baltimore, Maryland, USA, regarding the comparison if the Late Cretaceous dinosaur fauna from Romania with North-American similar faunas, July—September, 1991.
- Baltimore, USA
- Travel expenses

59,119.00 LEI 1,000.00 USD

# Gyenge, Elod \*

- Assistant at the School of Chemistry, University of Cluj
- · Graduate assistantship at University of British Columbia
- · Vancouver, Canada
- · Travel and installation expenses

1,400.00 USD

#### Leca, Minodora

- Assistant Professor at the University of Bucharest, Chemistry
- Participated at the IACIS—Symposium/Event 439 of the EFCE with the paper "Cataphoretically Applicable Film-forming Disperse Systems", October 14—16, 1991
- · Valdhoven, Holland
- Registration fee

436.00 USD

### Lupulescu, Marian

- · Lecturer at the University of Bucharest, Mineralogy Department
- Pursued a mineralogy research in the East of China
- China
- · Travel expenses

91,261.00 LEI

# Lowy, Dan Andrei \*

- Lecturer at the University of Cluj, Chemistry Dept
- · Graduate assistantship at West Virginia University
- Morgantown, USA
- · Travel and installation expenses

90,500.00 LEI 920.00 USD

# Majdik, Kornelia \*

- Researcher at the Research Institute for Chemical Pharmaceutics, Cluj
- Attended the XXVII Colloquium Spectroscopicum Internationale, June 9—14, 1991
- · Bregen, Norway
- · Participation fee, travel and living expenses

16,500.00 LEI 480.00 USD

#### Marunteanu, Cristian

- · Geologist; Lecturer at the University of Bucharest, Geology Department
- Participated at the first International Meeting of Young Geologists in Budapest, Hungary.
- Budapest, Hungary
- · Registration fee, accomodation

216.00 USD

# Matei, Simion \*

- · Researcher at the Research Institute of Chemical Pharmaceutics, Cluj
- Participation at the XXVII Colloquium Spectroscopicum Internationale, June 9—14, 1991
- · Bergen, Norway
- Participation fee, travel and living expenses

16,500.00 LEI 480.00 USD

### Matenco, Liviu

- · Geologist; University of Bucharest, Geology Dept
- Participated at the first International Meeting of Young Geologists in Budapest, Hungary.
- Budapest, Hungary
- · Registration fee, accomodation

169.00 USD

#### Matula Dan

- Student at the University of Bucharest, School of Geology
- Attended the first International Meeting of Young Geologists, Budapest, 1991
- Budapest, Hungary
- · Travel expenses

170.00 USD

### Mocanu, Victor

- Geologist; Assistant Lecturer at the University of Bucharest, Geology
- · Attended the 7th Congress of European Societies of Geology, September 9—16, 1991
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses Bucharest—Paris and return, local transportation, registration fee
   32,628.00 LEI

100.00 USD

# Momirlan, Magdalena

- · Chemist, Ph.D.; Researcher at the Institute of Physics and Chemistry, Bucharest
- One-week research work at the Imperial College on the subject "Various Methods of Obtaining Hydrogen from Water", November 30—December 10, 1991
- · London, Great Britain
- Travel expenses, pocket money

131,220.00 LEI 50.00 USD

#### Murgu, Alexandru

- Electronics Engineer; Assistant at the School of Electronics Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- International summer semester in Physics, Mathematics and chemistry, University of Jyvaskyla, Finland, August 1—31, 1991.
- · Jyvaskyla, Finland
- · Living expenses

#### Nicolescu, Stefan

- Geologist; Assistant at the University of Cluj, Geology
- Specialization in Mineral Resources at Cambridge University, March 15—April 1, 1991
- · Cambridge, Great Britain
- Pocket money

250.00 USD

#### Opris, Ion

- · Engineer; Professor at the Institutul of Petroleum and Gas, Ploiesti
- Attended the International Seminar "Catalysts in Environmental Technology", Holland, November 19—20, 1991.
- · Maastricht, Holland
- · Registration fee

640.00 USD

### Pacurar, Alexandru \*

- Assistant at the University of Cluj, Geography Dept
- Participation fee at the 27th Congress of the International Geography Union 60.00 USD

### Penzes, Peter

- · Student at the University of Bucharest, Biology
- Pursued Ph.D. degree in Biology at the State University of New York, USA, August 1991—1994
- · New York, USA
- Pocket money

100.00 USD

# Popa, Romeo Traian

- Physicist; Researcher at the Institute of Biology, Bucharest
- Pursued a Master of Science degree in Land Resource Science (Agro-Meteorology) in Ontario, Canada, 1991.
- Ontario, Canada
- Travel expenses

232,857.00 LEI 200.00 USD

# Rakosy Tican, Lenuta \*

- Assistant Lecturer at the University of Cluj; Biology, Geology and Geography School
- 8-th International Protoplast Symposium, Uppsala, Sweden, June 16—20, 1991
- · Travel and living expenses

### Segal, Eugen

- Chemist; Professor at the University of Bucharest, Chemistry Dept
- Research and Documentation at the Catalyse Laboratory of Mamure, France, September 15—30, 1991
- · Namur, France
- Travel expenses

79,192.00 LEI

#### Stoian, Veronica

- Biologist; Lecturer at the University of Bucharest, School of Biology
- Attended the 21st annual meeting of the "European Environmental Mutagen Society" in Prague, Czechoslovakia, August 25—30, 1991; the University of Bucharest covered the travel expenses.
- · Prague, Czechoslovakia
- · Registration fee, board and lodging

300.00 USD

#### Suciu, Anca

- Student at the Facultaty of Geology, University of Bucharest
- · Participated at the 1st International Meeting of Young Geologists
- Budapest, Hungary
- · Registration fee, accomodation

157.00 USD

#### Venczel, Marton \*

- Museologist at the Museum of the Bihor District, Oradea
- Attended the 6th ordinary general meeting of the Societas Europaea Herpetologica, August 1991
- Budapest, Hungary
- · Participation fee, living expenses

770.00 USD

## Vladea, Radu Valentin

- · Chemist; Professor, Rector of the Technical University, Timisoara
- Professional contacts with the American Chemistry Society and the universities of Pittsburgh and Connecticut, USA, August 2—September 14, 1991.
- Connecticut, USA
- Travel expenses, board and lodging

3,500.00 USD

# Znamirovschi, Calin George \*

- · Graduated in 1990 from the School of Chemistry, University of Cluj
- Pursues Ph.D. degree at the Michigan State University, USA
- Travel and installation expenses

20,292.00 LEI 1,800.00 USD

# **Physics**

# Ardeleanu, Ioan \*

- · Researcher at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Attended the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- · Thessaloniki, Greece
- · Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

# Beu, Titus Adrian

- Lecturer at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- Thessaloniki, Greece
- Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

## Bratfalean, Radu \*

- Student at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the International Conference of Physics Students, August 26—31, 1991
- Wien, Austria
- Participation fee, travel expenses

2,000.00 LEI 60.00 USD

# Burzo, Emil \*

- Professor at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- Thessaloniki, Greece
- · Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

### Cherebetiu, Teofil \*

- Researcher at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- Thessaloniki, Greece
- Participation fee, living expenses

### Chirtoc, Mircea \*

- · Researcher at the Institute of Isotopic and Molecular Technology, Cluj
- Participated at the 7th International Topical Meeting on Photoacoustic and Photothermal Phenomena, August 26—30, 1991
- · Doorwerth, Holland
- · Travel and living expenses

245.00 USD

### Chirtoc, Ileana \*

- Researcher at the Institute for Isotopic and Molecular Technology, Cluj
- Attended the 12th International Mass Spectrometry Conference, August 26—30, 1991
- Amsterdam, Holland
- Travel and living expenses

442.00 USD

## Ciurchea, Decebal Radu \*

- · Assitant Lecturer at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- · Thessaloniki, Greece
- · Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

## Coldea, Speranta \*

- · Researcher at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- Thessaloniki, Greece
- Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

## Cosma, Constantin \*

- Assistant Professor at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- Thessaloniki, Greece
- Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

#### Costescu, Corneliu Iulian

- Physicist; Researcher at the Institute of Nuclear Reactors, Pitesti
- Invited at the 12th Conference of the Nuclear Society of Canada to present a research paper, Saskatoon, Canada, June 9—12, 1991
- Saskatoon, Canada
- · Travel expenses

42,000.00 LEI 900.00 USD

#### Costin, Ovidiu

- Physicist; Researcher at the Institute for Atomic Physics
- · Pursued Ph.D. studies in Statistical Physics at the University of Rutgers, USA.
- · Rutgers, USA
- · Supplement for travel expenses, pocket money

100.00 USD

## Cozar, Onuc \*

- · Professor at the School of Physics, University of Bucharest
- International Symposium in ESR Spectroscopy Applied to Chemistry, Physics and Biology, September 1—12, 1991
- Padova, Italy
- · Participation fee, pocket money

333.00 USD

## Crisan, Mircea \*

- Assistant Professor at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- "Festkorperfachtag" Symposium at the University of Graz, September 23—25, 1991
- · Graz, Austria
- · Living expenses

200.00 USD

## Crisan, Vasile \*

- · Professor at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- Thessaloniki, Greece
- Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

## Cristea, Octavian \*

- Researcher at the Institute for Gravity and Space Sciences, Cluj
- · Participation at the Eurosensors 5-th Conference, September 30—October 2, 1991
- · Rome, Italy
- · Participation fee, living expenses

920.00 USD

## Dadarlat, Nicolae \*

- · Physicist
- Participated at the 7-th International Topical meeting on Photoacoustic and Photothermal Phenomena, August 26—29, 1991
- · Doorwerth, Holland
- · Travel and living expenses

29,000.00 LEI 300.00 USD

## Daraban, Liviu \*

- Lecturer at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- Thessaloniki, Greece
- · Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

### David, Leontin \*

- · Assistant Lecturer School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- · Thessaloniki, Greece
- · Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

## Decean, Adriana Corina \*

- Researcher at the Institute of Automation Research, Cluj
- · Scholarship at "Institute National des Sciences Nucleares", France
- · Paris, France

1,000.00 USD

## Dulca, Lucian \*

- Student at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- · The International Conference of Physics Students, August 26—31, 1991
- · Wien, Austria
- Travel expenses, pocket money

4,000.00 LEI 60.00 USD

#### Dumitru, Daniela

- Physicist; Assistant Lecturer at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Physics
- Accepted as assistant lecturer at the University of Wyoming, Laramie, USA, 1991—1992. Also intends to pursue a Ph.D. title at that University.
- Laramie, USA
- Travel expenses Bucharest—New York (LEI) and New York—Denver, Laramie (USD).

91,685.00 LEI 300.00 USD

#### Fiat, Trandafir \*

- · Researcher at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- · Thessaloniki, Greece
- Participation fee, living expenses

#### Ghimculov, Adrian

- Student at the School of Physics, Bucharest University
- · Attended a course in Theoretical Physics in Alushta, May 4—19, 1991
- Alushta, Ukraine
- Pocket money

50.00 USD

#### Ionincioiu, Radu

- · Student at the Faculty of Physics, Bucharest University
- Attended a course in theoretical Physics in Alushta, May 4—19, 1991
- · Alushta, Ukraine
- · Board an lodging

50.00 USD

## Janosi, Attila \*

- · Student at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- The International Conference of Physics Students, August 26—31, 1991
- Wien, Austria
- Travel expenses, pocket money

4,200.00 LEI 60.00 USD

## Kosztin, Janos \*

- Assistant at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Teaching assistantship at the University of Illinois
- USA
- · Travel and installation expenses

1,335.00 USD

## Lorinczi, Jozsef \*

- Graduated the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Pursued a Ph.D. degree at Ecole Normale Superieur
- Paris, France
- Travel expenses

15,600.00 LEI

#### Marinescu Mircea

- Physicist at the Space Sciences and Gravitational Institute
- Invited to attend a 1 year predoctoral Ph.D. course at the Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory, Cambridge, September 30, 1991 to September 30, 1992
- Cambridge, USA
- Travel expenses, local travel expenses

90,000.00 LEI 188.00 USD

#### Morosan, Florinel

- · Physicist, Engineer; Researcher at the Institute for Nuclear Research
- Pursued Ph.D. studies at the Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, USA; personal
  expenses are covered by a "Graduate Research Assistantship" offered by the Institute.
- · Atlanta, Georgia, USA
- · Travel expenses Bucharest—New York (LEI), New York—Atlanta (USD) and back.

46,014.00 LEI

764.00 USD

## Neda, Zoltan \*

- · Assistant Lecturer at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- First General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- · Thessaloniki, Greece
- · Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

### Pirjol, Dan

- · Student at the School of Physics, University of Bucharest
- · Attended a course in Theoretical Physics in Alustha, May 4-19, 1991
- · Alushta, Ukraine
- Living expenses

50.00 USD

#### Podoleanu, Adrian

- Engineer; Professor at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Electronics
- Attended the "Laser M2P Conference" in Grenoble, France, July 9—11, 1991.
- · Registration fee, board and lodging

600.00 USD

## Pop, Viorel \*

- Researcher at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Participated at the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- Thessaloniki, Greece
- Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

## Popescu, Voicu \*

- Student at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- · Attended the International Conference of Physics Students, August 26-31, 1991
- Wien, Austria
- Travel expenses, pocket money

4,000.00 LEI 60.00 USD

## Popoviciu, Ciprian \*

- · Attended the International Conference of Physics Students, August 26—31, 1991
- Wien, Austria
- Travel expenses, pocket money

4,000.00 LEI 60.00 USD

### Simon, Simion \*

- · Assistant Professor at the School of Physics, University of Clui
- Attended the first General Conference of the Balkan Physical Union, September 26—28, 1991
- · Thessaloniki, Greece
- · Participation fee, living expenses

205.00 USD

#### Stefanel, Radu

- Physicist
- Pursues Ph.D. studies in Physics at the Witwatersarnd University in Johannesburg, South Africa, for 5 years, starting August 1, 1991.
- · Johannesburg, South Africa
- Travel expenses Vienna—Johannesburg

2,100.00 USD

## Strugar, Doina \*

- · Lecturer at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- International Symposium on Recent Advances in ESR Spectroscopies, September 8—12, 1991
- · Padova, Italy
- Participation fee, living expenses

320.00 USD

#### Todor, Luminita

- Attended the Summer School on Numerical Techniques and Parallelisms in Physics, Prague, September 10—20, 1991
- · Prague, Czechoslovakia
- Registration fee, board and lodging

375.00 USD

#### Topor Pop, Vasile

- · Physicist; Researcher at the Institute for Atomic Physics
- Attended the International Conference on Nucleus Collisions, Japan, June 9—16, 1991
- Kanazawa, Japan
- Participation fee (partial), travel expenses

## Toroczkai, Zoltan \*

- · Student at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- The International Conference of Physics Students, August 26—31, 1991
- · Wien, Austria
- · Travel expenses, pocket money

4,000.00 LEI 60.00 USD

## Trif, Eleonora Gheorghina \*

- · Researcher at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- International Symposium on Recent Advances in ESR Spectroscopies, September 8—12, 1991
- Padova, Italy
- · Participation fee, living expenses

320.00 USD

#### Tudose, Bogdan

- · Physicist; Researcher at the Institute of Gravity and Space Sciences
- Pursues Ph.D. degree in Physics at Bloomington University, USA, for 3-5 years, starting in August, 1991.
- · Bloomington, USA
- Travel expenses

55,375.00 LEI 190.00 USD

## Vancea, Vasile Ion \*

- Student at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- Attended the International Conference of Physics Students, August 26—31, 1991
- Wien, Austria
- Travel expenses, pocket money

4,000.00 LEI 60.00 USD

## Veres, Teodor \*

- · Assistant at the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- · Pursues Ph.D. degree at Louis Meel Laboratory
- Grenoble, France
- Travel and installation expenses

1,460.00 USD

#### Vernes, Andras \*

- · Assistant Lecturer at the University of Cluj, Physics School
- Participation at the 10-th International Conference on Solid Compounds of Transition Elements, May 21—25, 1991
- · Munster, Germany
- Living expenses

## Znamirovschi, Vladimir \*

- · Professor at the School of Physics, University of Clui
- Participated at the International Symposium on Recent Advances in ESR Spectroscopies, September 8—12, 1991
- · Padova, Italy
- · Participation fee, living expenses

320.00 USD

## Social Sciences

## Aluas, Ion

- Professor at the University of Cluj, Sociology Dept
- · Study tour at the Sociological Association, Belgium
- · Travel and living expenses

500.00 USD

#### Anghel, Anca

- · Engineer; Researcher at the Institute for Quality of Life, Bucharest
- Invited at the University of Calabria, for a 21-day course in using the SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) computer programs for public opinion polls and sociological research, May, 1991
- · Calabria, Italy
- Travel expenses, documentation

460.00 USD

#### Campeanu, Pavel

- Sociologist; Director of the Independent Center for Social Studies
- Invited by the "Ecole de Hautes Etudes en Sciences Sociales", Paris, to attend a seminar, February 16—March 31, 1991
- · Paris, France
- · Airfare, Bucharest—Paris and return

25,829.00 LEI

### Ciplea, Lia

- Philologist; Librarian at the Library of the Romanian Academy, Bucharest
- Participation at the "Les droits culturels, une categorie sous-developpee de droits de l'homme", University of Fribourg, November 28—30, 1991
- · Fribourg, Switzerland
- Travel expenses

101,520.00 LEI 100.00 USD

#### Czobor, Teodor

- · Engineer; Researcher at the Institute for Quality of Life, Bucharest
- Invited with Anca Anghel at the University of Calabria, for a 21-day course in using the SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) computer programs for public opinion polls and sociological research, May 1991
- · Calabria, Italy
- · Travel expenses, documentation

460.00 USD

### Deac, Ion \*

- Teacher of History and Philosophy
- Participation at the summer school of the University of Aix-en-Provence, France-seminar "Europe et Liberte", September 22—28, 1991
- · Aix-en-Provence, France
- · Living expenses

200.00 USD

## Havadi, Nagy David \*

- Teacher of Philosophy
- Conference on Market Economy, IHS Europe, France, August 26—31, 1991
- · Travel and living expenses

15,000.00 LEI 170.00 USD

#### Ioncioaia, Florea

- Historian; Historian at the "AD Xenopol" Institute, Iasi
- Participation at "Formation Culturelle Projest Politique, et Finalite Pragmatique—le Cas des Quaranthuidards Roumains", October 1991—June, 1993
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses Bucharest—Paris and return, books

105,000.00 LEI 100.00 USD

## Kantor, Irina Ana \*

- · Museologist; The Ethnographic Museum of Transylvania, Cluj
- International Seminar "Europe et Liberte", September 22—28, 1991
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses

25,000.00 LEI

#### Kivu, Mircea

- · Sociologist; The Institute for Marketing and Public Opinion Polls
- · DEA in Political Sociology at the Paris University
- · Paris, France
- Pocket money

#### Miroiu, Mihaela

- · Philosopher; Teacher at the "AI Cuza" Highschool, Bucharest
- Attended the Conference of the "Institute for the Advancement of Philosophy for Children", Montclair, New Jersey, USA, May 17—31, 1991.
- · Montclair, USA
- The Soros Foundation and the "Humanitas" Publishing House covered travel expenses

41,787.00 LEI

## Moldoveanu, Georgeta

- · "Humanitas" Publishing House
- · Participation at the seminar "The East Meets the West"
- · Berlin, Germany
- · Pocket money

50.00 USD

### Oprescu, Dan

- Journalist; Group for Social Dialogue
- Invited as Senior Associate Member at St. Anthony's College
- Oxford, Great Britain
- · Travel expenses

10,120.00 LEI

#### Plesu, Catrinel

- Historian; Institute of History
- Invited by the "Ecole de Hautes Etudes Sociales"
- · Paris, France
- Travel expenses

25,829.00 LEI

#### Rachita, Doina

- Economist; Researcher at the National Economics Institute
- Attended the meeting of the International Society for Individual Liberty, Copenhagen, August 19—24, 1991
- Copenhagen, Denmark
- · Registration fee, accomodation, travel expenses

25,000.00 LEI 450.00 USD

## Ratiu, Dan Eugen \*

- · Assistant Lecturer at the University of Cluj, Philosophy Dept
- Attended the Conference "Justice Sociale et Economie de Marche", August 26—31, 1991
- · Aix-en-Provence, France
- · Living expenses

#### Spircu, Tiberiu

- Mathematician; Institute of Mathematics of the Romanian Academy, Bucharest
- Participation at the international conference "Participation and Changing Property Relation and Control in Eastern Countries"
- · Brussels, Belgium
- · Travel expenses, pocket money

300.00 USD

#### Stefanescu, Doina Olga

- · Philosopher; Teacher at the "IL Caragiale" Highschool, Bucharest
- Attended the Conference of the "Institute for the Advancement of Philosophy for Children", Montclair, New Jersey, USA, May 17—31, 1991.
- Montclair, USA
- The Soros Foundation and the "Humanitas" Publishing House covered travel expenses

41,787.00 LEI

#### Tiberiu, Sandu

- · Economist; Corespondent for the "Opinia Studenteasca" Magazine, Iasi
- Attended the "Liberty and Society" Seminar, Budapest, Hungary, August 18—24, 1991.
- · Budapest, Hungary
- · Travel expenses, pocket money

34,000.00 LEI 500.00 USD

## **Technical Sciences**

#### Alexandru, Adriana

- Engineer; Head of Department at the Institute for Computer Science, Bucharest
- Participation at the "Parallel Computing" Symposium at Trani, Italy, September 10—13, 1991.
- · Trani, Italy
- Registration fee, board and lodging; the Institute for Computer Science supported travel expenses

720.00 USD

## Almasi, Gheorghe \*

- Graduated from the Polytechnic Institute of Cluj
- Research assistantship at West Virginia University
- · Morgantown, USA
- · Travel and installation expenses

52,000.00 LEI 1,008.00 USD

#### Beiu, Valeriu

- Engineer; Assistant Professor at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- Participation at the International Conference on Artificial Neural Networks ICANN'91, Helsinki, Finland, June 24—28, 1991.
- · Helsinki, Finland
- · Registration fee, accomodation, other expenses

900.00 USD

#### Biriescu, Marius

- · Technical University of Timisoara
- Participation at the SM'100—International Conference on the Evolution and Modern Aspects of Synchronous Machines, Zurich, Switzerland, August 27—29, 1991.
- Zurich, Switzerland
- · Registration fee, part of the accomodation expenses, board and lodging

413.00 USD

#### Cazacliu, Grigore Bogdan

- · Civil Engineer; Assistant at the Institute of Civil Engineering, Bucharest
- DEA—Ecole Nationale de Travaux Publics de l'Etat 1990—1991
- Pocket money

900.00 USD

#### Chiorescu, Cristian Mircea

- Engineer; Assistant Lecturer at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- Attended the OPTI-91 International Conference on Computer Aided Optimum Design of Structures, Boston, USA, June 25—27, 1991
- Boston, USA
- Travel expenses Bucharest—New York (LEI), New York—Boston (USD) and return 50,575.00 LEI

200.00 USD

#### Cizmas, Paul Gheorghe Adrian

- Engineer; Assistant Lecturer at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Aeronautics
- Attended the OPTI-91, International Conference on Computer-Aided Optimum Design of Structures, Boston, USA, June 25—27, 1991
- Boston, USA
- Travel expenses Bucharest—New York (LEI), New York—Boston (USD) and return 50,581.00 LEI

#### Costian, Calin Radu

- Mathematician; Graduate from the University of Bucharest
- Pursues Ph.D. studies in Computer Science at the Purdue University in West Lafayette, Indiana, USA, August 1991—1996
- · West Lafayette, USA
- · Travel expenses Bucharest—Chicago, Chicago—West Lafayette.

55,346.00 LEI 25.00 USD

#### Crutescu, Mircea

- Engineer; Computer Manager at Metropol, SRL
- Scholarship in Management, Paris, France, 1991—1992.
- · Paris, France
- Scholarship supplement

1,200.00 USD

### Curiac, Grigore Paul

- Engineer; Researcher at the ICSITEE Institute, Bucharest
- Participation at the SM'100 International Conference on the Evolution and Modern Aspects of Synchronous Machines, Zurich, Switzerland, August 27—29, 1991.
- · Zurich, Switzerland
- Registration fee, accomodation

494.00 USD

#### Dancila, Dragos Stefan

- Engineer; Researcher, Associate Lecturer at the Polytechnic Institute, Bucharest, Automation Dept.
- Pursued Ph.D. studies in Aeronautics at the Institute of Technology, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, starting with September 23, 1991.
- Atlanta, USA
- Travel expenses Bucharest—New York (LEI), New York—Atlanta (USD)

91,658.00 LEI

115.00 USD

## Filipescu, Radu

- Registration fees and travel expenses for attending the "Brussels International Trade Fair"; Radu Filipescu won the gold medal at the contest.
- · Brussels, Belgium
- Travel expenses, registration fee

100,000.00 LEI 2,500.00 USD

#### Florea, Adina Magda

- Engineer; Lecturer at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- Attended upgrading studies in French Language for Technical Sciences at the "Jean Monet" University in Saint Etienne, France, September 1—October 1, 1991
- · Saint Etienne, France
- Travel expenses

34,023.00 LEI 120.00 USD

#### Georgescu, Cristian

- Engineer; Designer at AUTOMATICA, Bucharest
- · Was invited by the Thames Polytechnic to join a research project for one year
- · London, Great Britain
- Travel and living expenses

1,800.00 USD

#### Georgescu, Sorin Marian

- Engineer; Professor at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Automation
- Participated at the International Workshop on "Parallel Computing", Monastry of Colonna in Trani, Italy, September 10—13, 1991.
- Trani, Italy
- Registration fee, board and lodging

800.00 USD

#### Guica, Constantin

- Engineer; Researcher at the Institute for Computer Science, Bucharest
- Participation at the DECUS-91 Europe Symposium on Computer Science, Hague, Denmark to present the paper "Using Artificial Intelligence for Training Simulators"; visit to the show of computers and applications at Digital Equipment Corporation, Hague, August, 1991.
- · Hague, Denmark
- Registration fee, accomodation

750.00 USD

#### Iordache Mihai

- Lecturer at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Department of Electrical Engineering
- Participated at the "International Conference on the Evolution and Modern Aspects of Synchronous Machines", Zurich, August 25-30, 1991
- · Zurich, Switzerland
- Travel expenses, lodging

15,000.00 LEI 200.00 USD

## Kelemen, Arpad \*

- Engineer; Dean of the Electrical Engineering School, Polytechnic Institute, Cluj
- Participation at the SM'100 International Conference of the Evolution and Modern Aspects of Synchronous Machines, Zurich, Switzerland, August 27—29, 1991
- Participation fee, living expenses

525.00 USD

#### Marin, Ovidiu

- Engineer; Assistant at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- Pursues Ph.D. studies at the University of Illinois, USA, 1991—1995.
- Illinois, USA
- · Travel expenses

55,330.00 LEI

#### Mihaila, Mihai

- Engineer; Researcher at ICCE, Bucharest
- Participated at the International Conference on Fluctuations in Physical Systems, November 21—December 2, 1991, Kyoto
- Part of travel expenses Bucharest—Zurich—Tokyo

33,891.00 LEI 1,300.00 USD

#### Mihalache, Adrian

- Engineer; Lecturer at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Electronics
- Attended upgrading studies at the Centre for Software Reliability of the City University, London, United Kingdom, May 6—June 11, 1991.
- · London, Great Britain
- · Living expenses

600.00 USD

#### Munteanu, Irina

- Engineer; Assistant at the Polytechnic Institute, Electrical Engineering
- Attended the International Conference on Computer Aided Engineering Education in Prague, Czechoslovakia, September 3—9, 1991
- Prague, Czechoslovakia
- · Registration fee, board and lodging

345.00 USD

## Muste, Marian \*

- Assistant Professor at the Polytechnic Institute of Cluj, Civil Engineering
- · Pursued a Ph.D. degree at the University of Iowa
- · Iowa, USA

#### Negulescu, Radu

- Engineer
- Pursues Master of Science Studies in Electrical Engineering at the "School of Electrical Engineering Office of Graduate Affairs", Atlanta, Georgia, USA
- · Travel expenses

9,200.00 LEI 50.00 USD

## Plesea, Lucian

- Engineer
- Attended the "Real Time '91" Conference, short course and seminar, at the Research Center in Julich, Germany, June 23—28, 1991.
- · Julich, Germany
- Registration fee, accomodation and other expenses

550.00 USD

#### Plosceanu, Barbu

- · Engineer; Assistant Professor at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Mechanics
- Attended the 8-th World Congress on Mechanisms and Machines' Theory in Prague, Czechoslovakia, August 25—31, 1991.
- Prague, Czechoslovakia
- Board and lodging

250.00 USD

#### Popescu, Dana Georgeta

- Engineer; Graduated from the Polytechnic of Bucharest, Electrical Engineering
- Participation at the SM'100 International Conference on the "Evolution and Modern Aspects of Synchronous Machines" with a paper—"Heating Rotor Measurement at Large Synchronous Machines", in Zurich, Switzerland, August 27—29, 1991.
- · Zurich, Switzerland
- Registration fee, board and lodging

14,754.00 LEI 494.00 USD

#### Popovici, Daniel

- Student at the Polytechnic Institute Of Bucharest
- Attended the "Relectronic '91" International Symposium on Reliability, Budapest, Hungary, August 26—30, 1991.
- · Budapest, Hungary
- Board and lodging

#### Sima, Danut

- Mathematician at the Institute for Applied Mathematics
- Pursues a Ph.D. degree in Aerospace Engineering at the Mineapolis University in the USA, August, 1991—July, 1994.
- · Minneapolis, USA
- · One-way travel expenses, mathematical books

55,328.00 LEI 150.00 USD

#### Stiharu Alexe, Ilie

- Engineer; Assistant Professor at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- Participation at the American Control Conference 1991, Boston, USA, June 26—28, 1991
- · Boston, USA
- · Travel expenses Bucharest—New York—Boston and return

68,017.00 LEI 450.00 USD

#### Szekely, Csaba

- Physicist; Researcher at the Institute for Atomic Physics, Bucharest
- · Participated at the "Fifth European Frequency and Time Forum", Besancon, France
- Besancon, France
- Pocket money, documentation

96.00 USD

#### Serban Vasile

- Lecturer at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- Invited by the Ohio State University, Columbus, for a one year study period, between November 1991 - October 1992
- · Columbus, USA
- Travel expenses, pocket money

180,930.00 LEI 400.00 USD

#### Talpasanu, Ilie

- Engineer; Assistant Lecturer at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Mechanics
- Participated at the International Conference "Modeling and Simulation", New Orleans, USA in October 28—30, 1991.
- · New Orleans, USA
- Travel expenses

62,058.00 LEI 578.00 USD

#### Toma, Eugen Cristian

- Assistant at the Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest
- Participation at the Symposium "Intelligent Robotic Systems", Boston, USA, November 10—15, 1991
- · Travel expenses

74,874.00 LEI 150.00 USD

#### Trifa, Dan \*

- · Assistant Professor at the Polytechnic Institute of Cluj
- Participated at the 4th European Conference on Power Electronics, Firenze, Italy, September 3—6, 1991
- · Participation fee, living expenses

935.00 USD

## Miscellaneous

#### Andrucovici, Vasile

- · Writer, Philosopher
- Study trip to different Yoga schools in India (Delhi, Calcutta, Madras and Trivandrum); was invited by the International Sivananda Yoga Vedanta center in India
- India
- · Travel expenses

310,000.00 LEI 370.00 USD

#### Anton, Marian Florin

Test fee at the University of Michigan, USA

15.00 USD

#### Avramescu, Marian Catalin

- · Philosopher; Ministry of Foreign Affairs
- Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests; application fees for Cornell, Johns Hopkins and Princeton Universities

279.00 USD

## Balazs, Marton Erno \*

- · Engineer; Researcher at the Institute of Computer Science, Cluj
- · Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests

#### Brighidau, Magda

- Journalist
- Magda Brighidau, Anca Munteanu and Pavel Constantin participated at "Entrez dans la Legende" as press correspondents
- · Paris, France
- · Living expenses

100.00 USD

## Buchwald, Peter \*

- · Graduated from the School of Physics, University of Cluj
- · Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests

132.00 USD

## Chifu, Alexandru Florin \*

- · Researcher at the Institute of Isotopic and Molecular Technology, Cluj
- · Fees for TOEFL test

75.00 USD

## Ciucu, Mihai Adrian \*

- · Student at the School of Mathematics, University of Cluj
- Fees for TOEFL test and participation supplement

248.00 USD

#### Coman, Dan \*

- · Assistant at the School of Mathematics, University of Cluj
- · Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests

252.00 USD

#### Craciun, Radu \*

- · Assistant at the School of Chemistry, University of Cluj
- Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests

150.00 USD

#### Dogariu Arthur

- Physicist
- · Graduated the Physics School of the Bucharest University in 1991
- · GRE fees

108.00 USD

#### Farcas, Mihai

- Physicist
- Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests to be admitted at Notre Dame University in the USA, 1992

## Farkas, Tivadar \*

- · Assistant at the University of Cluj, Chemistry Dept
- · Fees for TOEFL test

136.00 USD

#### Ganea, Mihai

- Student at the University of Bucharest, Philosophy Department
- · Fees for GRE, TSE and TOEFL tests

156.00 USD

## Henegariu, Octavian Ioan \*

- Physician; Assistant at the Institute of Medicine and Pharmacy, Cluj
- Fees for TOEFL, TSE and GRE tests

240.00 USD

## Lenart, Cristian \*

- · Assistant at the School of Mathematics, University of Cluj
- Fees for GRE test

68.00 USD

## Lupsan, Adrian Adela \*

- · Researcher at the Institute of Isotopic and Molecular Technology, Cluj
- · Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests

114.00 USD

#### Marchis, Ioan Justin

- Minister, "Cheia" Monastery @DETAILS = Ecumenical contacts and pilgrimage to monasteries of USA and Canada
- · USA; Canada
- Travel expenses

76,839.00 LEI

### Muntean, Cristina \*

- · Researcher at the Institute of Isotopic and Molecular Technology, Cluj
- · Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests

120.00 USD

#### Munteanu, Anca

- Iournalist
- · Participated at the "Entrez dans la Legende" as press correspondent
- · Paris, France
- Living expenses

### Murea, Cornel Marius

- Student at the University of Bucharest, Mathematics Dept
- · Fees for TOEFL, GRE and TSE tests; application fee at Warwick University
- · Test fees, application fee

260.00 USD

## Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela \*

- Biologist at the Laboratory of Electronic Microscopy, Cluj
- Fees for TOEFL test

168.00 USD

## Opincariu, Nicolae George \*

- · Physician at the Emergency Station, Cluj
- · FMGEMS examination fee

275.00 USD

#### Parvu, Emanuel

- · Photographer; "22" Newspaper, Bucharest
- Subscriptions to specialized magazines: American Photo, National Geographic
   67.10 USD

### Pavel, Constantin

- · Journalist; "Adevarul" Newspaper, Bucharest
- · Participated at the "Entrez dans la Legende" as press corespondent
- · Paris, France
- · Living expenses

100.00 USD

#### Peltecu, Gheorghe

- · Physician; Filantropia hospital, Bucharest
- · Membership fee at the European Surgical Society

111.79 USD

### Ponta, Adrian \*

- Head of the Foreign Relations Dept at the University of Cluj
- Conference of University Offices for International Relations, October 29—30, 1991
- Tubingen, Germany
- Living expenses

351.00 USD

#### Racz, Csaba \*

- Assistant at the School of Chemistry, University of Cluj
- · Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests

## Tatar, Mugur Marius \*

- · Assistant at the Polytechnic Institute of Cluj, Computer Science Dept
- · Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests

162.00 USD

## Valasutean, Septimiu \*

- · Student at the Polytechnic Institute of Cluj, TCM
- · Fees for TOEFL test

50.00 USD

## Vancea, Alexandru Ioan \*

- · Assistant at the University of Cluj, Information Science
- · Fees for TOEFL and GRE tests

240.00 USD

### Vass, Denes \*

- Physicist; INFOPRESS Publishing House, Odorhei
- · Attended a training course in the trade of printing
- · Middlesex, United Kingdom
- Travel expenses

33,040.00 LEI

# **Budget Sheet**

The following table contains the balance of contributions and expenses during the reported period (1990-1991), in USD - equivalent. The LEI/USD rate used is the average exchange rate during this period, namely 238.186 LEI/USD.

Final Cash + Bank Account	52,414.99
Total Operating Expenses:	-124,269,26
Total Grants Paid:	-1,299,616.16
Total Budget:	1,476,300.41
Initial Cash + Bank account:	0.00

A breakdown of contributions, grants and operating expenses of the Soros Foundation for an Open Society - Romania, in 1991 and 1992 is given on the following pages.

The first two columns of the table contain contributions transferred into the account of Soros Foundation - Romania and expenses made from Romania.

The third column contains the transfers to Romania and the expenses made directly from Open Society Fund, Inc. - NY (OSF - NY) on behalf of the Romanian Foundation. The fourth column contains the payments made directly by Mihai Eminescu Trust - London, on behalf of the Romanian Foundation.

## 1990

				I
Initial balance	0.00	0.00		
CONTRIBUTIONS	USD	LEI	Paid by OSF NY in USD	Paid by M. Eminescu Trust in USD
Contributions from OSF NY	135,000.00		135,000.00	
(Changed to lei)				
Contributions to grants		3,468,000.00		
Other income (bank interest)		19,657.00		
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS	135,000.00	3,487,657.00	135,000.00	
GRANTS PAID				
Education Programs:	500.00	201,420.00	21,254.68	38,211.00
_ CEU Programs		<del>-</del>	. ——	
_ English Language		183,620.00	***	30,042.00
_ Other fields		17,800.00	21,254.68	8,169.00
_ Miscellaneous Programs	<b></b>			
_ East - East Programs	500.00			<b></b> -
Mass Media Programs	632.00			
Foreign Experts			1,429.40	
Conferences& miscell.		-4	AN USE COL	
Equipment Grants	19,000.00	261,195.00	74,723.54	1,050.00

p				
Open prog.& travel grants	7,853.00	1,082,249.00	660.00	
TOTAL GRANTS PAID	27,985.00	1,544,864.00	98,067.62	39,261.00
OPERATING EXPENSES	USD	LEI	Paid by OSF NY in USD	Paid by M. Eminescu Trust in USD
Salaries, including taxes	4,700.00	465,074.00		
Office equipment and furniture		800.00	1,854.00	
Secretarial services, office supplies, transport, etc.	1226.59	142,799.20	416.00	
Postage & phone		<b>28,5</b> 06.30		
Rent & utilities	<del></del>	5,000.00		
Programs advertising		43,095.00		
Bank charges	385.90	24.00		
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES	6,312.49	685,298.50	2,270.00	
INITIAL BALANCE	0.00	0.00		
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS	135,000.00	3,487,657.00	135,000.00	
TOTAL GRANTS + EXPENSES	34,297.49	2,230,162.50	100,337.62	39,261.00
END-OF-YEAR BALANCE (CASH+BANK ACCOUNT)	100,702.51	1,257,494.50		

## 1991

Initial balance	100,702.51	1,257,494.50		
CONTRIBUTIONS	USD	LEI	Paid by OSF NY in USD	Paid by M. Eminescu Trust in USD
Contributions from OSF NY	600,000.00		600,000.00	
(Changed to lei)	( -181,171.53)	43,152,525.00		
Contributions to grants	25,139.50	3,278,645.00	16,736.00	
Other income (bank interest)	1,705.03	29,409.00		
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS	445,673.00	46,460,579.00	616,736.00	
GRANTS PAID				
Education Programs:	56,091.82	7,621,237.35	168,972.54	47,057.00
_ CEU Programs	3,712.50	831,608.95		
_ English Language	26,132.04	3,941,790.25	17,980.88	47,057.00
_ Other fields	21,482.93	828,021.00	150,991.66	
_ Miscellaneous Programs	2,576.35	81,848.15		
East - East Programs	2,188.00	1,937,969.00		
Mass Media Programs	15,485.00	4,391,729.50	827.00	
Foreign Experts	1,095.33	139,209.00	874.41	
Conferences& miscell.	4,975.00	873,214.00	3,500.00	
Equipment Grants	112,444.38	425,696.00	281,202.26	

Open prog.& travel grants	260,528.41	19,752,864.46	35,360.00	
TOTAL GRANTS PAID	450,619.94	33,203,950.31	490,736.21	47,057.00
OPERATING EXPENSES	USD	LEI	Paid by OSF NY in USD	Paid by M. Eminescu Trust in USD
Salaries, including taxes	9,135.00	3,260,274.00		
Office equipment and furniture	7,468.71	2,277,677.00	341.89	
Secretarial services, office supplies, transport, etc.	17,977.05	3,702,620.59	8,191.06	
Postage & phone	3,578.00	765,532.40		
Rent & utilities	7,924.00	200,523.00		W- 20- AA
Programs advertising	215.00	2,405,938.50		
Bank charges	3,452.83	374,792.00		
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES	49,750.59	12,987,347.49	8,532.95	
INITIAL FUND BALLANCE	100,702.51	1,257,494.50		
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS	445,673.00	46,460,579.00	616,736.00	
TOTAL GRANTS + EXPENSES	500,370.53	46,191,297.80	499,269.16	47,057.00
END-OF-YEAR BALANCE (CASH+BANK ACCOUNT)	46,004.98	1,526,775.70		

# **Grants Index**

"15 Noiembrie" Brasov	53	"Timisoara" Society, Timisoara 54
"22" Magazine, Bucharest	53	"Z" Magazine
"After Midsummer" Conference, Balvanyos *	87	Adam, Ema
"Agora" Magazine, Ciuj	53	Adarov, Adina
"Analog" Publishing House, Oradea	55	Albu, Anda
"Art" Group, Bucharest	82	Albu, Gabriela
"Atlart"	75	Alexandru, Adriana
"BEST" Students Group	88	Almasi, Gheorghe *
"C.Negruzzi" Highschool, lasi	80	Aluas, Ion*
"Cuvintul" Magazine, Bucharest	53	Amuraritei, Constanta
"Cvartetul Translivan", Cluj *	75	Andreescu, Elena
"DAKINO" Film Group	76	Andreescu, Gabriel 93
"Dom Polski"	84	Andreescu, Stefan
"Engedetlen Egyetem" ("Summer Seminar") $^*$	89	Andrei, Luminita
"Expres" Magazine, Bucharest	53	Andrucovici, Vasile
"Formula AS" Magazine, Bucharest	53	Anghel, Anca
"George Enescu" Highschool , Bucharest	76	Anghel, Violeta
"Gheorghe Murgoci" High School, Braila	82	Antal, Carmen
"Ghiocelul" - Association	81	Anton, Marian Florin ,
"Helikon" Magazine, Cluj	54	Apostol, Gabriela
"Humanitas" Publishing House, Bucharest	54	Arachelian, Vartan
"Humanitas" Publishing House, Bucharest	84	Architects' Union of Romania, Bucharest 75
"Ion Mincu" Institute of Architecture	77	Ardeleanu, Doina-Magdalena 31
"JELENLET" Publishing House, Ciuj *	55	Ardeleanu, Ioan *
"Junimea Muzicala" Association, Bucharest	82	Ardevan, Radu *
"Junimea Muzicala", Romania	77	Arjoca, Ersinia
"Medium-2" Group, Stintu Gheorghe	82	Association of Romanian Sociologists 82
"Music Highschooi", Cluj *	78	Association of Sociologists, Romania 87
"Nu" Magazine, Cluj	53	Atanasiu, Isabela
"Oeconomica" Magazine - IRLI	53	Avram, Sever-Mircea
"Opinia Studenteasca" Magazine, lasi	54	Avramescu, Marian Catalin
"Orizont" Magazine, Timisoara	54	Axinte, Adrian Sorin 40
"Power and Opposition" Conference, Timisoard	a 87	Baba, Cristina
"Pro Europe" League, Tirgu Mures $^*$	55	Baban, Adriana *
"Pro-Democratia"	89	Badescu, Gabriel Horia
"Profit International" Romania, Bucharest	83	Badulescu, Anca
"Romania libera" Newspaper, Bucharest	54	Baiulescu, George Emil
"Romania literara", Bucharest	54	Bakk-David, Eniko
"Sahaja Yoga" Association, Bucharest	82	Balasiu, Vanda
"\$fintu \$ava" High \$chool, Bucharest	82	Balazs, Marton Erno *
"Sflnx Pro", Bucharest	54	Balin, Alexandru

Ballo, Aron	45	Broos, Monica	
Balogh, Zoltan *		Bucataru, Doru	
Banhegyessi, Csaba Zoltan		Buchwald, Peter *	
Bansolu, Nelu		Buckovschi, Bogdan	
Barabas, Julia *	111	Buclcovschi, Orest	130
Barabula, Marinela	31	Buduca, loan	77
Barac, George	30	Bulculescu, Mioara Lucia	130
Barac, Nicoleta	, 31	Buligescu, Dimitrie Lucian	112
Barany, Iuliana	30	Bura, Antoaneta	45
Barbu, Lucica	31	Burchesiu, Mona	31
Barbu, Nicolae	46	Burzo, Emil *	. , 141
Barna, Violeta	30	Busuloc, Dragos	108
Basarab, Alexandru Serban	130	Butan, Mioara *	136
Beciu, Camelia	46	Cala, Simona Smarandita	110
Belu, Valeriu	153	Calboreanu, Alexandru	39
Beldiman, Alexandru	97	Calin, Doina-Florina	45
Bell, Viviana	45	Calinescu, Florin	97
Bercaru, Violeta	31	Campeanu, Liliana	31
Berceanu, Barbu		Campeanu, Pavel	149
Bereczki, Mariana		Cara, Mihaela	
Berindei, Mihnea	87	Catuneanu, Octavian	
Beu, Titus Adrian *		Cazacliu, Grigore Bogdan	
Bichis, Eugenia-Carmen		Cazan, Manuela	
Bina, Vlad		Ceapa, Alexandru	
Biriescu, Marius		Ceserean, Ruxandra	
Bitea, Angela		Ceuca, Sorana	
Blindu, Blindu.		Chelariu, Dolores	
Bloeca, Victor		Chemistry Department of the EMT $^{st}$	
Bloos, Magda-Lla		Cherebetiu, Teofil *	
Bogdan, Eleonora		Chiaburu, Georgeta	
Bogdan, Violeta		Chifu, Alexandru Florin *	
Boiangiu, Aura.		Chimirea, Daniela	
Boisteanu Daniela		Chiorescu, Cristian Mircea	153
Bojan, Maria		Chirca, Simona-Ionuta	
Bojan, Raluca		Chirea, Adina	
Bontila, Maria		Chiriac, Andreea-Cristina	
Bora, Gheorghe *		Chiriac, Doina-Catalina	
Bordea, Cristina		Chirolu, Germina-Ana	
Boros, Zoltan	128	Chirtoc, Ileana *	
Borsa, Rodica-Corina	34	Chirtoc, Mircea *	142
Borta, Elena	30	Chitau, Ana	
Botezatu, D		Clocan, Eugen	
Botezatu, Rodica	31	Clontea, Anca	34
Botorog, Emilia Aurora	108	Cipaianu, Gheorghe *	
Braga, Corin		Ciplea, Lia	
Bran-Voiculescu, Aurora		Ciuca, Valeriu	
Bratfalean, Radu *		Cluchi, Carmen	
Brenda Walker		Cluciuc, Olea	
Brescan, Cristina		Clucu, Mihai Adrian *	
Brighidau, Magda		Clucu, Mihai Adrian *	

Ciurchea, Decebal Radu *	. 142	Csiszer, Maria	34
Clurea, Violeta	. 31	Cucu, Maria-Elisabeta	31
Cizmas, Paul Gheorghe Adrian	. 153	Cuculescu, M	39
Clicinschi, Adrian	. 87	Cujba, Ioan Andrei	. 121
Clinciu, Romana	. 42	Culic, Irina-Lucia	35
Clit, Radu Octavian	. 112	Cunescu, Eliada	
Cmeciu, Doina-Carmen	. 39	Curean, Dan Radu *	98
Cocloc, Paul	. 22	Curiac, Grigore Paul	154
Codrean, Tudor Adrian *	. 112	Czobor, Mihaela	39
Cojocaru, Liana		Czobor, Teodor	150
Coldea, Speranta *	. 142	Czobor, Teodor	35
Coman, Dan *	. 160	Dadarlat, Nicolae *	143
Coman, Mihaela Maria	. 112	Dala, Dan-Eugen	18
Comanescu Prelipceanu, Denisa	. 121	Dalalau, Gabriel	. , 45
Comanita, Bogdan Mihai	. 136	Đan, Liviana	26
Computer Center of the Ministry of Forestry	. 88	Dan, Margareta	31
Condopol, Gabriela	. 19	Dancila, Dragos Stefan	154
Conon, Romana-Daniela	. 31	Daraban, Liviu *	
Constantinescu, Gabriela	. 45	Darie Maxinciuc, Alexandru ,	, , 98
Constantinescu, Nicolae	. 98	David, Leontin *	144
Constantinescu, Radu	. 131	Deac, lon *	150
Conta, Anca-Cristina	. 31	Deaca, Nicolae Radu	99
Contemporary Dance company	. 75	Deaconescu, Vasile	93
Copoeru, Ion *	. 121	Deaconu, Valentin	131
Cosma, Constantin *	. 142	Decean, Adriana Corina *	144
Costescu, Corneliu Iulian	. 142	Deleanu, Mauriciu *	112
Costian, Calin Radu	. 153	Deme, Eniko-Gabriela	30
Costin, Ovidiu	. 143	Deme, Terezia	31
Cotarta, Ioan Valentin	. , 94	Demeny, Attila *	99
Cotor, Rodica	31	Demeny, Laszlo	. , 40
Covas, Adriana	30	Derevenco, Petru *	113
Covrig, Alexandru	. , 44	Dimbeanu, Ovidiu	45
Cozar, Onuc *	143	Dimitriu, Ileana	122
Craciun, Iulia-Adriana	31	Dimitriu, Petru	22
Craciun, Mircea-Cornellu	39	Dina, Adriana	127
Craciun, Radu*	160	Disli, Livia	39
Craciun, Sofia	31	Doboly, Beatrice-Elena	31
Cretia, Petru	121	Dobra, Raluca	30
Crisan, Alcor Castillan	110	Dobre, Vasilica	31
Crisan, Camelia		Dobrescu, Iulia Maria	99
Crisan, Mircea *	143	Dobrescu, Iuliana	45
Crisan, Rodica Manon	98	Dogariu Arthur	. , 160
Crisan, Vasile *		Done, Stan	99
Cristea, Octavian *	143	Doroftei, Dorina	31
Cristea, Sanziana	31	Dragan, Cristian Bogdan	76
Cristescu, Adrian Sorin	85	Dragomir, Anca	131
Croitoru, Rodica	121	Dragotoiu, Rodica Mirela	113
Crutescu, Mircea	154	Duhaneanu, Marcel	
Csakany-Boloni, Catarina		Dulca, Lucian *	
Csendes, Ladislau	. , 98	Duigeru, Ailna	31

Dumitrascu, Dan-Lucian 45	Gheorghe, Nicolaie	
Dumitrescu, Anca	Gheorghlu Branaru, Manuela	
Dumitrescu, Cristina *	Gheorghiu, Jana	
Dumitrescu, Nicolae Gheorghe , , , , , 113	Gheorghlu, Laurentiu	
Dumitrescu, Stefan	Gheorghiu, Mihai	
Dumitrescu, Ticu Constantin , 93	Gherca, Aureliu Eugen Florentin	
Dumitru, Daniela	Gherghel, Elena	. 31
Dumitru, Elena , ,	Ghimculov, Adrian	. 145
Dumitru, Mircea	Ghiu, Bogdan Victor	. 129
Dumitru, Mitrica	Gindila, Adrian	. 100
Enache, Smaranda	Glurgea, Ioan	. , 31
Enciu, Adrian	Giurgea, Simona Laura	100
English Highschool, Cluj *	Gligor, Liviu Alexandru	
English Language Course * 81	Gociu, Diana	31
Entrez dans la Legende	Godri, Istvan	
Erdosi, Livia	Gogeanu, Ioana	
Faculty of Geography, University of Cluj * 86	Gogu, Grigore	
Farcas, Mihai	Goldenberg, Marius	
Farkas, Maria *	Golia, M.M.	
Farkas, Mircea	Gondi, Eugen	
Farkas, Tivadar *	Gordan, Magdolna	
Fecioru, Corneliu	Grancea, Valentin *	
Federiga, Maria	Grecu, Michael-Titus	
Feher, Attila	Grigore, Carmen-Anca	
Fercau, Maria	Grigorescu, Dan Alexandru	
Ferenczy, Judith	Group for Anthropology, Miercurea Cluc	
Festival of Theatre Groups, Sfintu Gheorghe * 76	Grozea, Daniela	
Festival of Students' Flims	Guica, Constantin	
Flat, Trandafir *	Gulea, Stere	
Filimon, Marla-Mirela	Gyenge, Elod *	
Filip, Florin	Gyenge, Zoltan	
Filipescu, Radu	Hank, Iulia	
Filipoiu, Razvan Alexandru	Hanu Cristian	
Fintescu, Carmen	Harabagiu Marilena	
Florea, Adina Magda	Harnagea, Catalin-Constantin	
Florea, Camella	Has, Valentin	
Florescu, Ana-Valentina	Havadi, Nagy David *	
Florian, Caterina-Ligla	Havarneanu, Lotus	
Foarta, Serban Nicolae	Henegariu, Octavian	
Forsiys-Group for the formal study, Timisoara 83	Henegariu, Octavian Ioan *	
Funetan, Ana-Maria	Hirtopanu, Stefania	
Furnica, Rodica	Hodos, Sorina	
	Hohn Mihai *	122
Canaa Mihai 140	Hohn, Mihai *	
Ganea, Mihai	HORA Folkloric Ensemble	77
Gavrilas Weber, Renate	HORA Folkloric Ensemble	77
Gavrilas Weber, Renate	HORA Folkloric Ensemble	77 123 31
Gavrilas Weber, Renate	HORA Folkloric Ensemble	77 123 31
Gavrilas Weber, Renate	HORA Folkloric Ensemble  Horasangian, Bedros  Horincar, Simona  Horvath, Claudia  Jancu, Gheorghe *	77 123 31 31
Gavrilas Weber, Renate	HORA Folkloric Ensemble	123

Ilie, Mircea-Gratian	Leahu, Eugen	. 93
Iliescu, Adrian-Paul	Leasenco, Galina	. 31
Niescu, ina-Valentina	Leca, Minodora,	. 137
Iliescu, Irena	Ledeanu, Alina	. 123
Illesiu, Sorin	Lefter, Marius	. 45
Independent Center for Opinion Polis 87	Lenart, Cristian *	. 161
institute for Petroleum and Gas, Ploiesti 89	Leonescu, Dalila	. 22
Institute of Social & Humane Studies, Timisoara 84	Leonescu, Dalila	. 45
Ioan, Ana-Victorita	Liczek, Irina	. 30
Ioncioala, Florea	Locsei, Marta Iuliana ,	. 114
Ionescu, Cristina	Lorincz, Joszeff	. 27
Ionescu, Nicolae Sebastian	Lorinczi, Jozsef *	. 145
Ionescu-Ambrozie, Adriana	Lotreanu, Monica	. 26
Ioninciolu, Radu	Lowy, Dan Andrei *	. 137
lordache Mihai	Luca, Rodica ,	, 31
lordachescu, Doina-Cecilia	Lucaciu, Tudor	. 102
lovita, Adrian	Lujanski, Mioara	
Ivanciu, Niculina	Lukacs, Eva Paraschiva *	
Ivas, Salomeia-Miorita	Lungu, Liana Paula	
Jakabovits, Marta*	Lupas, Daniela	
Janosi, Attila *	Lupsan, Adrian Adela *	
Jewish Theatre of Romania	Lupu, Coman	
Jinga, Maria Laurentia	Lupu, Gabriela	
Jivanescu, Gabriel-Silviu	Lupu, Marilena Andreea	
Jojatu, Adrian	Lupulescu, Marian	
Jula, Catalina	Luta, Gheorghe	
Juncu, Gheorghe	Luta, Iulia Lavinia	
Juvara, Ruxandra Polixenia Elena 101	Macovel, loana	
Juverdeanu, Doina-Virginia	Maerean, Marta Elena	
Kamenev, Zenaida	Maler, Czombor	
Kantor, Irina Ana *	Maier, Romana Teodora *	
Kassay, Gabor *	Maisner, Adelina	
Kelemen, Arpad *	Majdik, Kornelia*	. 137
Kelemen, Ligia	Malschi, Cristina	
Kerekes, Jeno *	Man, Magdalena	31
Kertesz, Eva	Manac, Rodica Catalina	
Kesler, Ervin	Manoiu, Anca	115
Kiss, Balbinat Attila *	Manolell, Dan	
Kivu, Mircea	Manu, Dana-Maria	
Kolumban, Gabor	Marchis, Ioan Justin	
Kosztin, Janos *	Marcu, Daniela Veronica	102
Kovacs, Cazmer	Mares, loan , ,	102
Kovacs, Emil Stefan * 101	Mares, Isabela	
Krizsan, Andreea Eleonora	Marflevici, Gina	31
Lacatus, Ion	Marin, Ileana	
Larionescu, Maria	Marin, Ovidiu	
Lascu, Tana	Marincea, Elena	
Lazar, Adina-Roxana	Marinescu Mircea	
Lazar, Julia	Marinescu, Aurelian	
Lazarovici, Constantin 45	Marino, Adrian * , ,	

Maris, Marilena	Motocu, Marius
Marta, Gabriel	Muller, Eugenia Cristina
Martin, Mircea	Mungiu, Cristian
Marunteanu, Cristian	Muntean, Cristina *
Matei, Simion *	Muntean, Maria
Matei, Sorin 40	Munteanu, Anca 161
Matenco, Liviu	Munteanu, Irina
Matula Dan	Muradin Jeno*
Mavrodin Irina	Murariu, Margareta 31
Mazniuc, Ludmila Antonovna	Murea, Cornel Marius 161
Medical University of lasi 83	Muresan, Marlan *
MEDIUM-2 Group, Sfintu Gheorghe * 78	Muresan, Radu 45
Medvedovici, Andrei-Valentin	Muresanu, Irina Roxana
Melnic, Zvetlana	Murgu, Alexandru
Meszaros, Dan	Muste, Marian *
Miclea, Mircea *	Musteata, Tatiana
Micu, Doina *	Mutihac, Radu
Mihai, Lucian	Mutulescu, Dacia Madalina
Mihaila, Mihai	Nagy, Doina
Mihailescu, Cristina	Nagy, Dorothy
Mihalache, Adrian	Nagy, Peter
Mihalache, Nicolae	Naidin, Mircea
Mihali, Ciprian *	Nanciu, Constantin
Ministry of Culture, Romania	Nanu, Miruna
Miroju Mihaela	NUMBER PROPERTY OF REGIO OF A 17 STOTIONS . 55
Miron Mihaela	National Federation of Radio and TV Stations
Miron, Mihaela 27	National Society for Cell Biology, Cluj Dept $^{st}$ . 86
Miron, Mihaela	National Society for Cell Biology, Cluj Dept *
Miron, Mihaela	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept *
Miron, Mihaela	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept * . 86  National Theatre of Bucharest
Miron, Mihaela	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept *
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Mladin, Valerlu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116	National Society for Cell Biology, Cluj Dept*       . 86         National Theatre of Bucharest       . 78         Neagu, Roberto Mihai       . 94         Neda, Zoltan*       . 146         Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*       . 161         Nedelea, Mihai       . 19
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Mihai. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-Ioana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept *. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Mihai. 94Neda, Zoltan *. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela *. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-Ioana       30         Mladin, Valerlu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georglana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138	National Society for Cell Biology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Minai. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19Negrescu, Constantin. 37
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Mladin, Valerlu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Mihai. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19Negrescu, Constantin. 37Negrescu, Romeo. 104
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Mihai. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19Negrescu, Constantin. 37Negrescu, Romeo. 104Negulescu, Oana. 36
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-Ioana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia *       103	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Mihai. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19Negrescu, Constantin. 37Negrescu, Romeo. 104Negulescu, Oana. 36Negulescu, Radu. 156
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-Ioana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia *       103         Modran, Mircea       30	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Mihal. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19Negrescu, Constantin. 37Negrescu, Romeo. 104Negulescu, Oana. 36Negulescu, Radu. 156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*. 116
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-Ioana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia *       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Violeta       31	National Society for Cell Biology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Minai. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19Negrescu, Constantin. 37Negrescu, Romeo. 104Negulescu, Dana. 36Negulescu, Radu. 156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*. 116Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*. 116
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Mladin, Valerlu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georglana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia *       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Violeta       31         Molsescu, Marius Sergiu *       132	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Mihai. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19Negrescu, Constantin. 37Negrescu, Romeo. 104Negulescu, Oana. 36Negulescu, Radu. 156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*. 116Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*. 116Neughebauer, Bogdan Ioan. 116
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana*       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel*       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia*       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Violeta       31         Molsescu, Marius Sergiu*       132         Moldovan, Zaharie*       111	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Mihai. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19Negrescu, Constantin. 37Negrescu, Romeo. 104Negulescu, Oana. 36Negulescu, Radu. 156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*. 116Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*. 116Neughebauer, Bogdan Ioan. 116Nichitus, Cristina. 104
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana*       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel*       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia*       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Violeta       31         Molsescu, Marius Sergiu*       132         Moldovan, Zaharie*       111         Moldovanu, Florica       31	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Mihai. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19Negrescu, Constantin. 37Negrescu, Romeo. 104Negulescu, Oana. 36Negulescu, Radu. 156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*. 116Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*. 116Neughebauer, Bogdan Ioan. 116Nichitus, Cristina. 104Nichporuc, Monica. 31
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana*       102         Mitrica, Ramona-Ioana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel*       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia*       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Vloleta       31         Molsescu, Marius Sergiu*       132         Moldovan, Zaharie*       111         Moldovanu, Florica       31         Moldoveanu, Georgeta       151	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*.86National Theatre of Bucharest.78Neagu, Roberto Mihai.94Neda, Zoltan*.146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*.161Nedelea, Mihai.19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor.18Negreanu, Constanta.19Negrescu, Constantin.37Negrescu, Romeo.104Negulescu, Oana.36Negulescu, Radu.156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*.116Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*.116Neughebauer, Bogdan Ioan.116Nichltus, Cristina.104Niciporuc, Monica.31Nicolae, Cosana.30
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana*       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Mladin, Valerlu       78         Mocan, Aurel*       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georglana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia*       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Violeta       31         Molsescu, Marius Sergiu*       132         Moldovan, Zaharie*       111         Moldovanu, Florica       31         Moldoveanu, Georgeta       151         Moldoveanu, Razvan Constantin       36	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*.86National Theatre of Bucharest.78Neagu, Roberto Mihai.94Neda, Zoltan*.146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*.161Nedelea, Mihai.19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor.18Negreanu, Constanta.19Negrescu, Constantin.37Negrescu, Romeo.104Negulescu, Radu.156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*.116Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*.116Neughebauer, Bogdan Ioan.116Nichltus, Cristina.104Niciporuc, Monica.31Nicolae, Cosana.30Nicolescu, Adrian.39
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana*       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel*       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia*       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Violeta       31         Molsescu, Marius Sergiu*       132         Moldovan, Zaharie*       111         Moldovanu, Florica       31         Moldoveanu, Georgeta       151         Moldoveanu, Judita       22	National Society for Cell Biology, Cluj Dept*         .86           National Theatre of Bucharest         .78           Neagu, Roberto Mihai         .94           Neda, Zoltan*         .146           Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*         .161           Nedelea, Mihai         .19           Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor         .18           Negreanu, Constanta         .19           Negrescu, Constantin         .37           Negrescu, Romeo         .104           Negulescu, Oana         .36           Negulescu, Radu         .156           Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*         .116           Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*         .116           Nicolae, Cistina         .104           Niciporuc, Monica         .31           Nicolae, Cosana         .30           Nicolescu, Adrian         .39           Nicolescu, Dana         .30
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana*       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel*       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia*       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Violeta       31         Molsescu, Marius Sergiu*       132         Moldovanu, Zaharie*       111         Moldovanu, Georgeta       151         Moldoveanu, Georgeta       151         Moldoveanu, Peter       30	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*. 86National Theatre of Bucharest. 78Neagu, Roberto Mihai. 94Neda, Zoltan*. 146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*. 161Nedelea, Mihai. 19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor. 18Negreanu, Constanta. 19Negrescu, Constantin. 37Negrescu, Romeo. 104Negulescu, Oana. 36Negulescu, Radu. 156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*. 116Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*. 116Nichtus, Cristina. 104Niciporuc, Monica. 31Nicolae, Cosana. 30Nicolescu, Adrian. 39Nicolescu, Dana. 30Nicolescu, Stefan. 139
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana*       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Miadin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel*       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia*       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Violeta       31         Molsescu, Marius Sergiu*       132         Moldovan, Zaharie*       111         Moldovanu, Florica       31         Moldoveanu, Georgeta       151         Moldoveanu, Razvan Constantin       36         Molnar, Judita       22         Molnar, Peter       30         Momirlan, Magdalena       138	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*.86National Theatre of Bucharest.78Neagu, Roberto Mihai.94Neda, Zoltan*.146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*.161Nedelea, Mihai.19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor.18Negreanu, Constanta.19Negrescu, Constantin.37Negrescu, Romeo.104Negulescu, Radu.156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*.116Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*.116Nichltus, Cristina.104Niciporuc, Monica.31Nicolae, Cosana.30Nicolescu, Adrian.39Nicolescu, Dana.30Nicolescu, Stefan.139Nicolescu, Cristian.104
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana *       102         Mitrica, Ramona-Ioana       30         Mladin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel *       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia *       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Violeta       31         Molsescu, Marius Sergiu *       132         Moldovan, Zaharle *       111         Moldovanu, Florica       31         Moldoveanu, Georgeta       151         Moldoveanu, Razvan Constantin       36         Molnar, Judita       22         Moinar, Peter       30         Momirlan, Magdalena       138         Montia Tatiana       116	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*.86National Theatre of Bucharest.78Neagu, Roberto Mihai.94Neda, Zoltan*.146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*.161Nedelea, Mihai.19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor.18Negreanu, Constanta.19Negrescu, Constantin.37Negrescu, Romeo.104Negulescu, Padu.156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*.116Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*.116Nichltus, Cristina.104Niciporuc, Monica.31Nicolae, Cosana.30Nicolescu, Adrian.39Nicolescu, Dana.30Nicolescu, Stefan.139Niculescu, Cristian.104Niculescu, Tatiana.30
Miron, Mihaela       27         Miron, Mihaela       43         Missits, Ioana*       102         Mitrica, Ramona-loana       30         Miadin, Valeriu       78         Mocan, Aurel*       116         Mocanu, Aurelia       103         Mocanu, Elea Georgiana       31         Mocanu, Victor       138         Mocioc, Iulia       103         Mocuta, Catalin-Stefan       44         Modola, Doina Antonia*       103         Modran, Mircea       30         Moga, Violeta       31         Molsescu, Marius Sergiu*       132         Moldovan, Zaharie*       111         Moldovanu, Florica       31         Moldoveanu, Georgeta       151         Moldoveanu, Razvan Constantin       36         Molnar, Judita       22         Molnar, Peter       30         Momirlan, Magdalena       138	National Society for Cell Blology, Cluj Dept*.86National Theatre of Bucharest.78Neagu, Roberto Mihai.94Neda, Zoltan*.146Nedelcu, Aurora Mihaela*.161Nedelea, Mihai.19Negoita, Rasvan-Teodor.18Negreanu, Constanta.19Negrescu, Constantin.37Negrescu, Romeo.104Negulescu, Radu.156Netea, Alexandra Olimpia*.116Netea, Mihai Gheorghe*.116Nichltus, Cristina.104Niciporuc, Monica.31Nicolae, Cosana.30Nicolescu, Adrian.39Nicolescu, Dana.30Nicolescu, Stefan.139Nicolescu, Cristian.104

Nitescu, Rodica-Ioana	39	Petriceanu, Constantin-Flor	44
Nitulescu, VIrgil - Stefan	22	Philology Faculty, University of Timisoara	84
Odeh, Elena	31	Pintilie Teleaga, Ileana Maria	79
Ofrim, Dragos	94	PIPACSOK Children's Dance Group	79
Oleinic, Liuba Nicolae	31	Pirjol, Dan ,	146
Onisoara, Alina	125	Pttel Daniela Luminita	117
Onofreicluc, Elisabeta	31	Pitiriciu, Ioan *	109
Opincariu, Nicolae George *	162	Plesea, Lucian	157
Oprea, Elisabeta-Luminita		Plesu, Catrinel	151
Oprea, Gheorghe	129	Plosceanu, Barbu	157
Oprescu, Dan		Pobijan, Mihaela	31
Oprescu, Dana		Pochiscan, Elena	31
Opris, Ion		Podar, Mircea *	117
Opris, Ion		Podoleanu, Adrian	146
Orban, Maria		Polytechnic Institute of Bucharest, Chemistry .	
Orendi, Mariana		Polytechnic institute of Cluj *	
Orendi, Rozalia	31	Polytechnic Institute Timisogra, Hydrotechnics	
	31	Ponta, Adrian *	
	31	Pop Anca	
Pacurar, Alexandru *		Pop, Alexandru	
Paduraru, Denis		Pop, Viorel*	
Paduraru, Melania		Popa Cristina	
Paidos, Constantin		Popa, Dragos	
Palade, Dorina	-	Popa, Liana	
Pamfil, Francoise		Popa, Lucian	
Panescu, Stellan		Popa, Radu	
Papadima, Stefan		Popa, Romeo Traian	
Paraschivescu, Andrei		Popescu Carmen Elena	
Partenie, Cornel		Popescu, Costin Radu	
Parvu, Emanuel		Popescu, Dana Georgeta	
Pascu Iulia Cristina		Popescu, Gelu Fanica	
Paskuy, Tiberiu Zoltan		Popescu, Gica	
Paskuy, Zoltan		Popescu, Liliana-Diana	
Pasnicu, Cornel		Popescu, Maria	
Patuleanu, Ioana		Popescu, Mihai	
Paun, Mariana		Popescu, Simona	
		Popescu, Simona-Carmen	37
Pavel, Constantin		Popescu, Stela	27
Pavel, Gabriela		Popescu, Voicu *	
Pavlovici, Vlad	27	Popescu-Birlan, Liliana	39
Peculea, Florina	31	Popovici, Dan	43
Peiu, Anca	30	Popovici, Daniel	
Pelteacu, Stan	94	Popovici, Eugenia	
Peltecu, Gheorghe		Popovici, laromira	
Penzes, Peter		Popovici, Nipolata	
Petculescu, Roxana		Popovici, Nicoleta	
Petrescu, Laura-Beatrice		Popovlciu, Ciprian *	
Petrescu, Simona		Porr, Paul Jurgen *	
Petrescu, Stellana		Postescu, Ion Dan *	
Petrescu, Viorica	45	Postolache-Lucaveski, Irina	30

Pralea, Catalin 45	Savu, George
Precup, Nicolae 41	Scaesteanu, Elena
Preisz, Dan	Scarlat, Marius ,
Puca, Mariana-Dana 31	Schnedarek, Adriana
Pupaza, Cristina	School of Folk Arts, Bucharest
Rachita Doina 70	Schor, Dan Alexe 106
Rachita, Doina	Sebestyen, Laszlo 109
Racz, Csaba *	Sebok, Eva-Maria
Radu, Florinel	Secasiu, C.O
Radu, Ion *	Segal, Eugen
Radu, Viorel	Semenescu, Carmen 94
Radulescu, Rocsana	Semenescu, Carmen
Radulescu, Romanita 44	Semenescu, Daniela
Radulov, Petronela	Serban Vasile
Rakosy Tican, Lenuta *	Serban, Andreea Silvia 126
Ratiu, Dan	Serban, George
Ratiu, Dan Eugen *	Sfira, Felicia
Raut, Luminita Mariana 45	Sfrijan Ioan
Rautu, Gheorghe	Sibisan, Aura
Razi, Ioana-Maria	Sichitiu, Alina Cristina
Rebengiuc, Victor 91	Sima, Danut
Reformat Church, Gheorgheni * 81	Simion, Stefan Radu 86
Reit, Horia	Simon, Simion *
Revenco, Diana	Sincai, Ana
Riscuta, Doruta 45	Sinpetru, Alina
Robu, Diana-Xenia	Sirbu, Mihal
Romanian Journalists Association (AZR) 54	Sladescu Viorica Ioana 106
Romanian Kant Society	Socaclu, Ateneu Adrian 91
Romanian Society of Writing and Publishing	Societe des Europeanistes, Bucharest 83
Physicians	Socolov, Razvan Vladimir
Rosca, Sorin 30	Sofronescu, Elena
Rostas, Zoltan	Solcan, Mihai-Radu
Rotaru, Carmen Elena	Solomon, Alexandru 106
Roznovschi, Teodora	Spircu, Tiberiu
Rucareanu, Mira Sanda 125	Spiridon, Simona
Ruiu, Nicusor	
Rusanescu, Gabriel	Sprincenatu, Felicia
Rusu, Maria-Gabriela	Staiculescu, Mircea
Sabac, Karina loana	
Sain, Mariana Eugenia * 106	Stan, Maadalena-Ecaterina
	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina
Salceanu, Michaela-Adriana 31	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina
Salceanu, Michaela-Adriana	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina
	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina       31         Stan, Vloleta       34         Stancescu, Cristiana       31         Stanciu, Carol       118
Sandor, Veronica	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina       31         Stan, Violeta       34         Stancescu, Cristiana       31         Stanciu, Carol       118         Stanciu, Liviu Ilie       109
Sandor, Veronica	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina       31         Stan, Vloleta       34         Stancescu, Cristiana       31         Stanciu, Carol       118         Stanciu, Liviu Ilie       109         Stanciu, Luminita *       118
Sandor, Veronica	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina       31         Stan, Vloleta       34         Stancescu, Cristiana       31         Stanciu, Carol       118         Stanciu, Liviu Ilie       109         Stanciu, Luminita*       118         Stanescu, Alin       38
Sandor, Veronica	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina       31         Stan, Violeta       34         Stancescu, Cristiana       31         Stanciu, Carol       118         Stanciu, Liviu Ilie       109         Stanciu, Luminita *       118         Stanescu, Alin       38         Stanescu, Elena-Ersilia       31
Sandor, Veronica	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina       31         Stan, Violeta       34         Stancescu, Cristiana       31         Stanciu, Carol       118         Stanciu, Liviu Ilie       109         Stanciu, Luminita *       118         Stanescu, Alin       38         Stanescu, Elena-Ersilla       31         Stefan, Elena       31
Sandor, Veronica91Sandu, Tiberiu30Santa, Attila27Sapatoru, Dana19Sarpe, Daniela19Sarpe, Daniela43	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina       31         Stan, Vloleta       34         Stancescu, Cristiana       31         Stanciu, Carol       118         Stanciu, Liviu Ilie       109         Stanciu, Luminita *       118         Stanescu, Alin       38         Stanescu, Elena-Ersilla       31         Stefan, Elena       31         Stefan, Olga       31
Sandor, Veronica91Sandu, Tiberiu30Santa, Attila27Sapatoru, Dana19Sarpe, Daniela19Sarpe, Daniela43Saulean, Dan45	Stan, Magdalena-Ecaterina       31         Stan, Vloleta       34         Stancescu, Cristiana       31         Stanciu, Carol       118         Stanciu, Liviu Ilie       109         Stanciu, Luminita *       118         Stanescu, Alin       38         Stanescu, Elena-Ersilla       31         Stefan, Elena       31         Stefan, Olga       31         Stefanel, Radu       147

Stefanescu, Doina Olga 152	Toma, Eugen Cristian , ,	, 158
Stefanescu, Dolna-Amelia	Tomescu, Alexandru	. <b>9</b> 5
Stela Maria Rodean * 83	Tomescu, Florian	
Stetiu, Corina	Tompa, Gabor*	
Stiharu Alexe, Ilie	Topor Pop, Vasile	. 147
Stoian, Veronica	Toroczkai, Zoltan *	148
Stoica, Mirela	Tozser, Csilla Gabriela	. 31
Stoica, Serban Constantin , ,	Traistaru, Iulia	. 42
Stoicescu, Cristina	Trandafir, Vasile	
Stoichitoiu Daniela 70	Trif, Eleonora Gheorghina *	. 148
Stoichitoiu, Daniela	Trifa, Dan*	. 159
Strugar, Doina *	Italtescu, Codrin	. 107
Sturza, Nicoleta	Troncota, Simona	. 31
Suciu, Anca	Tudose Doru-Gheorghe	. 70
Suteu, Lia	Tudose, Bogdan	. 148
Szabo, Emese	Tudose, Corina	. 30
Szakacs, Istvan Peter	Tudose, Maria-Elena	. 31
Szamoskozi, Stefan *	Tufa, Iuliana	. 128
Szantai, Janos *	Tulvan, Ghizela Veronica	. 107
Szegedi Frater, Judith	Turliuc Catalin,	. 70
Szekely, Csaba	Tuturuga, Ciaudia	. 31
Tabacaru, Doina	TV-Brasov, Brasov	. 55
Talpasanu, Ilie	TV-Constanta, Constanta	. 55
Tamas, Edith	TV-lasi, lasi	. 55
Taranu, Doina	TV-Oradea, Oradea	. 55
Tasca, Dan	TV-\$OTI, Bucharest	. 56
Tasca, Dorina-Vitalia	TV-Timisoara, Timisoara	. 56
Tatar, Mugur Marius *	Ulici, Laurentiu	. 107
Tatar, Sanda-Cristina	Ungureanu, Ana	. 107
Tataru, Doina	Ungureanu, Manuela	. 39
Teodorescu, Daniei	UNIFAN Radio, Bucharest	
Teodorescu, Matei	Union of Romanian Medical Societies	. 83
Teodorescu, Octav 30	Universities of Bucharest and Craiova	. 80
Teodorescu, Radu	University of Bucharest	. 82
Teodorescu, Radu 45	University of Bucharest, English Language	. 81
Teposu, Radu	Urlanu, Tudorel	. 91
The "Filantropia" Hospital, Bucharest 83	Ursa, Ovidiu	. 30
The Youth Theatre of Platra Neamt 80	Ursu, Ludmila Mihai	. 31
Theatre and Film Academy, Bucharest 82	Ursulescu, Mirela	. 19
Theatre group "CONCORDIA", St. Gheorghe * 79	Vaciu, Ion	. 23
Theatre group "FIGURA", Gheorgheni * 79	Vago, Dunia	. 39
Tiberlu, Sandu	Vaireanu, Danut-Ionel	. 39
Ticudean, Mircea 45	Vajlac, Bogdan Daniel	. 135
Tilive, Rodica	Valasutean, Septimiu *	. 162
Timar, Clara	Vancea, Alexandru Ioan *	. 162
Tirau, Liviu Crinet	Vancea, Vasile Ion $^*$	. 148
Tirau, Liviu Crinel	Varzaru, Gabriela	. 31
Tirgu Mures Philarmonic 79	Vasilescu, Constantin ,	. 119
Todericiu, Alexandru Dan 85	Vasilescu, Liliana-Felicia , , ,	. 31
Todor, Luminita	Vasilescu, Raluca	. 107

rasılla, Dan Anton		•	٠	٠	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	٠	100
/asiliu, Veronica														31
/ass, Denes * .														163
/elican, Mircea									•					119
/elicu, Dacia .										•	,			30
/enczel, Marton *										,				140
/eres, Teodor *														148
/ernes, Andras *			•			,		ı						148
Verussi, Raluca .														108
Vervitchi, Serghei														31
Vese, Vasile														22
Vicas, Aurora Este	ra													108
Vicol, Armeria .	,													18
Video Art Confere	nc	:0:	, E	uc	che	are	esl	a	nd	C	lu	*		80
Video-GD\$ Group	, B	uc	h	ar€	st									56
Vieru Sorin								,			,			126
Vilau, Radu														30
Vlad Laurentiu .										,				126
Vladea, Radu Val	en	tin						,						140
Vomir, Marinela *														127
Vrabiescu, Monice	а													119
Vrinceanu, Alexar	nd	ra							,					30
Wencz, Ovidiu .														110
Zaharia, Alexandr	u													135
Zaharia, Danina														31
Zaman, Constanti	n	,												20
Zamfir, Mihaela														31
Zamfir-Camarasu,	L	Ja	no	ı- <b>N</b>	lirc	יחו	a							35
Zanfir, Jenl														34
Zarzu, Carmen-La	ur	а							,		,			44
Zavalas, Liana .		,								,			,	30
Zimand, Marius										,			,	135
Zirra, Ioana						,								127
Zirra, Vlad Vintila														127
Žnamirovschi, Cai	in	G	90	rge	e *	ŧ	,				,			140
Znamirovschi, Vla	dir	nir	*											149
Zeciki Cocilia														30

